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CHARACTERISTICS OF GEM OF THE STOCK EXCHANGE OF
HONG KONG LIMITED (THE “STOCK EXCHANGE?”)

GEM has been positioned as a market designed to accommodate
small and mid-sized companies to which a higher investment
risk may be attached than other companies listed on the Stock
Exchange. Prospective investors should be aware of the potential
risks of investing in such companies and should make the decision
to invest only after due and careful consideration.

Given that the companies listed on GEM are generally small and
mid-sized companies, there is a risk that securities traded on GEM
may be more susceptible to high market volatility than securities
traded on the Main Board and no assurance is given that there will
be a liquid market in the securities traded on GEM.

Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and the Stock Exchange take
no responsibility for the contents of this report, make no representation
as to its accuracy or completeness and expressly disclaim any liability
whatsoever for any loss howsoever arising from or in reliance upon the
whole or any part of the contents of this report.

This report, for which the directors (the “Directors”) of KML Technology
Group Limited (the “Company’) collectively and individually accept full
responsibility, includes particulars given in compliance with the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on the GEM of the Stock Exchange (the
“GEM Listing Rules’) for the purpose of giving information with regard
to the Company. The Directors, having made all reasonable enquiries,
confirm that to the best of their knowledge and belief the information
contained in this report is accurate and complete in all material respects
and not misleading or deceptive, and there are no other matters the
omission of which would make any statement herein or this annual report
misleading.

This report, in both English and Chinese versions, is available on the
Company’s website at www.kml.com.hk.
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Chairman’s Statement
EEHME

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the Board of Directors (the “Board”) of the Company and its
subsidiaries (collectively the “Group”), | am delighted to present the annual
results of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2025 (the “Reporting
Year”).

BUSINESS REVIEW

We are pleased to report a net profit of Hong Kong dollars (‘HK$")
97,000, a significant turnaround from the loss after tax, HK$13,793,000
recorded in the previous year. This marks a pivotal moment as we emerge
from two consecutive years of losses. These results are a testament to the
extraordinary efforts of our employees and the unwavering support of our
valued customers and vendors. A big round of applause for them!

FORWARD

We firmly believe that no business can thrive without continuous efforts
towards improvement and growth. We cherish every opportunity to grow
and create value for our esteemed shareholders, despite the dynamic and
competitive business environment in Hong Kong and globally.

We anticipate increased competition in the public transportation project
tenders, our area of focus, due to the cooling property and infrastructure
market in Hong Kong. Competitors from the property and infrastructure
market may shift their resources to the public transportation sector.
Additionally, the global competitive environment, especially the tension
between China and the United States, adds another layer of complexity.
Although this trade war may not directly impact us, we may be indirectly
affected by the uncertain business environment and fluctuations in
various currencies against the Hong Kong Dollar. We will closely monitor
the situation and cope with the adversaries in the best interest of our
shareholders.

The recent unpredictable policies of the United States may prompt
potential customers in emerging markets to reassess their cooperation
with Western business partners. This could divert some business
opportunities to Eastern business partners, like us, presenting new
avenues for growth.

While the economic downturn may introduce additional competition, it
could also positively impact our Group’s financial performance by reducing
subcontracting costs, a significant component of our cost structure.

Despite these challenges, we see numerous opportunities on the horizon.
The shift in global dynamics could open new markets and partnerships
for us, allowing us to expand our footprint and influence. Our strategic
focus on innovation and efficiency positions us well to capitalise on these
opportunities.

To navigate these challenges and seize opportunities, we will focus on
below strategic initiatives:

Diversification of Services
We will expand our service offerings to include new solutions and products

that meet evolving market demands. This includes exploring opportunities
in emerging sectors and leveraging our expertise to enter new markets.
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Chairman’s Statement
TREHRE

Strengthening Partnerships

We are actively negotiating with various vendors, both existing and new,
to deepen or establish business partnerships. We will collaborate with
vendors who share our long-term goals, aiming for sustainable growth.
Additionally, we will leverage our strategic proximity to the Greater Bay
Area, which boasts numerous manufacturers with advanced smart
manufacturing expertise and efficient transportation infrastructure. By
collaborating closely with these manufacturers, we aim to produce
products that meet our customers’ needs effectively and efficiently. These
partnerships will enable us to enhance our service quality and expand our
reach. We are committed to establishing a mutually beneficial ecosystem
and growing together with our partners.

Technological Investments

Same as previous year, we will continue to invest in technologies that
enhance work efficiency and ensure a safe working environment for our
employees and co-workers. This includes adopting advanced tools and
systems to streamline operations and improve productivity. We will also
integrate artificial intelligence (“Al”) tools into our internal administrative
procedures and the solutions we provide to customers, enhancing
efficiency and innovation.

Talent Development

We recognise that our employees are our greatest asset. We will invest
in training and development programs to equip our team with the skills
needed to excel in a competitive environment. This will foster innovation
and drive our growth.

Financial Prudence

We will maintain a prudent approach to financial management, ensuring
that we are well-positioned to weather economic fluctuations. This
includes closely monitoring market conditions and making strategic
decisions to safeguard our financial health.

A NOTE OF APPRECIATION

On behalf of the Board, | would like to express my heartfelt appreciation
to our shareholders (the “Shareholder(s)”), customers, and suppliers for
their continuous support and trust in the Group. | also extend our sincere
thanks to the management and staff for their dedication and contributions
throughout the year.

KML Technology Group Limited
Luk Kam Ming
Chairman and Executive Director

Hong Kong, 26 June 2025
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Revenue of the Group for the Reporting Year amounted to approximately AEERFEFENREZLB1961BEBTL(ZT =T

HK$196.1 million (2024: approximately HK$194.1 million). F 194 1B88BTT) °

Gross profit of the Group for the Reporting Year amounted to REBRBEFENENLNAQIBEBIT(ZTZMF :
approximately HK$39.1 million (2024: approximately HK$29.9 million). #20.9B&EABTT) ©

The net profit of the Group for the Reporting Year amounted to REERRBREFENFRAN A IBEE T(ZZE N
approximately HK$0.1 million (2024: net loss of approximately HK$13.8 F FEEN13.8EEET) -

million).

The Board does not recommend the payment of a final dividend for the EEETEARNREFENRBRE (ZTZWF -
Reporting Year (2024: nil). m®) o

SHNREEERAT « ZT-N/ZHFFH 7



Management Discussion and Analysis

BEEN R D

BUSINESS REVIEW

Overview

During the Reporting Year, approximately HK$196.1 million (2024:
approximately HK$194.1 million) revenue was generated, representing a
mild growth of approximately HK$2.0 million or approximately 1.0%.

The gross profit for the Reporting Year was approximately HK$39.1 million
(2024: approximately HK$29.9 million). The increase in gross profit was
mainly attributed to (i) several projects with relatively high profit margin
progressing well during the year; and (i) lower-than-expected actual costs
incurred for a project during its defect liability period.

The Group’s outstanding contracts-in-hand was approximately HK$307.9
million as at 31 March 2025 (2024: approximately HK$342.0 million).

Transportation Mission Critical System Solutions
This type of works in relation to the railway signalling, communication and
control system and point operating equipment.

During the Reporting Year, revenue generated from this segment amounted
to approximately HK$18.3 million (2024: approximately HK$10.5 million).
The increase of approximately 74.3% is mainly due to the improvement in
the progress of the projects on hand during the Reporting Year.

Mobile Ticketing and Digital Payment Solutions and Services
These services offer mobile ticketing and digital payment solutions and
services to different sectors in Hong Kong and overseas.

During the Reporting Year, revenue generated from this segment amounted
to approximately HK$44.4 million (2024: approximately HK$54.7 million).
The decrease of approximately 18.8% was mainly due to the higher
completion percentage of projects in relation to installation of automatic
fare collection (“AFC”) systems in 2024.

Digital Fabrication and Maintenance Services

These services primarily provide computerised and advanced maintenance
support services for various systems such as AFC system and trackside
signalling system, terminals, and equipment. This includes part/component
replacement, equipment upgrades and improvements, hardware and
software upgrade/replacement services, testing, and routine preventive,
corrective, and workshop maintenance services.

During the Reporting Year, revenue generated from the provision of these
services amounted to approximately HK$30.3 million (2024: approximately
HK$25.2 million). The increase of approximately 20.2% mainly due to the
increase in the number of projects during the Reporting Year.

M&E Technology Solutions and Engineering Services

Mechanical and Electrical (‘M&E”) Technology Solutions and Engineering
Services encompass design, installation, testing and commissioning and
maintenance of miscellaneous M&E engineering systems such as railway
station M&E engineering services and architectural works, train-borne
systems provisions, trackside and depot M&E works and different kinds of
renovation works.

During the Reporting Year, revenue generated from this segment remained

stable compared to last year amounted to approximately HK$100.9 million
(2024: approximately HK$102.8 million).

KMLTechnology Group Limited ® Annual Report 2024/25
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BEEN Wk

BUSINESS REVIEW (CONTINUED)

Sales of Products, Parts and Components

The Group sources certain parts and components and sometime
customises certain products to our customers according to their
requirements. We primarily supply railway signalling and AFC related
products, parts and components.

During the Reporting Year, revenue generated from this segment amounted
to approximately HK$2.2 million (2024: approximately HK$1.0 million).

Environmental, Social and Governance

The Group continues its commitment to sustainable growth, we have
deeply integrated the environmental, social, and governance (“ESG”)
principles into our corporate strategy, operations, and culture. This holistic
approach has strengthened stakeholder trust, enhanced operational
resilience, and earned external recognition for our ESG practices. We
are delighted to share key milestones and initiatives during the Reporting
Year.

Regarding our governance and organisational culture, we have (i) achieved
the “Gold Tier” under the inaugural Cyber Security Staff Awareness
Recognition Scheme, in which our efforts in embedding cybersecurity
awareness and contributing to the critical importance of digital resilience,
were validated; and (i) been honoured with the ESG Culture Award 2024,
a testament to our success in promoting and embedding ESG across all
levels of the organisation.

Concerning our environmental stewardship, social responsibility, and
community engagement, we have () been honoured with the “Excellence
Organization” designation under the Heart Caring Organization Award,
reflecting our steadfast dedication to employee well-being and community
welfare; (i) actively supported and participated in the “Green and Recycle,
Charity Programme for the Community”, empowering our employees,
our business partners and their families to make tangible social and
environmental impacts; and (i) continued to participate the business-
school partnership programme and organise internship programme,
grooming younger generations for a sustainable workforce for the society.
For more details, please refer to our ESG report.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BEEN R D

OUTLOOK

While the shortage of talent and rising manpower costs in Hong Kong
have presented significant challenges to the Group’s business, the recent
economic downturn and the slowdown in infrastructure construction and
property development may temporarily ease these pressures.

To address the long-term challenges, we have proactively collaborated
with educational institutions to develop a pipeline of emerging talent,
ensuring a steady flow of skilled professionals for the future.

We are committed to enhancing our operational excellence by integrating
advanced technologies such as robotics, Al equipment for surveying and
drawing, smart site safety systems, and virtual reality training systems. By
leveraging these technologies, our team can enhance their skillsets and
provide better service to our clients, ultimately creating more shareholder
value. The ability to adopt and respond to Al advancements will be a
crucial factor in the success of most companies. We are committed not
only to recruiting new talent but also to upgrading our existing workforce
by providing comprehensive training for the Al era. We have developed
several Al applications for our automatic fare collections system, and
which will be gradually offered to our customers in the coming months.

We are collaborating closely with several vendors in China, leveraging
their smart manufacturing technologies and the mature transportation
infrastructure in the Greater Bay Area. This initiative will continue in
the future to enhance our responsiveness to client needs without
compromising the quality of our work.

We foresee stable demand for M&E engineering services in the
transportation industry over the next few years, driven by the construction
of new railways and the replacement or upgrade of existing ones. Despite
keen competition, we are confident in our ability to not only defend our
position but also diversify our business scope.

Looking ahead, while our business is primarily based in Hong Kong, we
are eager to expand our footprint to other areas, focusing on Mobile
Ticketing and Digital Payment Solutions and Services. We aim to diversify
our market base, enhance brand recognition, and foster robust business
growth in regions such as the Greater Bay Area of China, Taiwan, and
other Southeast Asian countries.

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue

Revenue of the Group for the Reporting Year amounted to approximately
HK$196.1 million, representing a mild increase of approximately HK$2.0
million or approximately 1.0% as compared with approximately HK$194.1
million for the year ended 31 March 2024.

Cost of Sales and Gross Profit

The majority of the Group’s cost of sales comprised (i) material and
equipment; (i) direct labour; and (jii) sub-contracting cost. The cost of
sales decreased by approximately 4.4% from approximately HK$164.2
million for the year ended 31 March 2024 to approximately HK$157.0
million for the Reporting Year.

The gross profit for the Reporting Year was approximately HK$39.1 million
(2024: approximately HK$29.9 million). The increase in gross profit was
mainly attributed to () several projects with relatively high profit margin
progressing well during the year; and (ii) lower-than-expected actual costs
incurred for a project during its defect liability period.

KMLTechnology Group Limited ® Annual Report 2024/25
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BEEN Wk

FINANCIAL REVIEW (CONTINUED)

Impairment loss on financial assets and contract assets

During the Reporting Year, the Group recognised approximately
HK$33,000 impairment loss (2024: reversal of impairment loss of
approximately HK$50,000). No credit-impaired and uncollectible
receivables are identified during the Reporting Year and prior year.

Administrative Expenses

The Group’s administrative expenses decreased by approximately 11.2%
from approximately HK$46.5 million for the year ended 31 March 2024 to
approximately HK$41.3 million for the Reporting Year. Such decrease was
mainly due to a decrease of staff cost, with lower legal and professional
fees incurred and reduced depreciation charges on property, plant, and
equipment.

Profit attributable to the owners of the Company

The Group recorded net profit attributable to the owners of the Company
of approximately HK$0.1 million for the Reporting Year (2024: net loss
of approximately HK$13.8 million). The turnaround was primarily due to
the relatively high profit margins generated from projects, as explained
in the ‘Cost of Sales and Gross Profit” section, and the reduction in
administrative expenses, partially offset by the decrease in bank interest
income.

Borrowings and Gearing Ratio

As at 31 March 2025, the Group has nil outstanding borrowings (2024:
HK$15.0 million). The gearing ratio, representing the proportion of total
bank borrowings to total equity as at 31 March 2025 was nil (2024:
11.0%) which is primarily attributed to full settlement of borrowings during
the Reporting Year.

Liquidity, Financial Resources and Capital Structure

Historically, the Group has met the liquidity and capital requirements
primarily through operating cash flows, bank borrowings and capital
contribution from its Shareholders.

The Group requires cash primarily for working capital needs. As at 31
March 2025, the Group had approximately HK$60.4 million in (i) bank
balances and cash; (i) pledged bank deposits; and (i) time deposits with
original maturity over three months (2024: approximately HK$70.2 million),
representing a decrease of approximately HK$9.8 million as compared to
that as at 31 March 2024.

Other than the repayment of bank borrowings, there has been no change
on the capital structure of the Group for the Reporting Year and up to the
date of this report (the “Date of this Report”). The share capital of the
Company only comprises of ordinary shares.

As at 31 March 2025, the issued share capital of the Company was
HK$4,049,600 divided into 404,960,000 shares (“Shares”) of HK$0.01
each.

Capital Expenditure

The Group purchased property, plant and equipment amounting to
approximately HK$0.3 million for the Reporting Year which comprised
acquisition of furniture, fixtures and office equipment (2024: approximately
HK$1.2 million).

Final Dividend
The Board does not recommend the payment of a final dividend for the
Reporting Year (2024: nil).
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BEEN R D

FINANCIAL REVIEW (CONTINUED)

Employees and Remuneration Policies

As at 31 March 2025, the Group employed 169 employees (2024:
179 employees). The Group’s remuneration policies are in line with
the prevailing market practice and are determined on the basis of
performance, qualification and experience of individual employee. On
top of basic salaries, bonus may be paid with reference to the Group’s
performance as well as individual’s performance. Other staff benefits
include provision of retirement benefits, medical and life insurance
benefits. Share options and/or share awards may also be granted to
eligible employees by reference to the Group’s performance as well as the
individual contribution.

FOREIGN EXCHANGE EXPOSURE

We conducted business with customers, suppliers and subcontractors
located in Hong Kong, China and overseas. The Group’s exposure to
the currency risk mainly arises from the fluctuation of Renminbi, Pound
Sterling, Euro or United States dollars. The Group currently does not
have any hedging policy in place for its foreign currency exposure. The
management will consider hedging significant currency exposure should
the need arise.

TREASURY POLICIES

The Group has adopted a prudent financial management approach
towards its treasury policies and thus maintained a healthy liquidity
position throughout the Reporting Year. The Group strives to reduce
exposure to credit risk by performing ongoing credit assessments and
evaluations of the financial status of its customers. To manage liquidity
risk, the Board closely monitors the Group’s liquidity position to ensure
that the liquidity structure of the Group’s assets, liabilities and other
commitments can meet its funding requirements from time to time.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS AND FUTURE PLANS FOR
MATERIAL INVESTMENTS AND CAPITAL ASSETS

The Group did not hold any significant investments in equity interest in any
other companies or did not have any future plans for material investments
or capital assets as at 31 March 2025.

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS OF SUBSIDIARIES,
ASSOCIATES OR JOINT VENTURES

There were no other significant investments held, material acquisitions or
disposals of subsidiaries, associates or joint ventures during the Reporting
Year.

PLEDGES OF ASSETS

As at 31 March 2025, the Group pledged certain amount of bank deposits
and investments in life insurance policies to secure general banking
facilities granted to the Group. For details, please refer to notes 20, 15
and 23 to the consolidated financial statements.

CAPITAL COMMITMENT

The Group did not have any capital commitment as at 31 March 2025
(2024 nil).

KMLTechnology Group Limited ® Annual Report 2024/25
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BEEN Wk

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 31 March 2025, the Group did not have any significant contingent
liabilities (2024: nil).

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

For the Reporting Year, the following principal risks of the Group were
identified:

() if the Group fails to effectively implement good project management
which leads to the delays and failure to meet the completion targets,
the penalties and cost escalation may be the consequences.
Belated handover may also be detrimental to its reputation and the
long-term relationship with customers;

(b) if the Group is unable to monitor and implement work safety
measures at project sites effectively, its reputation could be
adversely affected in the event that serious injuries and casualties
occur;

(c) if the Group is unable to make correct assessment on the estimated
costs and level of difficulty of required for the work on tender, the
financial viability of the project may be affected;

(d) maintaining high quality and safety standards is vital for customer
satisfaction and our reputation. Failure to effectively monitor and
communicate requirements to labour supply service providers
could result in poor performance, exposing the Group to legal
risks and potential penalties. Substandard work may also lead to
suspension, disqualification from customer lists, and lost tendering
opportunities; and

(e) the Group relies on few numbers of key customers which may
result in over-reliance on these particular customers. The loss of
one customer or downsizing of these customers could potentially
have a significant impact to the Group’s revenue.

Our Risk Control Mechanism

The Group has adopted a three-tier risk management approach to identify,
assess, mitigate and handle risks. At the first line of defence, operating
units are responsible for identifying and monitoring risks associated with
each business. The management, as the second line of defence, defines
rules and models, provides technical support, develops new systems and
oversees portfolio management. It ensures that risks are within acceptable
range and that the first line of defence is effective. As the final line of
defence, the risk management committee of the Company (the “Risk
Management Committee”), with the professional and independent
advice from the internal audit function ensures the first and second line of
defence are effective through constant inspection and monitoring.

The Group maintains a risk register to keep track of all identified major
risks (including ESG risks) of the Group. The risk register provides the
Board, the Risk Management Committee and management with a profile
of its major risks and records management’s action taken to mitigate the
relevant risks. The risk register will be reviewed and monitored at least
annually. The review process ensures that the Group proactively manages
the risks faced by it.
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Directors and Senior Management
EERSREERE

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Luk Kam Ming (“Mr. KM Luk”), aged 78, is an Executive Director
and the chairman of the Board. Mr. KM Luk founded the Group and joined
us when he was appointed as a director of KML Engineering Limited (“KML
Engineering”) in August 1977. Mr. KM Luk is responsible for overall
strategic planning and development of the Group, and oversees the
financial management and planning of the Group. He is also the chairman
of the Nomination Committee, and a member of the Remuneration
Committee.

Mr. KM Luk has more than 50 years of experience in the M&E engineering
industry, with a focus on the development of automatic fare collection
and railway transportation control systems. In August 1977, Mr. KM
Luk founded KML Engineering, the principal subsidiary of the Group
as a contractor for providing services in the fields of electrical power
engineering, signalling and communication engineering, and computer-
based toll collection systems, etc.

Mr. KM Luk was registered as a Registered Professional Engineer (RPE) by
the Engineers Registration Board. He was also registered as a Chartered
Engineer (CEng) by The Institution of Electronic and Radio Engineers,
the United Kingdom, a Chartered Engineer by the Council of Engineering
Institutions, the United Kingdom. He is admitted a member and registered
as a Chartered Electrical Engineer by The Institution of Electrical Engineers
(currently known as the Institution of Engineering and Technology), the
United Kingdom, and a Chartered Engineer by the Council of Engineering
institutions, the United Kingdom. He is also admitted as a member of the
Hong Kong Institution of Engineers, a member of Institution of Railway
Signal Engineers, and a member of Hong Kong Association of Energy
Engineers. He was nominated as the Country Vice President of Institution
of Railway Signal Engineers for Hong Kong, China in March 2011.

Mr. KM Luk is the father of Mr. Luk Kwai Lung (“Mr. KL Luk”) and Mr.
Luk Yin Cheung (“Mr. YC Luk”), both our Executive Directors. Mr. KM
Luk is also the spouse of Ms. Leung Kwok Yee (“Madam Leung”),
our controlling Shareholder, and the father-in-law of Ms. Woo Siu Wai
(“Madam Wo0”), the joint company secretary of the Company (“Joint
Company Secretary”).

KMLTechnology Group Limited ® Annual Report 2024/25
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Directors and Senior Management
EERSREERE

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)

Mr. Luk Kwai Lung, aged 48, is an Executive Director and our chief
executive officer. Mr. KL Luk is responsible for (i) managing the overall
business operations and development and (ii) executing business
strategies of the Group. Mr. KL Luk has been a director of KML
Technology Limited ("KML Technology") and KML Engineering since
February 2012 and November 2015 respectively. Mr. KL Luk is one of the
authorised signatories appointed by KML Engineering for its qualification
as a Registered Minor Works for Type A of Class Il & Ill under the Building
Ordinance. Mr. KL Luk is also a member of the Risk Management
Committee.

Mr. KL Luk joined the Group in January 2003 and appointed as deputy
managing director of KML Engineering in December 2015. He developed
comprehensive experiences in process management in various
departments in KML Engineering, and acted as the project manager for
various projects undertaken by the Group in the past years.

Mr. KL Luk obtained a degree of Bachelor of Science in hotel
administration from University of Nevada, Las Vegas, the United States,
a degree of Master of Science in administrative studies from Boston
University, the United States, and a degree of Master of Science in
engineering business management from the Hong Kong Polytechnic
University, Hong Kong. He is a member of The Hong Kong Institute of
Directors.

Mr. KL Luk is a son of Mr. KM Luk, the founder of the Group, Executive
Director and chairman of the Board, and the elder brother of Mr. YC Luk,
an Executive Director. Mr. KL Luk is the elder son of Madam Leung, our
controlling Shareholder, and the brother-in-law of Madam Woo, the Joint
Company Secretary.

Mr. Luk Yin Cheung (former name is Luk Tit Cheung), aged 46, is an
Executive Director. Mr. YC Luk is responsible for overseeing the operation
support of the Group, including purchase and procurement of the Group.
Mr. YC Luk has been a director of KML Technology and KML Engineering
since February 2012 and November 2015 respectively. Mr. YC Luk is also
a member of the Risk Management Committee.

Mr. YC Luk joined the Group in June 2006 and appointed as associate
director and executive director of KML Engineering in December 2015 and
January 2022 respectively. In the past 18 years, Mr. YC Luk has gained
vast experience in providing training on occupation safety, purchasing,
inventory and logistics management in the M&E engineering industry.

Mr. YC Luk graduated with a degree of Bachelor of Business
Administration from The University College of the Cariboo, Canada and
Postgraduate Diploma in Marketing by The University of Hong Kong
School of Professional and Continuing Education in association with
the Chartered Institute of Marketing, Hong Kong. He was elected an
affiliate member of The Chartered Institute of Logistics and Transport in
Hong Kong and a member of The Hong Kong Institute of Directors. To
promote the occupational safety of the Group, Mr. YC Luk also awarded
a Diploma in Occupational Health and Safety by the Li Ka Shing Institute
of Professional and Continuing Education, The Open University of Hong
Kong. To enhance the risk oversight of the Group, he also obtained an
Advanced Diploma in Risk and Crisis Management by the Institute of
Crisis and Risk Management and awarded as a Certified Risk Professional
in December 2021.
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Directors and Senior Management
EERSREERE

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)

Mr. YC Luk is a son of Mr. KM Luk, the founder of the Group, Executive
Director and chairman of the Board, and the younger brother of Mr. KL
Luk, an Executive Director and our chief executive officer. Mr. YC Luk is
the younger son of Madam Leung, our controlling Shareholder, and the
spouse of Madam Woo, the Joint Company Secretary.

Ms. Lee Kam Han (“Madam Lee”), aged 42, joined KML Engineering
as an assistant quality assurance engineer in June 2015 and contributed
to the quality and environmental management systems maintenance, and
was subsequently promoted to a sustainability officer in October 2021.
Madam Lee was appointed as an Executive Director and a member of the
Risk Management Committee of the Group on 7 August 2024, and was
appointed as a member of the Nomination Committee of the Group on 26
June 2025. Madam Lee is primarily responsible for the ESG matters of the
Group.

Madam Lee graduated from the Hong Kong Polytechnic University with a
Bachelor of Science in Chemical Technology and a Master of Philosophy
from the Department of Applied Biology and Chemical Technology in
December 2006 and October 2009 respectively.

She has been a Certified ESG Planner CEP® and a member of the
International Chamber of Sustainable Development (ICSD) since April
2022. She has also been a Certified Sustainability Development Goal (SDG)
Ambassador since February 2024 and an associate member of The Hong
Kong Institute of Directors since September 2024.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Lau On Kwok (“Mr. Lau”), aged 58, was appointed as an
Independent Non-executive Director on 20 September 2017. Mr. Lau
is the chairman of the Audit Committee and a member of each of the
Remuneration Committee, the Nomination Committee and the Risk
Management Committee.

Mr. Lau has extensive experience in the fields of financial management,
corporate governance and direct investment. He started his career as
accounting professional in an international accountancy firm. Mr. Lau
was an executive director at China Assets Investment Management
Limited and was also the company secretary and a member of investment
committee of China Assets (Holdings) Limited, a company previously listed
on the Stock Exchange (stock code: 170) from April 2004 to December
2010. He was a director of Shandong Lukang Pharmaceutical Company
Limited, the shares of which are listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange
(stock code: 600789), from May 2007 to April 2012. From May 2009 to
January 2011, Mr. Lau was an independent non-executive director of
Sheng Yuan Holdings Limited, a company listed on the Stock Exchange
(stock code: 0851). He was employed by Sheng Yuan Asset Management
Limited from January 2011 to August 2014, where his last position
was executive director. He also assumed the duties of the managing
director of Sheng Yuan Investment Advisors Limited from January 2011
to December 2013. Mr. Lau was the company secretary and financial
controller at Winshine Science Company Limited, a company listed on the
Stock Exchange (stock code: 209), from November 2014 to November
2018. Mr. Lau has been a director of China Assets (Holdings) Limited and
a director of China Assets Investment Management Limited since October
2018.

KMLTechnology Group Limited ® Annual Report 2024/25
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Directors and Senior Management
EERSREERE

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)

Mr. Lau obtained a degree of Bachelor of Arts in accounting and financial
analysis from the Newcastle University (formerly known as “University of
Newcastle upon Tyne”) and a degree of Master of Science in financial
management from University of London. He also obtained a Diploma on
Practices in Chinese Laws and Regulations affecting Foreign Business
jointly awarded by Southwest University of Political Science and Law and
the Hong Kong Management Association.

Mr. Lau is an associate member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants and a fellow of The Association of Chartered Certified
Accountants, the United Kingdom.

Mr. Law Wing Chi Stephen (“Mr. Law”), aged 55, was appointed as an
Independent Non-executive Director on 20 September 2017. Mr. Law is
the chairman of the Risk Management Committee, and a member of each
of the Audit Committee and the Nomination Committee.

Mr. Law has extensive experience in financial management and
professional accounting. He was the chief financial officer of Diamondlite
Limited, one of the leading jewellery manufacturers in China. Having
started his career as a professional accountant in an international
accountancy firm, Mr. Law has undertaken key financial management
positions in companies engaged in a variety of industries. Mr. Law has
been an executive director and company secretary of Kai Yuan Holdings
Limited, a company listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code: 1215),
since May 2011 and February 2014 respectively and is also currently their
chief financial officer.

Mr. Law obtained a Bachelor of Arts Degree in Accountancy from the City
University of Hong Kong. He is an associate member of the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants.

Dr. Tse Chi Kong (“Dr. Tse”), aged 60, was appointed as an
Independent Non-executive Director on 20 September 2017. Dr. Tse is
the chairman of the Remuneration Committee, a member of each of the
Audit Committee and the Nomination Committee.

From September 1991 to October 2019, Dr. Tse worked as a lecturer,
assistant professor, associate professor, professor and chair professor
in the department of electronic and information engineering (“EIE
Department”) of the Hong Kong Polytechnic University. Dr. Tse was the
head of EIE Department from August 2005 to December 2012. Since
October 2019, Dr. Tse has been a chair professor in the department
of electrical engineering at City University of Hong Kong (“CityU”), and
since February 2021, he has been appointed as Associate Vice-President
(Strategic Research) at CityU. Dr. Tse was a member of the research
projects assessment panel of Innovation and Technology Fund, a fund
administered by the Innovation and Technology Commission of the
Government of Hong Kong, for a term from January 2017 to December
2018. From January 2013 to 2019, he was a member of the Quality
Education Fund Steering Committee, which advises the Hong Kong
Government on the policies and procedures governing the operation
of the Quality Education Fund. From May 2015 to May 2021, he was
a member of the Board of Governors of the Hong Kong Sinfonietta,
one of Hong Kong's flagship orchestras supported by the Hong Kong
Government. Since January 2021, Dr. Tse has been appointed as a
member of the Advisory Committee on Gifted Education, a committee
under the Education Bureau of the Hong Kong Government.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)

Dr. Tse obtained a degree of Bachelor of Engineering and a degree of
Doctor of Philosophy from The University of Melbourne, Australia. He
has been elected to the grade of fellow of the Institute of Electrical and
Electronic Engineers, Inc., New York. He is a Chartered Professional
Engineer with Engineers Australia and a Fellow of Engineers Australia. He
was the first academic in China to be awarded the Institute of Electrical
and Electronics Engineers (IEEE) Circuits and Systems Society (CASS)
Charles A. Desoer Technical Achievement Award 2022.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Tung Tsz On (“Mr. Tung”), aged 55, is the chief operating officer
of the Group. Mr. Tung is responsible for research and development,
planning, formulation and supervising the implementation of our projects
with provision of day-to-day technical and expert advice to the Group.
Mr. Tung is one of the authorised signatories of KML Engineering for its
qualification as a Registered Minor Works Contractor for Type A and Type
C of Class Il & lll under the Buildings Ordinance since September 2011.

Mr. Tung has more than 20 years of experience in execution, design
and management of M&E projects covering a variety of systems such as
automatic fare collection systems, electronic payment, automatic control
system, car park system, security system and point of sales system etc.
Since he joined in February 20083, he has served the Group in various
capacities including system engineer and chief engineer. He has also been
promoted to chief operating officer of the Group in August 2023. He leads
the research and development activities of our Group.

Mr. Tung obtained an Advanced Diploma in network engineering granted
by the Hong Kong Productivity Council in December 2000.

Mr. Chan Chak Lun Philip (“Mr. CL Chan”), aged 63, was an Executive
Director and our chief executive officer prior to his retirement on 7 August
2023.

Mr. CL Chan continued to serve as a director of KML Engineering and
he is a technical director and one of the authorised signatories appointed
by KML Engineering for its qualification as a Registered Minor Works
Contractor for Type A and Type C of Class Il & Il under the Buildings
Ordinance.

Mr. CL Chan has more than 30 years of experience in M&E engineering.
He joined KML Engineering in October 1987. Since then, he has served
the Group in various capacities including engineer, general manager of
advanced products department, the operation director and the managing
director of KML Engineering.

Mr. CL Chan obtained a degree of Bachelor of Engineering with first class
honours in mechanical engineering from the Newcastle University (formerly
known as “University of Newcastle upon Tyne”), the United Kingdom
and a degree of Master of Science in Engineering from The University
of Hong Kong, Hong Kong. He was admitted as associate member of
the Hong Kong Institution of Engineers, a member of The Institution of
Electrical Engineers (currently known as the Institution of Engineering and
Technology), the United Kingdom and registered as a Chartered Engineer
(CEng) by the Engineering Council (UK). He was elected as a member of
the Institution of Mechanical Engineers, the United Kingdom. He is also a
member of The Hong Kong Institute of Directors.
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Directors and Senior Management
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Wong Chun Hung (“Mr. Wong”), aged 40, is the chief financial officer of
the Group and the Joint Company Secretary. He is primarily responsible
for the overall corporate financial matters, capital management and also
the company secretarial matters of our Group. He is a fellow member of
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and a member
of Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales. He has
extensive experiences in the field of accounting and finance.

Prior to joining us in October 2023, Mr. Wong served as an assistant
general manager in the finance and accounting department of a
multinational corporation. He also worked in Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
(“Deloitte”), an international accounting firm, from Year 2009 to 2020. His
last position in Deloitte was senior manager of the audit and assurance
department. Mr. Wong holds a bachelor’s degree major in accounting and
minor in finance from The Hong Kong Polytechnic University.

Ms. Law Shuk Ming (“Madam Law”), aged 54, is the chief accountant
of KML Engineering, being responsible for day-to-day accounting and
financial reporting of our Group. Madam Law joined the Group in May
1995 and was promoted to chief accountant in November 2017.

Madam Law obtained a degree of Bachelor of Business Administration
from Capstone University, the United States, and completed the
Accounting Technician Examination by Hong Kong Institute of Accredited
Accounting Technicians. She has been a Certified ESG Planner CEP® and
a member of the International Chamber of Sustainable Development (ICSD)
since June 2024.

JOINT COMPANY SECRETARIES

Ms. Woo Siu Wai, aged 45, is the Joint Company Secretary, responsible
for company secretarial matters, human resources and administrative
duties. Madam Woo joined the Group in April 2011 and was subsequently
promoted to administration manager in October 2016. Madam Woo has
been a director of KML Engineering since November 2021.

Madam Woo obtained a degree of Bachelor of Arts from the faculty of
social sciences of the University of Victoria, Canada, and a degree of
Master of Science in Professional Accounting and Corporate Governance
from City University of Hong Kong. Madam Woo was admitted as an
associate of the Hong Kong Chartered Governance Institute (formerly
known as the Hong Kong Institute of Chartered Secretaries) and an
associate of the Chartered Governance Institute (formerly known as the
Institute of Chartered Secretaries and Administrators).

Madam Woo is the spouse of Mr. YC Luk, the Executive Director, the
daughter-in-law of Mr. KM Luk, the founder of the Group, Executive
Director and chairman of the Board, the daughter-in-law of Madam
Leung, our controlling Shareholder, and the sister-in-law of Mr. KL Luk,
the Executive Director.

Mr. Wong Chun Hung, aged 40, has been appointed as the Joint
Company Secretary. His biography is set out in the subsection headed
“Senior Management” in this section.

COMPLIANCE OFFICER

Mr. Luk Yin Cheung, aged 46, has been appointed as the compliance
officer of the Company. His biography is set out in the subsection headed
“Executive Directors” in this section.
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The Board is pleased to present its report together with the audited
consolidated financial statements of the Group for the Reporting Year.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding and its
subsidiaries are principally engaged in the provision of M&E engineering
solutions and services. Analysis of the principal activities of the Group
during the Reporting Year is set out in the note 5 to the consolidated
financial statements.

RESULTS

The results of the Group for the Reporting Year are set out in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income
on page 60 of this annual report.

FINAL DIVIDEND

The Board does not recommend the payment of a final dividend for the
Reporting Year (2024: nil).

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

The register of members of the Company will be closed from Thursday,
31 July 2025 to Tuesday, 5 August 2025, both days inclusive, in order
to determine the identity of the Shareholders who are entitled to attend
the annual general meeting (“AGM(s)”), during which period no transfers
of Shares shall be effected. In order to qualify for attending and voting at
the AGM to be held on Tuesday, 5 August 2025, all transfers of Shares,
accompanied by the relevant share certificates and transfer forms,
must be lodged for registration with Tricor Investor Services Limited at
17/F, Far East Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong no later than
4:30 p.m. on Wednesday, 30 July 2025.
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BUSINESS REVIEW

A review of the business of the Group as at 31 March 2025 and a
discussion on the Group’s future business development are set out in
the paragraphs headed “Business Review” and “Outlook” under the
section headed “Management Discussion and Analysis” of this Report
respectively. Descriptions of possible risks and uncertainties that the
Group may be facing are provided in paragraphs headed “Principal Risks
and Uncertainties” under the section headed “Management Discussion
and Analysis” of this Report. An analysis of the Group’s performance
during the year using financial key performance indicators is provided in
the Financial Highlights on page 7 of this Report.

In addition, discussions on the Group’s environmental policies and
performance, important relationships with its stakeholders and compliance
with relevant laws and regulations are contained and available in this
Report of Directors. The above discussions constitute part of this Report
of Directors.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE

The Group recognises that all employees have the social obligation to
preserve and enhance the quality of the environment. We strive to protect
the environment in the course of our business activities by preventing
pollution, reducing adverse impact on climate change and enhancing
sustainable development. These policies are supported by our employees
and are implemented effectively.

At the same time, the Group recognises the importance of compliance
with regulatory requirements and applicable laws and regulations. During
the Reporting Year, the Group has complied in material respects with the
relevant environmental laws and regulations.

COMPLIANCE WITH RELEVANT LAWS AND REGULATIONS

The Group recognises the importance of compliance with regulatory
requirements and the risks of non-compliance with the applicable laws
and regulations. The major laws and regulations relating to the Group’s
business and operations include the Electricity Ordinance, Security
and Guarding Services Ordinance, Building (Minor Works) Regulation,
Construction Industry Council Ordinance and the Subcontractor
Registration Scheme. During the Reporting Year and up to the Date
of this Report, the Group has complied in material respects with the
relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the
business and operation of the Group. There was no material breach or
non-compliance with the applicable laws and regulations by the Group
during the Reporting Year and up to the Date of this Report. The Group
has complied with all relevant requirements including financial, technical,
management and personal criteria applicable to each respective laws and
regulations.
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RELATIONSHIP WITH KEY STAKEHOLDERS

Employees

As at 31 March 2025, the Group employed 169 employees. We
maintained a good working relationship with our employees and we
did not experience any labour disputes during the Reporting Year.
Recruitment in the M&E engineering service industry is highly competitive,
especially with respect to the recruitment of qualified engineering staff.
We believe we are hiring high-quality employees in the market by offering
competitive wages and benefits and comprehensive training opportunities.
We have facilitated the recruitment through a variety of channels, such as
internet websites, recruitment agencies, career talks and intemnal referrals.
We believe our continuous efforts will help us attract suitable personnel.

Customers

Our customers mainly comprise mass transportation companies and
other engineering companies in Hong Kong and Taiwan and also various
departments of the Hong Kong Government. We maintain business
relationship with our largest customer since year 1978. We usually enter
into agreements with our customers on project basis and the majority of
such contracts have term over one year. Most of our project contracts are
fixed price contracts. The lump sum price is usually determined based on
factors including project requirements and estimated cost of materials,
labour and time required for completion of the projects.

Suppliers

The Group sources equipment, parts and components from our suppliers.
The principal materials and equipment used by our M&E engineering
business include light-emitting diode (“LED”) lights, steel and copper
parts, switchboards, and various mechanical equipment. Most of these
materials and equipment are sourced from local suppliers or imported
mainly from China, Europe and Taiwan.

We also engage subcontractors to perform certain contract works. These
subcontractors are mainly located in Hong Kong.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY
A summary of the Group’s results, assets and liabilities for the last five

financial years is set out on page 132 of this Report. This summary does
not form part of the audited consolidated financial statements.
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

Major Customers

For the Reporting Year, the Group’s sales to its five largest customers
accounted for approximately 86.0% (2024: approximately 90.6%) of the
Group’s total revenue and the sales to its largest customer accounted for
approximately 70.8% (2024: approximately 79.6%) of the Group’s total
revenue.

Major Suppliers

For the Reporting Year, purchases from the Group’s five largest suppliers
accounted for approximately 51.1% (2024: approximately 50.2%) of the
Group’s total purchases and the purchases from the largest supplier
accounted for approximately 17.3% (2024: approximately 10.9%) of the
Group’s total purchases.

During the Reporting Year, none of the Directors or any of their close
associates or any Shareholders (which, to the best knowledge of the
Directors, own more than 5% of the number of issued Shares (excluding
treasury shares) of the Company) had any interest in the Group’s five
largest customers and suppliers.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of the Group
during the Reporting Year are set out in note 13 to the consolidated
financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in the share capital of the Company during the
Reporting Year are set out in note 27 to the consolidated financial
statements.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Company and the Group
during the Reporting Year are set out on pages 130 and 62 of this Report
respectively.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 March 2025, the Company’s reserves available for distribution
to the Shareholders amounted to approximately HK$17.0 million
(2024: approximately HK$18.7 million), comprising an accumulated
loss of approximately HK$4.6 million and share premium amounting to
approximately HK$21.6 million.

BANK LOANS AND OTHER BORROWINGS

As at 31 March 2025, the Group has nil (2024: HK$15.0 million)
outstanding bank borrowings.
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DIRECTORS

The Directors during the Reporting Year and up to the Date of this Report
are:

Executive Directors

Mr. Luk Kam Ming (Chairman)

Mr. Luk Kwai Lung (Chief Executive Officer)

Mr. Luk Yin Cheung

Ms. Lee Kam Han (appointed on 7 August 2024)

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. Lau On Kwok

Mr. Law Wing Chi Stephen

Dr. Tse Chi Kong

In accordance with article 84(1) of the Articles of Association of the
Company (“Articles of Association”), at each AGM one-third of the
Directors (or, if their number is not a multiple of three (3), the number
nearest to but not less than one-third) shall retire from office by rotation
provided that every Director shall be subject to retirement at an AGM at
least once every three years.

Pursuant to Article 83(3) of the Articles of Association, any Director
appointed by the Board to fill a casual vacancy shall hold office until the
first general meeting of Members after his appointment and be subject
to re-election at such meeting and any Director appointed by the Board
as an addition to the existing Board shall hold office only until the next
following AGM of the Company and shall then be eligible for re-election.

Details of the Directors to be re-elected at the AGM are set out in the
circular to be despatched to the Shareholders.

DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Biographical details of the Directors and senior management of the
Company are set out on pages 14 to 19 of this Report.

CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE OF INDEPENDENT NON-
EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Company has received an annual confirmation of independence
pursuant to Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules from each of the
independent non-executive Directors and the Company considers such
Directors to be independent during the Reporting Year and remain so as
at the Date of this Report.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE AGREEMENTS AND LETTERS OF
APPOINTMENT

Each of Mr. Luk Kam Ming, Mr. Luk Kwai Lung and Mr. Luk Yin Cheung,
being the executive Directors, has signed a service agreement with
the Company for a term of three years and will continue thereafter until
terminated in accordance with terms of the agreement.

Ms. Lee Kam Han, an executive Director, has entered into a service
agreement with the Company for an initial period of one year commencing
from 7 August 2024 which is continued on a month-to-month basis.

Each of the independent non-executive Directors has signed the letter of
appointment with the Company for a term of three years, which may be
renewable subject to both parties’ agreement.

None of the Directors has a service agreement/letter of appointment

which is not determinable by the Group within one year without payment
of compensation (other than statutory compensation).
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS
OR CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed in the paragraph headed “Connected Transactions”
on page 37 and the related party transactions as set out in note 30 to the
consolidated financial statements, no other transactions, arrangements or
contracts of significance to which the Company or any of its subsidiaries
was a party and in which a Director or an entity connected with a Director
had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end
of the year or at any time during the year.

CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

During the Reporting Year, no contract of significance in respect
of provision of services or otherwise was entered into between the
Company or its subsidiaries and the controlling Shareholders or his/her/its
subsidiaries.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the whole
or any substantial part of the business of the Company were entered into
or existed during the Reporting Year and up to the Date of this Report.

REMUNERATION POLICY

A remuneration committee was set up for reviewing the Group’s
remuneration policy and structure for all remuneration of the directors and
senior management of the Group, having regard to the Group’s operating
results, individual performance of the directors and senior management
and comparable market practices.

Details of the remuneration of the Directors, and the five highest paid
individuals during the Reporting Year are set out in note 8 to the
consolidated financial statements.

RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEME

Details of the retirement benefits scheme of the Group are set out in note
31 to the consolidated financial statements.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S INTERESTS AND
SHORT POSITION IN SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES

As at 31 March 2025, the interests and short positions of the Directors
and the chief executive of the Company in the Shares, underlying Shares
and debentures of the Company or its associated corporations (within
the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (“SFO”))
which have been notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests
and short positions which they were taken or deemed to have under such
provisions of the SFO), which were recorded in the register required to be
kept pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO; or as otherwise notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Rules 5.46 to 5.67 of
the GEM Listing Rules were as follows:
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S INTERESTS AND SHORT
POSITION IN SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES
(CONTINUED)

ESRIRTRAEBRKSD - ARARORERSNESZR
wE ()

Number
of Shares / Approximate
underlying percentage of
Shares held/ Long/short  shareholding in
Name Capacity/Nature of Interest interested position® the Company (%)®©
e ol
387 RAED AR
"L B RmitE HERGHE "R/ HEe BHBED (%)@
Mr. KM Luk® Beneficial owner; interest of spouse 157,000,000 L 38.77
R AR S A0 EmAA  iEER
Mr. KL Luk® Interest in controlled corporation 138,000,000 L 34.08
ReZ= B S 0 R AR
Mr. YC Luk®@® Interest in controlled corporation; 138,700,000 L 34.25
interest of spouse
FEER LN ZiEEE R B
Madam Lee® Beneficial owner 50,000 L 0.01
T t+w BERBAA
Notes: Hiat -

(1) Mr. KM Luk directly holds 100,000,000 Shares. Since Mr. KM Luk is the spouse of
Madam Leung, Mr. KM Luk is deemed to be interested in all the Shares in which
Madam Leung is interested or deemed to be interested under the SFO, which is
57,000,000 Shares.

2) Each of Mr. KL Luk and Mr. YC Luk owns one common share in KML Holdings
Limited (“KML Holdings’), representing 50% of the issued share capital of KML
Holdings carrying voting rights. Mr. KL Luk and Mr. YC Luk are deemed to be
interested in all Shares in which KML Holdings is interested or deemed to be
interested under the SFO, which is 138,000,000 Shares.

3) Since Mr. YC Luk is the spouse of Madam Woo, Mr. YC Luk is deemed to be
interested in all the Shares in which Madam Woo s interested or deemed to be
interested under the SFO, which is 700,000 Shares.

(4) Madam Lee was appointed as an Executive Director of the Group on 7 August
2024.

%) The Letter “L” denotes the entity/person’s long position in the Shares.

6) As at 31 March 2025, the total number of issued Shares were 404,960,000.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2025, none of the Directors
or the chief executive of the Company had or was deemed to have any
interest or short position in the Shares, underlying Shares or debentures of
the Company or its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV
of the SFO) that was required to be notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including
interests and short positions which they were taken or deemed to have
taken under such provisions of the SFO), or required to be recorded in the
register required to be kept under Section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Rules 5.46
to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT
POSITIONS IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES

As at 31 March 2025, to the best knowledge of the Directors, the
following persons (not being a Director or chief executive of the Company)
had interests or short positions in the Shares or underlying Shares which
fall to be disclosed to the Company and the Stock Exchange under the
provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO as recorded in the
register required to be kept by the Company pursuant to section 336 of

FERRRAROREBRONERR KR

RZZE-_RAF=A=+—H REEAEMN U TALEE
FEZRAQNBEBTHAB) RAREIRGD SAARE R
EARRARBREES M BAEEDEI36IEAFTENELMAT
FEE SRR B 5 R HA BRI SEXVERSE 2 & 37 BRI SLZB A1 AN
AR MR TR AR SRR

the SFO:
Number of
Shares/ Approximate
underlying percentage of
Shares held/ Long/short  shareholding in
Name Capacity/Nature of Interest interested position® the Company (%)®©
e ol
EEBG, RAED AR
"L B RmitE HERGHE "B KA BB DL (%)©
KML Holdings Beneficial owner 138,000,000 L 34.08
KML Holdings!" EnEAA
Madam Leung® Beneficial owner; interest of spouse 157,000,000 L 38.77
i+ EnEAA BB ER
Ms. Chan Patricia® Interest of spouse 138,000,000 L 34.08
FRIMG L+ iRkt
Madam Woo® Beneficial owner; interest of spouse 138,700,000 L 34.25
[ Eequ il BEREAA  IEER
Notes: Biat -

1)

@

3

4

©)
©)

Each of Mr. KL Luk and Mr. YC Luk owns one common share in KML Holdings,
representing 50% of the issued share capital of KML Holdings carrying voting
rights. Mr. KL Luk and Mr. YC Luk also own approximately 50% and approximately
50%, respectively, of the issued preferred shares in KML Holdings which do not
carry voting rights but only rights to dividends.

Madam Leung is the spouse of Mr. KM Luk. By virtue of the SFO, Madam Leung
is deemed to be interested in all the Shares in which Mr. KM Luk is interested or
deemed to be interested under the SFO, and vice versa.

Ms. Chan Patricia is the spouse of Mr. KL Luk. By virtue of the SFO, Ms. Chan
Patricia is deemed to be interested in all the Shares in which Mr. KL Luk is
interested or deemed to be interested under the SFO.

Madam Woo is the spouse of Mr. YC Luk. By virtue of the SFO, Madam Woo is
deemed to be interested in all the Shares in which Mr. YC Luk is interested or
deemed to be interested under the SFO, which is 138,000,000 Shares. Madam
Woo directly holds 300,000 Shares and was interested as a grantee of options to
subscribe for up to 400,000 Shares under the Share Option Scheme (announced
on 18 April 2023).

The Letter “L” denotes the entity/person’s long position in the Shares.

As at 31 March 2025, the total number of issued Shares were 404,960,000.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2025, the Directors were
not aware of any persons (who were not Directors or chief executive
of the Company) who had an interest or short position in the Shares or
underlying Shares of the Company which would fall to be disclosed to the
Company and the Stock Exchange under Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of
the SFO, or which would be required, pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO,
to be entered in the register referred to therein.
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DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR DEBENTURES

Save as otherwise disclosed in this Report, at no time during the
Reporting Year was the Company or any of its subsidiaries a party to
any arrangement that would enable the Directors to acquire benefits by
means of acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any
other body corporate, and none of the Directors or any of their spouses or
children under the age of 18 were granted any right to subscribe for the
equity or debt securities of the Company or any other body corporate or
had exercised any such right.

SHARE SCHEMES

The Company has adopted two share schemes, namely, (1) the Share
Option Scheme and (2) the Share Award Scheme (as defined below).

The total number of Shares that may be issued in respect of options and
awards granted under all share schemes of the Company during the
Reporting Year divided by the weighted average number of Shares in issue
(excluding treasury shares), i.e. 402,824,000 Shares, for the Reporting
Year was 1.6%.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

In order to recognise and acknowledge the contributions that the directors
and employees of the Group have made or may make to the Group, the
Company approved and adopted the share option scheme pursuant to
the written resolutions of the Shareholders passed on 20 September 2017
(the “Share Option Scheme”). The principal terms of the Share Option
Scheme are summarised below:

(@) the Board may, at its absolute discretion and on such terms as it
may think fit, grant an option to subscribe any director or employee
of the Group, from time to time on the basis of his/her contribution
or potential contribution to the development and growth of the
Group;

(o) the maximum number of Shares in respect of which options may
be granted under the Share Option Scheme must not in aggregate
exceed 40,000,000 Shares, representing 10% of the total number
of Shares in issue as at the date of adoption and approximately 9.9%
of the total number of Shares in issue as at the Date of this Report;

() the total number of Shares issued and to be issued upon exercise
of options granted to any participant (including both exercised
and outstanding options) under the Share Option Scheme, in any
12-month period up to the date of grant shall not exceed 1% of the
Shares in issue. Any further grant of options in excess of such limit
must be separately approved by Shareholders in general meeting
with such grantee and his/her close associates abstaining from
voting;

(d) an option may be exercised in accordance with the terms of the
Share Option Scheme at any time during a period as the Board
may determine which shall not exceed 10 years from the date of
grant subject to the provisions of early termination thereof;
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (CONTINUED)

(e) an offer for the grant of options must be accepted within three
business days from the date of offer. The amount payable by the
eligible persons of an option to the Company on acceptance of the
offer for the grant of an option is HK$10;

(f) the subscription price of a Share in respect of any particular option
granted under the Share Option Scheme shall be a price solely
determined by the Board and notified to an eligible person and
shall not be less than the highest of: (i) the closing price of the
Shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet
on the date of grant of the option, which must be a business day;
(i) the average closing prices of the Shares as stated in the Stock
Exchange’s daily quotations sheets for the five business days
immediately preceding the date of grant of the option; and (ji)) the
nominal value of a Share on the date of grant of the option; and

(@  the Share Option Scheme will remain in force for a period of 10
years commencing on 16 October 2017 (the “Listing Date”)
and shall expire at the close of business on the business day
immediately preceding the 10th anniversary thereof unless
terminated earlier by the Shareholders in a general meeting. As
at the Date of this Report, the remaining life of the Share Option
Scheme is approximately 2 years and 3 months.

On 2 January 2020, the Company granted 9,800,000 share options
(“Options”) (“Year 2020 Tranche Options”) to certain eligible
participants (the “Grantee(s)”), subject to acceptance by the Grantees, to
subscribe for Shares with nominal value of HK$0.01 each of the Company
under the Share Option Scheme. Among the Options granted, 2,000,000
Options were granted to Mr. CL Chan, a former director, 700,000 Options
were granted to Ms. Wai Hang Ying Helen (“Ms. Wai”), a former director
of a subsidiary of the Company and 300,000 Options were granted to
Madam Woo, Joint Company Secretary, a director of a subsidiary of the
Company and an associate to a Director.

The estimated fair value of the above 9,800,000 Options granted was
approximately HK$1,057,000. All of the non-exercised Year 2020 Tranche
Options are expired during the year ended 31 March 2025.

On 18 April 2023, 9,000,000 Options were granted (“Year 2023 Tranche
Options”). Among the Options granted, 1,000,000 Options were granted
to Mr. CL Chan, a former director of the Company, and 400,000 Options
were granted to Madam Woo, Joint Company Secretary, a director of a
subsidiary of the Company and an associate to a Director. The fair value
of the equity-settled Options granted under the Share Option Scheme
was approximately HK$292,000.

The estimated fair value of the Options were determined in accordance
with the valuation performed by an independent valuer using the binomial
option pricing model based on following inputs. The value of the Options is
subject to certain fundamental limitations, including the subjective nature
of and uncertainty relating to a number of assumptions of the expected
future performance input to the model, and certain inherent limitations of
the model itself. The expected volatility was determined with reference to
the historical daily volatilities of the Share price of the Company. The risk
free rate was determined with reference to the prevailing rates on debt
securities as reference from Thomson Reuters and Bloomberg L.P.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (CONTINUED) MRS 8 ()

Date of grant 18 April 2023 2 January 2020
R AH “E-=FMA+NH —E2-EH—-AZH
Share price at grant date HK$0.166 HK$0.250
R B B AR (B 18 0.16678 7T 0.2507 7T
Exercise price HK$0.171 HK$0.259
1IEE 017137t 0.2597% 7T
Expected volatility 50.35% 54.96%
L] 50.35% 54.96%
Expected life 5 years from the date of Grant 5 years from the date of grant
TREREFHR BREBEEBEA RS BRE B R RS
Risk-free rate 3.00% 2.056%
1 [ B A 2 3.00% 2.056%
Expected dividend Yield 13.51% 0%
TEHARR B & 13.51% 0%
Exercise multiple 2.xto 3.x 2.X
I{EES 2.x10 3.x 2.x

Details regarding the number of Options, date of grant, vesting period,
exercise period and exercise price of the Options granted on 2 January

FR_ T TF-A-AR-E_=FMNA+T\BERLE
Mot BEACHESIE - RILBH - SRR TREIRITEE

30

2020 and 18 April 2023 are set out below: ZEEEEYT
Closing price
immediately
Date of Number of Exercise price before date
Name of participants Options granted  Options granted Vesting period Exercise period of Options of grant
2R SERLAS
SREMR RHBRERS BREYA R TEH  BRETRE AZUHE
HKS per Share HKS per Share
/R /i
Mr. CL Chan( 2 January 2020 2,000,000 2 January 2020 1 July 2021 0.259 0.250
(Former Director and Chief executive officer) 10 30 June 2021 to 1 January 2025
L0 “B-%F-A-A “B-RF-ACAE B--FtA-RE
GEEEGET “2--FABSR CRoEER-H
18 Apri 2023 500,000 18 Apri 2023 18 Aprl 2024 0.471 0.166
to 17 April 2024 to 17 April 2028
ZZZZEMATAA ZEZ-F#NATN\RE ZZ-REMATNAEZ
ZZZMENAHEA 3 \FMAT++A
18 April 2023 500,000 18 April 2023 15 October 2024 0.171 0.166
to 14 October 2024 to 17 April 2028
“Z-ZERATIE “Z--EMA+\RE ZE-RETATRAZ
“E-RETATEA —E-/\EEmA+LA
Ms. Wai® 2 January 2020 700,000 2 January 2020 1 July 2021 0.259 0.250
(Former director of KML Engineering) 10 30 June 2021 to 1 January 2025
e “RCTE-ACH “R°T5-AZAE  ZT--%£tA-HEZ
(RARHIRAES) “Z--%~A=1A ZZCR%-A-A
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (CONTINUED) MBS B ()
Closing price
immediately
Date of Number of Exercise price before date
Name of participants Options granted ~ Options granted Vesting period Exercise period of Options of grant
BRit SEELAH
SRENR RHBRERS BhREYE HRE s BRETRE HZHmE
HKS per Share HKS per Share
/R /|
Madam Woo 2 January 2020 300,000 2 January 2020 1 July 2021 0.259 0.250
(Joint Company Secretary) 10 30 June 2021 to 1 January 2025
fEat “E-%5-A-A “Z-%%-A-RE  -B--5tA-RZE
(BEAANE) —Z--%~A=1A “Z-n5-A-H
18 April 2023 200,000 18 April 2023 18 April 2024 0.171 0.166
to 17 Apri 2024 to 17 April 2028
ZZZ=EMATIA “Z-ZfMA+/\RE —E-REEA+N\RZ
ZZ-MENAHEA 3 \FmAT++A
18 April 2023 200,000 18 April 2023 15 October 2024 0.171 0.166
to 4 Qctober 2024 to 17 April 2028
Z3Z=F¥mATNA “E-CEMATN\HE  ZE-RmETAtEAZ
“Z-METATEA ZE-/\EEATLA
Other employees 2 January 2020 3,500,000 2 January 2020 1 July 2020 0.259 0.250
t0 30 June 2020 to 1 January 2025
EfbEE “2-TE-ACA i e
“ERCTERAZTH “B2-n5-A-H
2 January 2020 3,300,000 2 January 2020 2 January 2021 0.259 0.250
to 1 January 2021 to 1 January 2025
“2CEF-ACA Z2-3F-AZAE ZZZ-§-AzA%
“2--%-8-H ZECRE-A-H
18 April 2023 3,800,000 18 April 2023 18 April 2024 0.171 0.166
to 17 April 2024 to 17 April 2028
“ZCZERmATIA “ZCZEEAHN\RE  —E-MERATARE
ZZ-mENAHEA ZZZ\§EAT+A
18 April 2023 3,800,000 18 April 2023 15 October 2024 0.171 0.166
to 14 October 2024 to 17 April 2028
“Z-ZERATIA “ZF-=fNA+\RE Z—Z-NF+ATHAZ
“EoRETATEA —EZ-/\EEATEA
Total 18,800,000
st
Notes: Hat -
(1) Mr. CL Chan retired as the Director and ceased to be the chief executive officer (1) BEB AL —FE - = F \ A HERTEERTHELLR

of the Company starting from 7 August 2023. He remains as a director of KML

AJTTAEE ©

KEFBHHRTIEEE R_F_HF=H

Engineering. On 31 March 2025, Mr. CL Chan ceased to be an executive director
and was re-designated as a non-executive director of KML Engineering. The share
options granted to Mr. CL Chan were forfeited on 31 March 2025.

2) Ms. Wai resigned as the director of KML Engineering on 29 November 2021. The
share options granted to Ms. Wai were forfeited upon her departure during the year
ended 31 March 2022.

@

=+—H  BEBEFETEELSHNETREERFIES
TTEE - BTREBAEWBRECR - F-_FF=HA=4+—
HRH -

HLITR-FEZ—F+— AT NABERHRNRIENE

FoRBE—F_—F=H=+—HIFFRERTFHXLAER
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (CONTINUED)

The following table sets forth movements in the Options during the
Reporting Year:

AR ()
TREDIA RS EE R S

Number of
Outstanding as at Number of Number of Number of Options lapsed/  Outstanding as at
Name of participants 1 April 2024 Options granted ~ Options exercised ~ Options cancelled forfeited 31 March 2025
R-B-ME R-Z-1f
mAE—A ERE (X3 [BE: BM/BRY =ZR=t-H
SRENE i RATHE BREHA BREHE BREHE BREHE e RATHE
Mr. CL Chan 3,000,000 - - - (3,000,000) -
(Former Director and
chief executive officer)
BER L E
(MESRITHER)
Madam Woo 700,000 = = = (300,000) 400,000
(Joint Company Secretary)
e,
ERATWE)
Employees 8,500,000 = = = (3,000,000) 5,500,000
&8
Total 12,200,000 - - - (6,300,000) 5,900,000
st

As at the Date of this Report, taking into account 28,000,000 share
options had been granted, the maximum number of Shares in respect of
which options may be granted is 12,000,000, representing approximately
3.0% of the total number of Shares in issue as at the Date of this Report.

The number of share options available for grant under the Share Option
Scheme as at 1 April 2024 and 31 March 2025 was 12,000,000 options
and 12,000,000 options respectively.

SHARE AWARD SCHEME

The Company adopted a share award scheme (the “Share Award
Scheme”) on 5 November 2018 (the “Adoption Date”). Subject to any
early termination as may be determined by the Board, the Share Award
Scheme shall be valid and effective for a term of 15 years commencing on
the Adoption Date. Please refer to the announcement dated 5 November
2018 for details. The principles of Share Award Scheme are summarised
below:

(@) Purpose of the scheme
The purposes and objectives of the Share Award Scheme are (i) to
recognise and reward the contribution of certain eligible persons
for the growth and development of the Group and to provide them
with incentives in order to retain them for the continual operation
and development of the Group; and (i) to attract suitable personnel
for further development of the Group.
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SHARE AWARD SCHEME (CONTINUED)

(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)

U]

Eligibility of Participant in the scheme
The eligible person under the Share Award Scheme is:

(i) any employee of the Group;

(ii) any executive director or non-executive director (including
any independent non-executive director) of the Company,
any of its subsidiaries or any invested entity;

(iii) any customer of the Group or any invested entity;

(iv)  any supplier of goods or services to any member of the
Group or any invested entity;

(V) any person or entity that provides research, development
or other technological support to the Group or any invested
entity;

(viy  any shareholder of any member of the Group or any invested
entity or any holder of any securities issued by any member
of the Group or any invested entity;

(vii)  any person or entity which has contributed to the Group or
its business; and

(viii)  any other person selected by the Board at its sole discretion.

Total number of shares available of issue under the scheme
Referring to the amended GEM Listing Rules relating to share
schemes became effective on 1 January 2023, the Company’s
Share Award Scheme which existed as at 1 January 2023 and
utilised general mandate may only grant shares under general
mandate until the second annual general meeting after 1 January
2023, which was held on 7 August 2024. Since then, the Company
is no longer permitted to issue new shares under this Share Award
Scheme unless it is updated or replaced with a new scheme to
comply with these new regulations.

As at the Date of this Report, a maximum number of Shares that
can be issued and allotted are nil Shares.

Maximum entitlement of each selected participant

The total number of awarded Shares (including granted and non-
vested Shares) granted to a selected participant under the scheme
in any 12-month period shall not in aggregate exceed 1% of the
total number of Shares in issue from time to time.

Vesting period of award shares under the scheme

The awarded Shares to which such selected participant is
entitled under the relevant award shall be vested in such selected
participant as soon as practicable after the vesting date. The award
Shares granted typically shall vest in selected participant within
three years from the date of grant.

Consideration and purchase price

Pursuant to the Share Award Scheme, there were granted to the
grantees at nil consideration and were or will be transferred to the
grantees upon vesting at nil consideration.

fR 40 22 Bt ()

(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)
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SHARE AWARD SCHEME (CONTINUED)

(@) The basis of determining the purchase price of share award
The purchase price for such purchases shall not be higher than the
lower of the following: (i) the closing market price on the date of
such purchase; and (i) the average closing market price for the five
preceding trading days on which the Shares were traded on the
Stock Exchange.

(h) Life of scheme
Subject to any early termination as may be determined by the
Board, the Share Award Scheme shall be valid and effective for a
term of 15 years commencing on the Adoption Date. As at the Date
of this Report, the remaining life of the Share Award Scheme is
approximately eight years and four months.

During the Reporting Year, no awarded Shares (2024: Nil) were granted
to employees of KML Engineering. As at 31 March 2025, 7,335,000
and 5,785,000 awarded Shares were granted and vested to employee
respectively.

Referring to the amended GEM Listing Rules relating to share schemes
became effective on 1 January 2023, the Company’s Share Award
Scheme which existed as at 1 January 2023 and utilised general mandate
may only grant shares under general mandate until the second annual
general meeting after 1 January 2023, which was held on 7 August 2024.
Since then, the Company is no longer permitted to issue new shares
under this Share Award Scheme unless it is updated or replaced with a
new scheme to comply with these new regulations.

As at 31 March 2025, the Company can only grant share awards to
grantees using shares that have been or will be repurchased from the
market or by way of gift. The number of share awards available for grant
in this manner under the Share Award Scheme as at 1 April 2024 and 31
March 2025 was 32,665,000 Shares and 32,665,000 Shares respectively.

Details regarding the date of grant, the vesting period, the closing prices
of Shares, the fair value of awarded Shares, the movements of awarded
Shares granted, vested, forfeited or cancelled during the Reporting Year,
and the number of awarded Shares unvested as at 31 March 2025 are as
follows:

R 4D Ee Bt ()

() EEROVRBBEENERE
HABENBEENMIER TIIRES  ((EEEBE
HEI U TE » RO N MRS AER S
H#FHRTE

(h) FHEIER
Befn B2EhET & B IR B HIR AR - BREIR165F
BEFGADRERARL - RARE BH - i
BB RBBEROBNFZEEA -

EREFEN  ARFYBARAHBZTREERT R
BB (CE-_mE:B) - RZF-RF=A=+—H"
7,335,000 £2 A% 17 1.5,785,000f B E A BIR T
KERENES -

BRER-ZE-_=F— A —HERNBBARGFEINEERT
GEMEMRA R=ZZE—_=F— A —HEFERMER—RE
ENAARRNEEFTEETE S =F—A—HA2%
E’]%_//\Hxﬁiﬁiﬁ'&(aﬁ/\fyflﬂli)\ﬁtﬁgﬁiﬁ)z
AT - RIE—MRERLRG - Bt - RIEBBEARG B
%Ji&ﬁﬁ%ﬁi?ﬁ%ﬁﬂ‘i‘ MARAFEZZHEIRE - BRIAKR
REITSBIREAR AR () RTS8 THRR D -

RIZE-HF=ZA=1+—8 ' KARFETFHZREBHR
MIBELRAR (IR TR ARARD EE - R-ZT M
FNA—BRZZE-AF=ZA=+—A8  RIEKRHER
BILAE 77 = AT g5 I B0 AR 1 £ B 9 Bl /832,665,000 4% i 17
232,665,000 /% 17 °

ﬁ%ﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ‘%ﬁ%i@ foﬁ%l?ﬁfﬁ HERO DA
RBEFEERE - B8  RWSGTIHRBRMHEEH AR
RZZE-_RAF=A= WL H RS SRR A 2B #5140
™

Weighted
Closing Price Number of average closing
of the Shares Fair value Number of Number of Numberof  awarded Shares Number of price of Shares
immediately ofawarded  awarded Shares  awarded Shares  awarded Shares Forfeited/  awarded Shares immediately
Category hefore the Sharesonthe  unvestedasat  granted during vested during  Cancelled during  unvested as at Vesting before the
of Participants  Date of grant date of grant date of grant 1 April 2024 the year the year theyear 31 March 2025 Period vesting date
RB-mE W-81f
BA-A Eh =R=t1-H SEGE
BERLAE HRLRHCEE 58 ERERT ERCER BRY/ i A58 REARAH
35255 RERH ARBMETE  REWOAE  BRERAYE RERREA RERAHE CHRERGHR  CRERGER RE  METHNGE
Otheremployees 5 Ju\y 2021 0.38 0.39 265,000 265,000) - - 23years 039
LU ZE--FtREA el
Other employees 26 August 2022 019 020 1,430,000 - (1,045,000) - 385,000 2-3years? 019
Efrfe8 Sy -1V I e
Total 1,695,000 (1,310,000) - 385,000
&t
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SHARE AWARD SCHEME (CONTINUED)

Notes:

(1) 2,375,000 shares was granted on & July 2021. For 1,625,000 awarded Shares
granted, the relevant vesting period is 2 years as from the date of grant. For
850,000 awarded Shares granted, the relevant vesting period is 3 years as from
the date of grant.

2) 2,460,000 shares was granted on 26 August 2022 by issuance of new shares. For
1,410,000 awarded Shares granted, the relevant vesting period is 2 years as from
the date of grant. For 1,000,000 awarded Shares granted, the relevant vesting
period is 3 years as from the date of grant. 50,000 awarded Shares have not been
allotted.

3) Fursuant to the Share Award Scheme, share awards were granted to the grantees
at nil consideration and were or will be transferred to the grantees upon vesting at
nil consideration.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save for the Share Option Scheme and Share Award Scheme as set out
in this Report, no equity-linked agreement that would or might result in the
Company issuing Shares, or that requiring the Company to enter into an
agreement that would or might result in the Company issuing Shares, was
entered into by the Company during the year or subsisted at the end of
the year.

CHANGES TO DIRECTORS’ INFORMATION

Pursuant to Rule 17.50A(1) of the GEM Listing Rules, changes in the
information of Directors that are required to be disclosed are shown as
follows:

(a) Ms. Lee Kam Han has been appointed as a member of the
nomination committee of the Company with effect from 26 June
2025; and

(o) Mr. Lau On Kwok has been appointed as a member of the
nomination committee of the Company with effect from 26 June
2025.

Except as disclosed above and in the section headed ‘Directors and
Senior Management’ in this report, there was no other change to any of
the information required to be disclosed pursuant to Rule 17.50A(1) of the
GEM Listing Rules since the publication of the 2024 interim report of the
Company.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED SECURITIES

During the Reporting Year, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries
had purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Articles of Association
or the laws of the Cayman Islands that would oblige the Company to offer
new Shares on a pro rata basis to the existing Shareholders.

A0 € e (4)
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NON-COMPETITION UNDERTAKING

Pursuant to the deed of non-competition dated 20 September 2017 (the
“Deed of Non-competition”) entered into by the Group and Mr. KM Luk,
Madam Leung, Mr. KL Luk, Mr. YC Luk and KML Holdings (collectively,
the “Controlling Shareholders”) and as covenators (collectively, the
“Covenators”), each of the Covenators has irrevocably and unconditionally
undertaken to and covenanted with the Company (for itself and as trustee
for its subsidiaries) that, subject to the exceptions as described in the
Prospectus dated 29 September 2017 (the “Prospectus”), during the
period that the Deed of Non-Competition remains effective, he/she/it shall
not, and shall procure that his/her/its associates (other than any members
of the Group) will not, during the term of the Deed of Non-Competition,
directly or indirectly, either for his/her/its own account or in conjunction
with or on behalf of or for any other person, firm or company, whether
for profit, reward or otherwise, (i) carry on, participate in, be interested or
engaged in, or acquire or hold any right or interest (in each case whether
as a shareholder, partner, agent, consultant, employee or otherwise)
directly or indirectly in any business which is or likely to be in competition
with the business currently from time to time engaged by the Group (the
“Restricted Business”) in Hong Kong, Taiwan and any other country or
jurisdiction which any member of the Group provides such services and/
or in which any member of the Group carries on its business currently and
from time to time (the “Territory”); (ii) solicit, interfere with or endeavour to
entice away from any member of the Group any person, firm, company or
organisation who to his/her/its knowledge is now or has been a customer,
supplier, subcontractor or employee of any member of the Group in the
past twelve months before such proposed engagement or employment;
or (iii)y without prior written consent of the Company, make use of any
information pertaining to the business, which have or may have come to
his/her/its knowledge in his/her/its capacity as a Controlling Shareholder
and/or Director for any purpose of his/her/its capacity as a Controlling
Shareholder and/or Director for any purpose of his/her/its engaging,
investing or participating in any Restricted Business in the Territory. For
details of the above, please refer to the Prospectus.

The Company has received confirmations from the Controlling
Shareholders confirming their compliance with the Deed of Non-
competition respectively during the Reporting Year for disclosure in this
report.

The independent non-executive Directors have reviewed the Deed of Non-
competition during the Reporting Year and based on the information and
confirmation provided by or obtained from the Controlling Shareholders
and they were satisfied that the Controlling Shareholders have duly
complied with the Deed of Non-competition during the Reporting Year.

DIRECTORS’ INTEREST IN COMPETING BUSINESS

Save as disclosed in this report, during the Reporting Year, none of the
Directors or their respective associates had engaged in or had any interest
in any business which competes or is likely to compete, either directly or
indirectly, with the businesses of the Group.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS AND CONTINUING
CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

During the Reporting Year, the Group entered into certain connected

transactions with the connected person of the Company, namely K M L
Limited.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTION

Tenancy Agreement

KML Engineering, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, as tenant
entered into a tenancy agreement on 30 September 2024 (the “Tenancy
Agreement”) with K M L Limited as landlord in respect of Workshop
12 on G/F of Block B, Workshop 5 on 1/F with Flat Roof of Block B,
Workshops 7, 9, 10 and 11 on 1/F of Block B, Workshop 7 on 3/F with
Flat Roof of Block B and Car Parking Spaces numbered V20, V25, L33,
L37 and L39, Shatin Industrial Centre, Nos. 5-7 Yuen Shun Circuit, Shatin,
New Territories, Hong Kong (the “Premises”) for a term of 18 months
from 1 October 2024 to 31 March 2026 (both days inclusive).

K M L Limited is a company incorporated in Hong Kong and owned as
to 78.2% by Golden Sail International Limited (“Golden Sail”), which is
wholly-owned by a trustee for a family trust where the beneficiaries include
Mr. KM Luk and Madam Leung. Therefore, K M L Limited is an associate
of each of Mr. KM Luk and Madam Leung, and hence is a connected
person of the Company.

The Group has been leasing the Premises from K M L Limited as its head
office and workshops in Hong Kong for more than 30 years. The Company
considers that it would be beneficial to lease the Premises as it will enable
the Group to secure its stable operation at the Premises without incurring
additional costs and expenses in identifying, renovating and relocating
to alternative premises and ensure that there will be no disruption to the
operations, business and growth of the Group. The Directors believe that
the entering of this Tenancy Agreement is necessary for the continuous use
of the premises by KML Engineering and the growth and operations of the
Group.

Save as disclosed in this Report, during the Reporting Year, the Company
had no connected transactions or continuing connected transactions
which fell to be disclosed in accordance with the provisions under Chapter
20 of the GEM Listing Rules in relation to the disclosure of connected
transactions and continuing connected transactions.

The related party transactions as disclosed in note 30 to the consolidated
financial statements constituted as connected transactions or continuing
connected transactions as defined in Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules
and in compliance with the disclosure requirements under Chapter 20 of
the GEM Listing Rules.

LITIGATIONS

As at the Date of this Report, neither the Company nor any other
member of the Group was engaged in any litigation or claims of material
importance known to the Directors to be pending or threatened against
any member of the Group.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Pursuant to the Articles of Association, Directors and senior officers of
the Company shall be entitled to be indemnified out of the assets of the
Company against all losses or liabilities which he may sustain or incur in
or about the execution of the duties of his office or otherwise in relation
thereto, and no Director or officer shall be liable for any loss, damages or
misfortune which may happen to or be incurred by the Company in the
execution of the duties of his office or in relation thereto. The Company
has arranged appropriate Directors and officers liability insurance coverage
for the Directors and officers of the Company for the Reporting Year.
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Report of Directors
EEEWRE

SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

Up to the Date of this Report, there were no subsequent events after the
Reporting Year.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The audit committee of the Company (the “Audit Committee”) had,
together with the management, reviewed the accounting principles and
policies adopted by the Group and the consolidated financial statements
for the Reporting Year.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company is committed to maintaining high standards of corporate
governance practices. Information on the corporate governance practices
adopted by the Company is set out in the Corporate Governance Report
on pages 39 to 54 of this annual report.

The compliance officer of the Company is Mr. YC Luk, whose biographical
details are set out on page 15. The joint company secretaries are Madam
Woo and Mr. Wong who satisfy the qualification requirement under
Rules 5.14 and 11.07 of the GEM Listing Rules as the Joint Company
Secretaries. Madam Woo and Mr. Wong's biographical details are set out
on page 19 of this annual report.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of the Directors, the Company has maintained
sufficient public float as at the Date of this Report as required under the
GEM Listing Rules.

AUDITORS

Ernst & Young were appointed as the Auditors for the Reporting Year. The
accompanying financial statements prepared in accordance with Hong
Kong Financial Reporting Standards Accounting Standards have been
audited by Ermnst & Young.

On behalf of the Board

KML Technology Group Limited
Luk Kam Ming

Chairman and Executive Director

Hong Kong, 26 June 2025
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Corporate Governance Report
EEERRE

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICE

The Group is committed to maintaining high standards of corporate
governance to safeguard the interests of the Shareholders and to enhance
corporate value and accountability. The Company has adopted the
Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”) as set out in Appendix C1
to the GEM Listing Rules as its own code of corporate governance. During
the Reporting Year, the Company has complied with all applicable code
provisions in Part 2 of the CG Code.

THE BOARD

Responsibilities

The Board is responsible for the overall leadership of the Group, oversees
the Group’s strategic decisions and monitors business and performance.
The Board has delegated the authority and responsibility for day-to-
day management and operation of the Group. To oversee particular
aspects of the Company’s affairs, the Board has established four Board
committees including the Audit Committee, the remuneration committee
(the “Remuneration Committee”), the nomination committee (the
“Nomination Committee”) and the Risk Management Committee
(together, the “Board Committees”). The Board has delegated to the
Board Committees responsibilities as set out in their respective terms of
reference.

All Directors had carried out duties in good faith and in compliance with
applicable laws and regulations, and have acted in the interests of the
Company and the Shareholders at all times.

The Company has arranged appropriate liability insurance in respect of
legal action against the Directors. The insurance coverage will be reviewed
on an annual basis.

Board Composition
As at the Date of this Report, the Board comprises four executive
Directors and three independent non-executive Directors as follows:

Executive Directors:
Mr. LUK Kam Ming
Mr. LUK Kwai Lung
Mr. LUK Yin Cheung
Ms. LEE Kam Han

Independent Non-executive Directors:
Mr. LAU On Kwok

Mr. LAW Wing Chi Stephen

Dr. TSE Chi Kong

The biographies of the Directors are set out under the section headed
“Directors and Senior Management” of this annual report.
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THE BOARD (CONTINUED)

During the Reporting Year, the Board has met at all times the requirements
under Rules 5.05(1) and 5.05(2) of the GEM Listing Rules relating to the
appointment of at least three independent non-executive Directors with
at least one independent non-executive Director possessing appropriate
professional qualifications or accounting or related financial management
expertise.

The Company has also complied with Rule 5.05A of the GEM Listing
Rules relating to the appointment of independent non-executive Directors
representing at least one-third of the Board.

The Company believes that the diversity of Board members will be
immensely beneficial for the enhancement of the Company’s performance.
Therefore, the Company has adopted a Board diversity policy to ensure
that the Company will, when determining the composition of the Board,
consider Board diversity in terms of, among other things, age, cultural and
educational background, professional experience, skills and knowledge.
All Board appointments will be based on merits, and candidates will be
considered against objective criteria, having due regard for the benefits of
diversity of the Board.

Save as disclosed in the Directors’ biographies set out in the section
headed “Directors and Senior Management” in this annual report, none of
the Directors have any personal relationship (including financial, business,
family or other material or relevant relationship) with any other Directors
and the chief executive of the Company.

All Directors, including independent non-executive Directors, have
brought a wide spectrum of valuable business experience, knowledge
and professionalism to the Board for its efficient and effective functioning.
Independent non-executive Directors are invited to serve on the Audit
Committee, the Remuneration Committee, the Nomination Committee
and the Risk Management Committee.

As regards the CG Code provision requiring directors to disclose the
number and nature of offices held in public companies or organisations
and other significant commitments as well as the identity of the public
companies or organisations and the time involved to the Company, the
Directors have agreed to disclose their commitments and any subsequent
change to the Company in a timely manner.
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INDUCTION AND CONTINUOUS PROFESSIONAL
DEVELOPMENT

Each newly appointed Director is provided with necessary induction and
information to ensure that he/she has a proper understanding of the
Group’s operations and businesses as well as his/her responsibilities
under relevant statues, laws, rules and regulations. The Company also
provides regular updates on latest development and changes in the GEM
Listing Rules and other relevant legal and regulatory requirements from
time to time. The Directors are also provided with regular updates on the
Group’s performance, position and prospects to enable the Board as a
whole and each Director to discharge his/her duties.

Directors are encouraged to participate in continuous professional
development seminars to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills.
The joint company secretaries of the Company has from time to time
updated and provided the Directors with written training materials relating
to the roles, functions and duties of a director of a listed issuer on GEM of
the Stock Exchange.

Prior to Madam Lee's appointment became effective, on 30 July 2024,
she had obtained legal advice from a firm of solicitors qualified to advise
on Hong Kong law referred to in Rule 5.02D of the GEM Listing Rules
and had confirmed that she understood her obligations as a Director, the
requirements under the GEM Listing Rules that are applicable to her as a
Director and the possible consequences of making a false declaration or
giving false information to the Stock Exchange.

The professional trainings of the Directors during the Reporting Year are as
follows:
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Directors Type of trainings
g% IR
Executive Directors HITES

Mr. LUK Kam Ming REE AR A B
Mr. LUK Kwai Lung FEERE A B
Mr. LUK Yin Cheung EERLE A B
Ms. LEE Kam Han (appointed on 7 August 2024) ZHMZEM_ZTE_OMFNACBEEZT) A B
Independent Non-executive Directors BIUKHTES

Mr. LAU On Kwok ZBH & E A B
Mr. LAW Wing Chi Stephen KESRE A B
Dr. TSE Chi Kong S W 1 £ A B

Notes:
A: Attending seminars and/or meetings and/or forums and/or briefings
B: Reading materials relevant to corporate governance, director’s duties and

responsibilities, listing rules and other relevant ordinances
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CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

Under code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code, the roles of chairman and
chief executive officer should be separate and performed by different
individuals.

The chairman of the Board and the chief executive officer of the Company
are currently two separate positions held by Mr. KM Luk and Mr. KL
Luk, respectively, with clear distinction in responsibilities. Mr. KM Luk
is responsible for devising strategies for the continuous development of
the Group, overseeing the Group’s business operations and financial
performance, as well as leading the Board in performing its functions while
Mr. KL Luk is responsible for managing the overall business development
and executing business strategies of the Group.

TERMS OF APPOINTMENT AND RE-ELECTION OF DIRECTORS

The terms of appointment of directors are disclosed in the section headed
“Directors’ Service Agreements and Letters of Appointment” on page 24
of this report.

The procedures and process of appointment, re-election and removal
of Directors are set out in the Articles of Association. The Nomination
Committee is responsible for reviewing the Board composition and
making recommendations to the Board on the appointment or re-election
of Directors and succession planning for Directors.

COMPLIANCE WITH THE REQUIRED STANDARD OF
DEALINGS IN SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted the required standard of dealings set out in
Rules 5.48 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules as its own code of conduct
regarding Directors’ securities transactions in the securities of the
Company.

The Company has made specific enquiries to all Directors about their
compliance with the required standard of dealings for the Reporting Year,
without noticing any violation of the required standard.

DELEGATION BY THE BOARD

The Board reserves for its decision on all major matters of the Company,
including approval and monitoring of all policy matters, overall strategies
and budgets, risk management and internal control systems, material
transactions (in particular those that may involve conflict of interests),
financial information, appointment of Directors and other significant
financial and operational matters. Directors are provided with sufficient
resources to seek independent professional advice in performing their
duties at the Company’s expense and are encouraged to access and to
consult with the Company’s senior management independently.

The daily management, administration and operation of the Group are
delegated to the senior management. The delegated functions and
responsibilities are periodically reviewed by the Board. Approval has to be
obtained from the Board prior to any significant transactions entered into
by the management.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTION

The Board recognises that corporate governance should be the collective
responsibility of the Directors which includes:

(a) to review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices on
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

(b)  to review and monitor the training and continuous professional
development of the Directors and senior management;

(c) to develop, review and monitor the codes of conduct and
compliance manuals applicable to employees and the Directors;

(d)  to develop and review the Company’s policies and practices on
corporate governance and ESG and make recommendations to the
Board on such matters;

(e) to review the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and
disclosure in the corporate governance report; and

[} to review and monitor the Company’s compliance with the
Company’s whistleblowing policy.

BOARD MEETINGS

The Company adopts the practice of holding Board meetings regularly, at
least four times a year, and at approximately quarterly intervals. Notices of
not less than 14 days are given for all regular Board meetings to provide
all Directors with an opportunity to attend and include matters in the
agenda for a regular meeting.

For other Board and Board Committee meetings, reasonable notice
is generally given. The agenda and accompanying board papers are
despatched to the Directors or Board Committees members at least three
days before the meetings to ensure that they have sufficient time to review
the papers and are adequately prepared for the meetings. When Directors
or Board Committee members are unable to attend a meeting, they will be
advised of the matters to be discussed and given an opportunity to make
their views known to the chairman of the Board or the relevant Board
Committees prior to the meeting. Minutes of the meetings are kept by
the joint company secretaries with copies circulated to all Directors to the
relevant Board Committees members for information and records.

Minutes of the Board meetings and Board Committees meetings are
recorded in sufficient details about the matters considered by the Board
and the Board Committees and the decisions reached, including any
concerns raised by the Directors or the Board Committees members.
Draft minutes of each Board meeting and Board Committee meeting are
sent to the Directors or the Board Committees members for comments
within a reasonable time after the date on which the meeting is held.
Minutes of the Board meetings and the Board Committees are open for
inspection by Directors.
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BOARD MEETINGS (CONTINUED)

During the Reporting Year, five board meetings and one general meeting
were held and the attendance of each Director at these meetings is set
out in the table below:

ETEEE (@
RREFE  HETAREFEEER —KABRRRE - &
EFRUEERNHLRBEREN TR -

Board meeting(s) General meeting(s)

Directors Attended/Held Attended/Held
SE TEeIT BHE BE8T
BE EEEER BERE
Executive Directors: HITES:
Mr. LUK Kam Ming RS AR o 5/5 1/1
Mr. LUK Kwai Lung PRt 5/5 1/1
Mr. LUK Yin Cheung EEE AL 5/5 11
Ms. LEE Kam Han (Note) R+ (H1:2) 2/2 N/A
TEA
Independent Non-executive Directors: BYFHITES !
Mr. LAU On Kwok BB L 5/5 1/1
Mr. LAW Wing Chi Stephen BokERE 5/5 1/1
Dr. TSE Chi Kong HEmELT 5/5 1/1

Note: Ms. Lee Kam Han was appointed as an executive Director on 7 August 2024 and
there were two Board Meetings held after her appointment during the Reporting
Year. No general meetings were held after her appointment during the Reporting
Year.

BOARD COMMITTEES

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee comprises three members, namely Mr. LAU On
Kwok (chairman), Mr. LAW Wing Chi Stephen and Dr. TSE Chi Kong, all of
them are independent non-executive Directors.

The principal duties of the Audit Committee include the following:

(@) to review the relationship with the Auditor by reference to the work
performed by the Auditor, their fees and terms of engagement,
and make recommendations to the Board on the appointment, re-
appointment and removal of the Auditor;

(b) to review the financial statements and reports and consider
any significant or unusual items raised by the Company’s staff
responsible for the accounting and financial reporting function,
compliance officer or the Auditor before submission to the Board;
and

(c) to review the adequacy and effectiveness of the Company’s
financial reporting system, risk management and internal control
systems and associated procedures, including the adequacy of the
resources, staff qualifications and experience, training programmes
and budget of the Company’s accounting, internal audit and financial
reporting functions, as well as those relating to the Company's ESG
performance and reporting.

The written terms of reference of the Audit Committee are available on the
websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.

The Audit Committee had four meetings and two of the meetings with the
Company’s external auditor during the Reporting Year.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (CONTINUED)

Audit Committee (continued)
During the Reporting Year, the Audit Committee discussed and reviewed
on the following matters:

() the audit plan for the Reporting Year;

(b) the final results of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2024
as well as the audit report prepared by the Auditor relating to
accounting issues and major findings in course of audit;

() the financial reporting system, compliance procedures, (including
the adequacy of resources, staff qualifications and experience,
training programmes and budget of the Company’s accounting and
financial reporting function), and the re-appointment of the Auditor;
and

(d)  the interim results of the Group for six months ended 30 September
2024.

Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee currently comprises five members, namely
Mr. LUK Kam Ming (chairman), Mr. LAW Wing Chi Stephen, Dr. TSE
Chi Kong, Mr. LAU On Kwok and Ms. LEE Kam Han, the majority of the
committee is comprised by independent non-executive Directors.

The principal duties of the Nomination Committee include the following:

(@) to review the structure, size and composition (including the skills,
knowledge experience and diversity of perspectives required) of
the Board at least annually and make recommendations on any
proposed changes to the Board to complement the Company’s
corporate strategy;

(b) to identify individuals suitably qualified to become Board members
and select or make recommendations to the Board on the selection
of individuals nominated for directorships;

(c) to assess the independence of independent non-executive
Directors; and

(d)  to make recommendations to the Board on the appointment or re-
appointment of Directors and the succession planning for Directors,
in particular the chairman and the chief executive officer of the
Company.

The Nomination Committee assesses the candidate or incumbent on
criteria such as integrity, experience, skill and ability to commit time and
effort to carry out the duties and responsibilities. The recommendations of
the Nomination Committee will then be put to the Board for decision.

The written terms of reference of the Nomination Committee are available
on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (CONTINUED)

Policy on Directors Nomination

The Company has adopted a nomination policy stating the process
and criteria to select and recommend candidates for directorship
during the Reporting Year. In identifying suitable candidate qualified to
become Board members, the Nomination Committee shall consider the
attributes complementary to the Board, business experience and Board
Expertise and skills, availability, motivation, integrity and independence of
candidates.

During the Reporting Year, the Nomination Committee had 2 meetings to
discuss, review and make recommendations to the Board on the following
matters:

(@) the appointment of a new executive Director and a joint company
secretary;

(o)  the structure, size and composition (including the skills, knowledge
and experience and diversity of perspectives required) of the Board;

(c) the independence of independent non-executive Directors; and
(d) the re-appointments of the retiring Directors.

Board Diversity Policy
The Board has adopted a board diversity policy, a summary of which is
set out below:

() with a view to achieving a sustainable and balanced development,
the Company sees increasing diversity at the Board level as an
essential element in supporting the attainment of its strategic
objectives and its sustainable development;

(b) in designing the Board’s composition, Board diversity has been
considered from a number of aspects, including but not limited
to gender, age, cultural and educational background, ethnicity,
professional experience, skills, knowledge, length of service and
without regard to any physical disabilities;

(c) all Board appointments will be based on meritocracy, and
candidates will be considered against objective criteria, having due
regard for the benefits of diversity on the Board;

(d) selection of candidates will be based on a range of diversity
perspectives, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and
educational background, ethnicity, professional experience, skills,
knowledge, length of service and without regard to any physical
disabilities. The ultimate decision will be based on merit and
contribution that the selected candidates will bring to the Board;

(e) the Nomination Committee will report annually, in the Corporate
Governance Report, on the Board’s composition under diversified
perspectives, and monitor the implementation of the board diversity
policy; and

) the Nomination Committee will review the board diversity policy
annually, to ensure the effectiveness of the board diversity policy.
The Nomination Committee will discuss any revisions that may
be required, and recommend any such revisions to the Board for
consideration and approval.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (CONTINUED)

Board Diversity Policy (continued)

During the Reporting Year, the Board, through the Nomination Committee,
has reviewed the implementation and effectiveness of the board diversity
policy and confirm that the Board has an appropriate mix of skills and
experience to deliver the Company’s strategy.

The Board is comprised of six male Directors and one female Director.
The Nomination Committee has formulated a gender diversity plan for the
Board. The Company will use its best endeavours to ensure the principle
of board and gender diversity is integrated into the recruitment processes
of suitable candidates for the Board and of the Company’s employees to
ensure there shall be a pipeline of potential successors to the Board and
to its workforce while maintaining the existing board and gender diversity.

Of the 169 employees (including senior management) of the Group as
at 31 March 2025, 22 are female. The Company considers that gender
diversity is also achieved in its workforce generally based on the fact that
fewer female staff were employed due to the industry and nature of the
Company's business.

In order to ensure that independent views and input of the Independent
non-executive Directors are made available to the Board, the Nomination
Committee and the Board are committed to assess the Directors’
independence annually with regards to all relevant factors related to the
Independent non-executive Directors including the following:

() required character, integrity, expertise, experience and stability to
fuffill their roles;

(b) time commitment and attention to the Company’s affairs;

(c) firm commitment to their independent roles and to the Board;

(d) declaration of conflict of interest in their roles as independent non-
executive Directors;

(e) no involvement in the daily management of the Company nor in any
relationship or circumstances which would affect the exercise of

their independent judgement; and

M) the Chairman meets with the Independent non-executive Directors
regularly without the presence of the Executive Directors.

All Directors are entitled to seek advice the independent professional
advisors at the Company’s expenses.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (CONTINUED)

Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee currently comprises three members, namely
Dr. TSE Chi Kong (chairman), Mr. LAU On Kwok and Mr. LUK Kam Ming,
the majority of the committee is comprised by independent non-executive
Directors.

The principal duties of the Remuneration Committee include the following:

(@)

to make recommendations to the Board on the Company’s overall
policy and structure for the remuneration of the Directors and senior
management and on the establishment of a formal and transparent
procedure for developing remuneration policy;

to review and approve the management’s remuneration proposals
with reference to the corporate goals and objectives determined by
the Board, and assess performance of executive Directors and the
terms of their service agreements;

to make recommendations to the Board on the remuneration
packages of individual executive Directors and senior management.
These include benefits in kind, pension rights and compensation
payments, including any compensation payable for loss or
termination of their office or appointment;

to make recommendations to the Board on the remuneration of
non-executive Directors;

to ensure that no Director or any of his/her associates (as defined
in the GEM Listing Rules) is involved in deciding his/her own
remuneration; and

to ensure that share options/share awards offered by the Company
or its principal subsidiary (if any) are in accordance with Chapter 23
of the GEM Listing Rules, as applicable.

The written terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee are
available on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.

During the Reporting Year, the Remuneration Committee had three
meetings to discuss, review and make recommendations to the Board on
the following matters:

(@)

Company’s policy and structure for the remuneration of the
Directors and senior management of the Company;

the remuneration packages of individual executive Directors of the
Company;

the remuneration of the new executive Director; and

Company's share schemes.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (CONTINUED)

Remuneration of Directors and Senior Management

Particulars of the remuneration of the Directors and the five highest
individuals during the Reporting Year are set out in note 8 to the
consolidated financial statements. Pursuant to code provision E.1.5 of the
CG Code, the remuneration of the members of the senior management

ESZEE (@

ESRSREERHFMH

RBEFE - EFRAELRSFTMALTOFHFBERTIRN
FAMBIWMRMES - RIBEREATHTANEXEEAS
fix E%i%ﬁiﬁﬂ%iﬁ@i&%i&ﬁ’]zﬁi%ﬁfé%&?ﬁ&"éﬁ
Bl —HnaREREKE (BEREQRWE  EEHN

(including Joint Company Secretaries and excluding the Directors) whose RE AR B S B F ST T -

particulars are contained in the section headed “Directors and Senior

Management” in this Report for the Reporting Year by band is set out

below:

Remuneration band (in HK$) Number of individuals
FENEEE (B ) A
Not exceeding HK$1,000,000 ~iB3B1,000,0007 7T 2
HK$1,000,001 to HK$ 1,500,000 1,000,001# 721,500,000/ 7T 3
Risk Management Committee EREEEES

The Risk Management Committee comprises four members, namely Mr.
LAW Wing Chi Stephen (chairman), Mr. LAU On Kwok, Mr. LUK Kwai
Lung, Mr. LUK Yin Cheung and Ms. LEE Kam Han.

The principal duties of the Risk Management Committee include the
following:

(@)

to review the Group’s risk management system, including risk,
capital and liquidity management framework, the Group’s risk
tolerance capability, its risk policies and standards, and relevant
risk limits, including the parameters used and the methodology
adopted, and the processes used for identifying and assessing
risks;

to approve risk policies and standards, referring any new material
policies/standards or material changes to existing policies/
standards/limits to the Board for approval;

to discuss the risk management system with the management
and ensure that the management has performed its duties to
establish an effective system. The contents to be discussed
include the Company’s resources for risk management, adequacy
of qualifications and experiences of the employees, as well as
adequacy of training courses and relevant budgets available to the
employees;

to review material risk exposures of the Group, including market,
credit, insurance, operational, liquidity, and economic and regulatory
capital risks against the Group’s risk measurement methodologies
and management actions to monitor and control such exposures;

to review annually the changes, since the last annual review, in the
nature and extent of significant risks (including ESG risks), and the
Company’s ability to respond to changes in its business and the
external environment; and

to review annually the effectiveness of the Company’s processes
for financial reporting and compliance of the Listing Rules.

The written terms of reference of the Risk Management Committee are
available on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (CONTINUED)

Risk Management Committee (continued)

The Risk Management Committee had one meeting during the Reporting
Year to discuss and review the risk management policy, internal control
manual, internal audit plan, internal audit report, risk management and
internal control systems.

ATTENDANCE OF DIRECTORS AT VARIOUS BOARD
COMMITTEE MEETINGS

During the Reporting Year, the attendance of each Director at various
board committee meetings is set out in the table below:

EEZ52 @

BBREEZEE (B

MNBEFE  BREEZEG/IT—REH - JwLEHN
BB ERRER - WEERETFM - AEEXE S - REPEZ

HE - BREE RN o

ESHERESZZESERNER

RBEFEN  SEFUBSEFEAGEED
T&

ERER

Number of meetings attended/held

HE/BTEERE
Audit Nomination Remuneration Risk
Committee Committee Committee Management
Directors Meeting Meeting Meeting Committee Meeting
- ENZEEER REZEEEE FMZEeeE REREEZESEE
Executive Directors HTES
Mr. LUK Kam Ming BESERA ST - 2/2 3/3 -
Mr. LUK Kwai Lung EERILE - - - 1/1
Mr. LUK Yin Cheung BEE¥AE - - - 1/1
Ms. LEE Kam Han (Note 7, 2) EX g - - - N/A
(Hizt1, 2) TEHA
Independent Non-executive Directors ~ BYFHTES
Mr. LAU On Kwok (Note 3) BB % 1713 4/4 - 3/3 11
Mr. LAW Wing Chi Stephen BXEXE 4/4 2/2 - 1/1
Dr. TSE Chi Kong HERIEL 4/4 2/2 3/3
Notes: Hiat -
(1) Ms. Lee Kam Han was appointed as an executive director and a member of the Risk (1) FRWL TR FE—NFE A+ HEZFAHTEEREARE

Management Committee on 7 August 2024 and there was no Risk Management
Committee Meeting held after her appointment during the Reporting Year.

2) After the Reporting Year, Ms. Lee Kam Han was appointed as a member of the
Nomination Committee with effect from 26 June 2025.

3) After the Reporting Year, Mr. Lau On Kwok was appointed as a member of the
Nomination Committee with effect from 26 June 2025.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR FINANCIAL REPORTING
IN RESPECT OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the financial
statements for the Reporting Year which give a true and fair view of the
affairs of the Group and of the Group’s results and cash flows.

The management has provided to the Board such explanation and
information as are necessary to enable the Board to carry out an informed
assessment of the Company’s financial statements, which are put to the
Board for approval. The Company provides all members of the Board with
monthly updates on Group’s performance, positions and prospects.

The Directors were not aware of any material uncertainties relating to
events or conditions which may cast significant doubt upon the Group’s
ability to continue as a going concemn.

The statement by the Auditor regarding their reporting responsibilities on

the consolidated financial statements of the Company is set out in the
independent auditor’s report on pages 55 to 59 of this Report.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board acknowledges that it is its responsibility to ensure that the
Company establishes and maintains sound risk management and internal
control systems within the Group and to review the effectiveness of
the systems. Such systems are designed to manage and mitigate risks
inherent in the Group’s business faced by the Group to an acceptable
level, but not eliminating the risk of failure to achieve business objectives,
and can only provide reasonable assurance against material misstatement,
loss or fraud.

The Board has entrusted the Risk Management Committee with the
responsibility to oversee the risk management and internal control systems
of the Group on an on-going basis and to review the effectiveness of
the systems annually. The annual review covered all material controls,
including financial, operational and compliance controls.

Under the Company’s risk management and internal control structure,
the management is responsible for the design, implementation and
maintenance of risk management and internal control systems to
ensure, amongst others, (i) appropriate policies and control procedures
have been designed and established to safeguard the Group’s assets
against improper use or disposal; (i) relevant laws, rules and regulations
are adhered to and complied with; and (iii) that reliable financial and
accounting records are maintained in accordance with relevant accounting
standards and regulatory reporting requirements.

No significant control failings or weaknesses were identified during the
Reporting Year.

The main features of risk management an intemal control structure of the
Company is as follows:

() heads of each operation unit or department manage major risks
affecting the Group’s businesses and operations through the
processes of risk identification, risk assessment and implementation
of risk mitigation measures in accordance with the internal
guidelines approved by the Board and the Risk Management
Committee;

(o) the management ensures appropriate actions are taken on major
risks affecting the Group’s businesses and operations; and

() internal auditors provide independent assurance to the Board, the
Risk Management Committee and the management concerning the
effectiveness of risk management and internal control systems.

During the Reporting Year, major works performed by the management in
relation to risk management and internal control include the following:

(@) reviewed the progress of the implementation of the mitigation plan
for the major risks identified for the year ended 31 March 2024;

(o)  discussed and reviewed the risks at corporate level for Reporting
Year; and incorporated the changes made on them into risk register
for risk assessment;
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL (CONTINUED)

(c) conducted an annual review on effectiveness of the risk
management and internal control systems of the Group, covering
all material controls including financial, operational and compliance
controls; and

(d) reported the results of the risk assessment and internal audit to the
Risk Management Committee and the Board.

Based on the findings of the internal audit and the comments of the Risk
Management Committee, the Board considered that the risk management
and internal control systems are effective and adequate.

INSIDE INFORMATION DISCLOSURE POLICY

The Company has established a policy on the handling and dissemination
of inside information (“Inside Information”). The inside information policy
concerns the handling and the dissemination of the Inside Information as
follows:

(a) subject to the availability of a safe harbor exception, Inside
Information must be disclosed to public as soon as reasonably
practicable;

(o) executive Directors and senior management should identify events
and/or developments which may constitute Inside Information and
report to the Board to consider whether they may constitute Inside
Information requiring disclosure;

(c) until an announcement in relation to the Inside Information is made,
the Company shall ensure the Inside Information is kept strictly
confidential; and

(d) If the Company believes that the necessary degree of confidentiality
cannot be maintained or that confidentiality may have been
breached, an announcement shall be made as soon as reasonably
practicable.

Inside Information is announced on the websites of the Stock Exchange
and the Company.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company has adopted a dividend policy facilitating the Shareholders
and investors to make informed investment decisions relating to the
Company during the Reporting Year. In considering whether to propose a
dividend and in determining the dividend amount, the Board shall consider
the following factors before declaring or recommending dividends:

(@) the Company’s actual and expected financial performance;

(o) retained earnings and distributable reserves of the Company and
each of the members of the Group;

(c) the Group’s working capital requirements, capital expenditure
requirements and future expansion plans;

(d) the Group’s liquidity position;

(e) business conditions and strategies;
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DIVIDEND POLICY (CONTINUED)
) future operations and earnings;

(¢)) reasonable return in investment to the Shareholders and investors;
and

(h)  other factors that the Board may consider relevant.

Declaration and payment of dividend by the Company shall also subject to
any restrictions under the Cayman Islands laws, any applicable laws, rules
and regulations, any restrictions that may be imposed by the Group’s
lenders, if any and the Articles of Associations.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

The remuneration for the audit and non-audit services provided by the
Auditor to the Group during the Reporting Year was as follows:

Type of Services

IR B BK ()
M REREREF

@ BEEMREFERENSEDR: &

h EFSTAERRBRAENEGEER-
ARFERRZNRETRFETHEREERE - EHER
ER - RAFRPIERRS - REEEE T AN E
aIBR & () RABERMA -

BB A E A

RREFE - RBMEAEBERENEZFIFEZREH
FHmT

Amount (HK$’000)

Jibi % b 2BE(FEL)
Audit services BEZIR 1,390
Non-audit services (note) IEEIZARTS (W7t) 690

Note: During the Reporting Year, the Group has engaged the Auditor and their affiliate
companies to provide non-audit services which include (i) tax service, (i) agreed-
upon procedure engagements; (iij) other assurance engagement for retirement
scheme and (iv) financial advisory service.

JOINT COMPANY SECRETARIES

Madam Woo and Mr. Wong, the joint company secretaries of the
Company, are responsible for advising the Board on corporate
governance matters and ensuring that the Board policies and procedures,
as well as the applicable laws, rules and regulations are followed.

During the Reporting Year, both Madam Woo and Mr. Wong have
undertaken not less than 15 hours of relevant professional training
respectively in compliance with Rule 5.15 of the GEM Listing Rules.

SHAREHOLDERS ENGAGEMENT AND INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company considers that effective communication with Shareholders
is essential for enhancing investor relations and understanding of the
Group’s business, performance and strategies. The Company also
recognises the importance of timely and non-selective disclosure of
information, which will enable Shareholders and investors to make the
informed investment decisions.

The general meetings of the Company provide opportunity for the
Shareholders to communicate directly with the Directors. The chairman of
the Company and the chairmen of the Board Committees will attend the
AGMs to answer Shareholders’ questions. The Auditor will also attend the
AGMs to answer questions about the conduct of the audit, the preparation
and content of the auditor’s report, the accounting policies and auditor
independence.
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SHAREHOLDERS ENGAGEMENT AND INVESTOR RELATIONS
(CONTINUED)

To promote effective communication, the Company adopts a
Shareholders’ communication policy which aims at establishing a
two-way relationship and communication between the Company
and the Shareholders and maintains a website of the Company at
www.kml.com.hk, where up-to-date information on the Company’s
business operations and developments, financial information, corporate
governance practices and other information are available for public
access.

During the Reporting Year, the Company has reviewed the implementation
and effectiveness of the Shareholders’ communication policy. The
Company is of the view that the Shareholders’ communication policy of
the Company has facilitated sufficient shareholders’ communication and
considered the policy is effective and adequate.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

To safeguard Shareholders’ interests and rights, a separate resolution will
be proposed for each issue at general meetings, including the election of
individual Directors.

All resolutions put forward at general meetings will be voted by poll
pursuant to the GEM Listing Rules and poll results will be posted on the
websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange in a timely manner
after each general meeting.

Convening of extraordinary general meeting and putting forward
proposals

Shareholders may put forward proposals for consideration at a general
meeting of the Company according to the Articles of Association. Any one
or more member(s) holding as at date of deposit of the requisition not less
than one-tenth of the voting right, on a one vote per share basis, in the
share capital of the Company shall at all times have the right, by written
requisition to the Board or joint company secretaries of the Company,
to require an extraordinary general meeting of the Company to be called
by the Board for the transaction of any business or resolution specified
in such requisition; and such meeting shall be held within two months
after the deposit of such requisition. If within 21 days of such deposit
the Board fails to proceed to convene such meeting the requisitionist(s)
himself (themselves) may, and all reasonable expenses incurred by the
requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board shall be reimbursed
to the requisitionist(s) by the Company.

As regards proposing a person for election as a Director, the procedures
are available on the website of the Company.

Enquiries to the Board

Shareholders who intend to put forward their enquiries to the Company
could send it by following means for the attention of the Joint Company
Secretaries:

By post: B12, G/F., Shatin Industrial Centre, Siu Lek Yuen Road,
Shatin, New Territories, Hong Kong.
By email: iro@kml.com.hk
CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS
During the Reporting Year, there was no change in the Memorandum and

Articles of Association.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
B ZH RS

Ernst & Young

27/F, One Taikoo Place
979 King’s Road
Quarry Bay, Hong Kong

EY::

To the shareholders of KML Technology Group Limited
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of KML Technology
Group Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) set
out on pages 60 to 131, which comprise the consolidated statement of
financial position as at 31 March 2025, and the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, the consolidated
statement of changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash
flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial
statements, including material accounting policy information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair
view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 March
2025, and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated
cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with HKFRS Accounting
Standards as issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have been properly prepared in compliance
with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSAs”) as issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for
the audit of the consolidated financial statements section of our report.
We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code
of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled
our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe
that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement,
were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole,
and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate
opinion on these matters. For each matter below, our description of how
our audit addressed the matter is provided in that context.

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s
responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements
section of our report, including in relation to these matters. Accordingly,
our audit included the performance of procedures designed to respond to
our assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated
financial statements. The results of our audit procedures, including the
procedures performed to address the matters below, provide the basis for
our audit opinion on the accompanying consolidated financial statements.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
B RS

To the shareholders of KML Technology Group Limited (continued)
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)
Key audit matter

Contract revenue from and contract costs of Transportation
Mission Critical System Solutions, Mobile Ticketing and Digital
Payment Solutions and Services, and Mechanical and Electrical
("M&E") Technology Solutions and Engineering Services

For the year ended 31 March 2025, aggregate amounts of the Group’s
revenue and costs recognised in (i) Transportation Mission Critical System
Solutions, (i) Mobile Ticketing and Digital Payment Solutions and Services,
and (i) M&E Technology Solutions and Engineering Services contracts
were HK$163,583,000 and HK$141,950,000, respectively.

Revenue from these services is recognised over time and the input
method is adopted to measure progress towards complete satisfaction of
services. The input method recognises revenue based on the proportion
of the actual costs incurred relative to the budget contract costs for
satisfaction of these services.

The budget contract costs are prepared based on management’s
estimates, such as estimation of direct labour costs to be incurred and
quotations provided by the major contractors, suppliers or vendors
involved.

Significant estimation is involved and uncertainty exists in determining the
budget contract costs recognised for contract works.

Related disclosures are included in notes 3, 4 and 5 to the consolidated
financial statements.

How our audit addressed the key audit matter
QOur procedures included:

. Obtaining from management an understanding of the budget
contract costs and how the budget contract costs were evaluated;

o Obtaining the breakdown of budget contract costs and, on a
sample basis, evaluating management’s estimation of the budget
contract costs;

. Recalculating the revenue recognised with reference to the contract
costs incurred for the work performed to date relative to the total
budget contract costs; and

. Checking the contract costs incurred to the amounts of costs

recorded in the direct labour costs, subcontractor payment
certificates and supplier invoices, on a sample basis.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
B ZH RS

To the shareholders of KML Technology Group Limited (continued)
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OTHER INFORMATION INCLUDED IN THE ANNUAL REPORT

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information.
The other information comprises the information included in the Annual
Report, other than the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s
report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the
consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit
or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we
have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this
other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to
report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with HKFRS Accounting Standards as issued by the HKICPA
and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance,
and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to
enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors of the
Company are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue
as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the
directors of the Company either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors of the Company are assisted by the Audit Committee in
discharging their responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s financial
reporting process.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
B RS

To the shareholders of KML Technology Group Limited (continued)
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. Our report is made solely to you, as a
body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards
or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee
that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud
or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate,
they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of
users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We
also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on
the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

. Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by the directors.

o Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability
to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained
up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going
concern.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
B ZH RS

To the shareholders of KML Technology Group Limited (continued)
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

o Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

o Plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient appropriate
audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or
business units within the Group as a basis for forming an opinion
on the consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for
the direction, supervision and review of the audit work performed
for purposes of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for
our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit
findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we
identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence
and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that
may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where
applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore
the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report
unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or
when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should
not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences
of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest
benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is CHIU, Caroline Su Yuen (practising certificate number:
P05719).

Ernst & Young

Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

26 June 2025

HEHRREBAR A BRE (8)
(REIEF S LMK LA BREF])

RBAHEHREUBBEROEE(E)

. FEGAMBBEGEBISSR  BERAE
DEEE - UREAMBRE LSS RRIAHR

SHNEIA o

. SR RHITEEES - WERER E\m@mﬁﬁf
FEBEUHBEHNTR REENEER
HFEMBMRVKEAE i?ﬂ,\%ﬁ”’“&ﬁ’ﬁﬁa
BE  EEMBRAREESMATNETTE-
BMAEAERRAEEHERE -

BRMEERZESBRTHENETSHE  HHEZH &
REFERE - BERAER T B AEES N ER
BRI -

BAEREXZESRIER  HARMES BB
MERIERE S REIR BN - WARMFIEEE Al s S RHRR
REFERMBILENMBEBEMEMER - UREER
E’J\ ST ERETTEDERR LI Sk EHER #E i

?@ﬁ%%iﬁ%xﬁ%ﬂ@%lﬁﬂfj + B 1P RE WA Lk 5 TE Y AR H
BUBRERNEBTRAEE AMEKBEETEE -
Fﬁﬁi’?%ﬁlﬁﬂiiﬁiﬁﬁ AR S RIE  BRIBREER TR
AFAFBEZEEE  AEBRELNBFRLT @ WEIETEH
ERMBREPEBEEEENNAALRRBBEENLR
- BRPVRE N EERSHERZSE -

HEAARBYZSMRENETERABASHEE BESE
EMEIR - PO5719) °

LB ETEHAT
HESEAD
o

“ERFAAZ ‘f’/\Ei

SHNREEERAT « ZT-N/ZHFFH

59



Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income
FABRKHEMZERER

For the yearended 31 March 2025 BE-—T-—AF=A=+—HILFE

2025 2024
—E_REF —ZE-NF
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
BifaE FExT FAET
REVENUE Wz 5 196,105 194,111
Cost of sales SHERAR (156,970) (164,176)
Gross profit E=5 39,135 29,935
Other income HAWA 6 2,806 3,729
Other gains and losses, net H bl as K 518 558 6 (21) (375)
(Impairment losses)/reversal of impairment losses & RIE ZE R A L EE (RE
on financial assets and contract assets, net E18) RIEEIEERFE 34 (33) 50
Administrative expenses THFAX (41,295) (46,473)
Finance costs BhE AN 7 (483) (810)
PROFIT/(LOSS) BEFORE TAX BB ATREF, (EE8) 9 109 (13,944)
Income tax (expense)/credit s AG I 10 (12) 151
PROFIT/(LOSS) FOR THE YEAR AND TOTAL FREF (BB ARAEAT
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME/(LOSS) FOR BEAEEERNSEH
THE YEAR ATTRIBUTABLE TO OWNERS W (B58) 858
OF THE COMPANY 97 (13,793)
EARNINGS/(LOSS) PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE A2 Sl B MR Mz 155 A BE4S
TO ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE SREAN(&H8)
COMPANY 12
Basic K HKO0.02 cents HK(3.43) cents
0.027&l (3.43)7811l
Diluted #E HKO0.02 cents HK(3.43) cents
0.02& 4L (3.43)8 1l
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
AR

At31 March 2025 R-T-_RFE=A=+—H

2025 2024
—E-RHE —E_NF
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
B 5 FET FExT
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FREEE
Property, plant and equipment M - BB REE 13 2,402 3,943
Right-of-use assets EREEE 14(a) 6,085 3,201
Deposits by 17 1,713 959
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss BARBEFABENSRIEE 15 6,599 6,382
Deferred tax assets RERIBE = 25 - 56
Total non-current assets SEMENEELE 16,799 14,541
CURRENT ASSETS REEE
Inventories PENSS 415 146
Trade receivables B SR RIE 16 40,414 38,640
Other receivables, deposits and prepayments HEMEKGIE - e &
TR FIE 17 3,727 5,999
Contract assets AHEE 18 72,894 69,010
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss BARBEFABENSREE 15 675 2,925
Tax recoverable AT EI B IE - 1,931
Pledged bank deposits BEPRITER 20 24,912 24,664
Time deposits with original maturity over REHHBB=EAN
three months TEHFR 20 304 —
Bank balances and cash WRITHEB KRR 20 35,168 45,569
Total current assets MEVEEBE 178,509 188,884
CURRENT LIABILITIES REBEE
Trade and retention payables Z SENRERENRES 21 17,533 12,146
Other payables and accruals H T RRIE R JERT B A 22 10,871 11,637
Bank borrowings RITEE 23 - 15,000
Lease liabilities HEaE 14(b) 6,027 3,156
Contract liabilities GHAEE 19 19,568 15,881
Provision for contract works B ITIERHE 24 4,669 9,237
Tax payable FERTRRIR 52 —
Total current liabilities mE R EERE 58,720 66,957
NET CURRENT ASSETS REEEFE 119,789 121,927
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES BREERRBEME 136,588 136,468
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES kRBEE
Lease liabilities HEBE 14(b) 163 168
Deferred tax liabilities EXEFIBEAE 25 14 =
Total non-current liabilities BB ERTE 177 168
Net assets HEEFE 136,411 136,300
EQUITY =
Share capital %N 27 4,050 4,050
Reserves fE 132,361 132,250
Total equity 1B 136,411 136,300
Mr. Luk Kam Ming Mr. Luk Kwai Lung
FESR A 4 EFEELLE
Director Director
EE EE

SHNREEERAT « ZT-N/ZHFFH 61



sl M
) | ||?—-‘

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
mEEREER

For the year ended 31 March 2025 #HE—Z-RF=A=t+—HILFE

Attributable to owners of the Company

62

FAEHREAER
Shares held
under the Share-based
Share Share  share award payment Other Accumulated Total
capital premium scheme reserve reserves profits equity
BRAEE U A
SHEET HBAR
A& ROEE BENRG WE EfRE Fahadl BER
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T THL FhL TAL ThL FHEL TAL
(note 39)  (notes 38, 39) (note 28)
(Hfs¥39) (MfsEss-39)  (Hfsios)
At 1 April 2023 W-Z-=FNA—H 4,050 21,687 (387) 1,267 14,791 108,336 149,644
Loss for the year and total comprenensive ~ EREBRENZAERES
loss for the year = = = = = (13,793) (13,793)
Equity-settled share option amrangements BB BIRIELR B (i238)
ote 38) - - - 202 - - 202
Equity-settled share award arrangements EnEERHEBTH
(hote 39) (Hi239) - = = 247 = = 247
Forfaiture of share options fnote 38) SRR (12238) - - - 493) - 43 =
Forfeiture of share awards fnote 39 SRR 528 (W/#239) - - - (53) - 53 =
Vesting of shares under the share award R BN EIBBIRI (H1i39)
scheme (note 39) - - 18 (18) - - -
At 31 March 2024 and 1 Apr 2024 R-E-MEZA=1-AR
“T-NFNA-A 4,050 21,587 (369)* 1,602* 14,791* 94,639 136,300
Profit for the year and total comprehensive RGN RFNZANEER
income for the year - - - - - 97 97
Equity-settled share option amangements BB BIRIELT B (Hi238)
(note 36) - - - 53 - - 53
Equity-settled share award arrangements EnEERHEBTH
(note 39) (Hii239) - - - 73 - - 73
Repurchase of shares under the share RER RE ERERA
award scheme (nofe 39) (H39) - - (112) - - - (112)
Forfeiture and expiry of share options (note 38) BRI E (72238 - - - (684) - 684 -
Veesting of shares under the share award RERND ZEEHESERR
scheme (note 39) (H7:239) - - 13 (13) - - -
At 31 March 2025 R-E-RE=A=1-H 4,050 21,587* (468)* 1,031* 14,791* 95,420 136,411
= These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves of HK$132,361,000 * ZEEERE BRI GA MBI RARERES #15132,361,0007
(2024: HK$132,250,000) in the consolidated statement of financial position. JT(ZZ M4 : 132,250,000/ 7T) ©
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

meRERER

For the yearended 31 March 2025 BZE—T_AF=A=+—HILFE

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Profit/(loss) before tax
Adjustments for:
Bank interest income
Dividends received from listed investments
Interest income from financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss
Losses/(gains) on disposal of property, plant and
equipment
Gains on disposal of financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss
Fair value (gains)/losses on financial assets at fair
value through profit or loss
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment
Depreciation of right-of-use assets
Equity-settled share option expenses
Equity-settled share award expenses
Impairment losses/(reversal of impairment losses)
on financial assets and contract assets, net
Finance costs

(Increase)/decrease in inventories
Increase in trade receivables
Decrease in other receivables,

deposits and prepayments
Increase in contract assets
Increase in trade and retention payables
Decrease in other payables and accruals

Increase in contract liabilities
Decrease in provision for contract works

Cash generated from/(used in) operations
Interest paid for lease payments

Hong Kong profit tax refunded

Net cash flows from/(used in) operating activities

RETFHFEENRERE
BREATE R, (8518
BTFIHERE :
SRITH B
B LR ERERH RS
BAREFFABRNSREE
ORAISEION
HEYE - BEKREEHE/
(Uz)
HER AR EF AR
ERUEEMNIE
BAREFABENEREEN
KnEMa) EE
ME - BB LRRETE
ERREENE
TEREERRENY
R E R ) SRR X
CREERANEERERSE
CR(ERRREE) 5
AEMRA

5 (g, R

B 5 RUCEIRE

Hib IR - e RIERNFR
L

BHEEEM

B 5 RN 08 MBI RE SIE M
Hip RN H0R R ER BRI

aHaEEM
BRI TIRBHER D

EEREL/ (R MRS
ENBEMNRANE
BREBFIEH

EEBMES/ (FA) M

Renesas

Notes

BisE

2025 2024
—E-RHE —EJNF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FER FHT
109 (13,944)
(2,065) (2,783)
(45) (45)
(318) (294)
30 (12)
(129) =
(65) 220
1,484 2,092
5,937 5,953
53 202

73 247

33 (50)
483 810
5,580 (7,604)
(269) 90
(1,803) (9,618)
1,518 1,739
(3,888) (25,030)
5,387 2,031
(510) (2,237)
3,687 8,269
(4,568) (6,932)
5,134 (39,292)
(286) (351)
1,928 -
6,776 (39,643)
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows (Continued)

GeRTnER (&)

For the yearended 31 March 2025 BE-—T-—AF=A=+—HILFE

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Interest received

Purchase of property, plant and equipment

Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and
equipment

Purchases of financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss

Proceeds from disposal of financial assets
at fair value through profit or loss

Withdrawal of time deposits with original maturity
over three months

Placement of time deposits with original maturity
over three months

Increase in pledged bank deposits

Net cash flows from investing activities

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
New bank loans

Repayment of a bank loan

Principal portion of lease payments

Interest paid

Net cash flows (used in)/from financing activities

NET DECREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF YEAR,

represented by bank balances and cash

REFHAEENRERE
RE G

BEME  BENRE
HEME - BE KRBTSR

BERAAEFABENERMEE

HERRAAEFAERNSREE
ZFiSIA

RIUREH B BB =(E A & EH
=N

ARSI EREBR=
e

BEARITEZIEM

& A& E

REZRDAELANRSREFH

METBHFEENRSRE
HrIRITE R

EERTEN
HEMFTNAT D
ERFIE

BBEE (A FEENRS
e

RERFSEEWRO TR
FNRERREFEY

FRASRASEEY -
BRITREBR LIRS IR
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2025 2024
—E-RF ZETF

Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
Mt FHER FHT
2,273 2,906
(325) (1,167)

352 12
(148) (2,977)

2,375 1,446

602 24,907
(906) (11,982)
(248) (10,660)

3,975 2,485

36(b) - 21,000
36(b) (15,000) (6,000)
36(b) (5,955) (5,835)
(197) (459)

(21,152) 8,706
(10,401) (28,452)

45,569 74,021

35,168 45,569




Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
A IS IRRMEE

For the yearended 31 March 2025 BZE—T_AF=A=+—HILFE

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION 1. 2ARREEER
KML Technology Group Limited (the “Company”) is a limited liability SHEEEEEERAF((RATF]) A—HRFSE
company incorporated in the Cayman Islands. The registered office SEMEZHBERAR o AR TR M IFERM
address of the Company is Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, PO Box 1k ACricket Square, Hutchins Drive, PO Box 2681,
2681, Grand Cayman, KY1-1111, Cayman Islands. The principal Grand Cayman, KY1-1111, Cayman Islands ° "2
place of business of the Company in Hong Kong is located at B12, AIRBBNEELEMUI AT BT AL B/ NERRE
G/F, Shatin Industrial Centre, Siu Lek Yuen Road, Shatin, New DHIESP O TBI2E o
Territories, Hong Kong.
The principal activity of the Company is investment holding and its RARMEBEBAREERERENB AR (HHEA
subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) are principally [REE]) TZRFRMUME (BB TEFEAFTR
engaged in the provision of mechanical and electrical (“M&E”) KPR o
engineering solutions and services.
Information about subsidiaries ERMBATNER
Particulars of the Company’s subsidiaries as at 31 March 2025 are ARRRZE-_RAF=ZA=+—HZWBLRFE
as follows: Ul
Place of Issued
incorporation/ ordinary/ Percentage of equity
registration registered  attributable to the Company
and business share capital KARREMEREEDN
Name HEMREL/ BER BRITLER/ Direct Indirect Principal activities
#8 S R B# i TEEH
Directly held:
EERE
KML Group (BVI) Limited British Virgin Islands United States dollar 100% - Investment holding
(‘BVI")/Hong Kong (‘US$) 1
KML Group (BVI) Limited EERAHE ((RBE (ESM(ESA) 100% - REER
aBBl) /B
KML eCommerce (BVI) Limited BVI US$1 100% = Investment holding
KML eCommerce (BV) Limited HBRIAHS I 100% - REER
Indirectly held:
BiERs -
KML Engineering Limited Hong Kong Hong Kong dollar = 100% Provision of professional M&E
(‘KML Engineering’) (*HK$”) 10,000,000 system engineering services
for railway and road transport
infrastructure projects and sales of
parts and components
BAMBIRERAR 3 10,000,000%7T - 100% REBRRAERBARER
(BHMEIR)) (Ngzm)) RESZRIZNTERBER
HETH R
KML Technology Limited Hong Kong HK$3,020,000 - 100% Provision of professional M&E
system engineering services
for railway and road transport
infrastructure projects
EHNRARAT Bk 3,020,000%7T - 100% RERRAERBARIER
REEXRSZRTERE
KML Capitals Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000 = 100% Investment on financial assets
EHREARAF Bk 10,0007 - 100% SRIARE
€2B Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000 = 100% Dormant
€28 Limited B 10,00077T - 100% AT
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
RIS RRMEE

For the yearended 31 March 2025 BE-—T-—AF=A=+—HILFE

2.1

BASIS OF PREPARATION

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance
with HKFRS Accounting Standards (which include all Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards (‘HKFRSs”), Hong Kong Accounting
Standards (“HKASs”) and Interpretations) as issued by the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA”)
and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance. They have been prepared under the historical cost
convention, except for financial assets at fair value through profit
or loss which have been measured at fair value. These financial
statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars (‘HK$”) and all
values are rounded to the nearest thousand except when otherwise
indicated.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries for the year ended
31 March 2025. A subsidiary is an entity (including a structured
entity), directly or indirectly, controlled by the Company. Control
is achieved when the Group is exposed, or has rights, to variable
returns from its involvement with the investee and has the ability
to affect those returns through its power over the investee (i.e.,
existing rights that give the Group the current ability to direct the
relevant activities of the investee).

Generally, there is a presumption that a majority of voting rights
results in control. When the Company has less than a majority of
the voting or similar rights of an investee, the Group considers all
relevant facts and circumstances in assessing whether it has power
over an investee, including:

(@) the contractual arrangement with the other vote holders of
the investee;

(b) rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and
() the Group’s voting rights and potential voting rights.

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for
the same reporting period as the Company, using consistent
accounting policies. The results of subsidiaries are consolidated
from the date on which the Group obtains control, and continue to
be consolidated until the date that such control ceases.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income
are attributed to the owners of the parent of the Company and
to the non-controlling interests, even if this results in the non-
controlling interests having a deficit balance. All intra-group assets
and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows relating to
transactions between members of the Group are eliminated in full
on consolidation.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if
facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or
more of the three elements of control described above. A change in
the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a loss of control, is
accounted for as an equity transaction.

KMLTechnology Group Limited ® Annual Report 2024/25
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
A IS IRRMEE

For the yearended 31 March 2025 BZE—T_AF=A=+—HILFE

2.1

2.2

BASIS OF PREPARATION (CONTINUED)

Basis of consolidation (continued)

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises
the related assets, liabilities, any non-controlling interest and
exchange fluctuation reserve; and recognises the fair value of any
investment retained and any resulting surplus or deficit in profit
or loss. The Group’s share of components previously recognised
in other comprehensive income is reclassified to profit or loss or
accumulated profits, as appropriate, on the same basis as would
be required if the Group had directly disposed of the related assets
or liabilities.

CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES

The Group has adopted the following revised HKFRS Accounting
Standards for the first time for the current year's financial
statements.

Amendments to HKFRS 16

Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current
or Non-current (the “2020
Amendments”)
Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with Covenants
(the “2022 Amendments”)
Amendments to HKAS 7 and Supplier Finance Arrangements
HKFRS 7

The nature and the impact of the revised HKFRS Accounting
Standards are described below:

(@

Amendments to HKFRS 16 specify the requirements that a
seller-lessee uses in measuring the lease liability arising in a
sale and leaseback transaction to ensure the seller-lessee
does not recognise any amount of the gain or loss that
relates to the right of use it retains. Since the Group has no
sale and leaseback transactions with variable lease payments
that do not depend on an index or a rate occurring from the
date of initial application of HKFRS 16, the amendments did
not have any impact on the financial position or performance
of the Group.

The 2020 Amendments clarify the requirements for
classifying liabilities as current or non-current, including
what is meant by a right to defer settlement and that a
right to defer must exist at the end of the reporting period.
Classification of a liability is unaffected by the likelihood
that the entity will exercise its right to defer settlement.
The amendments also clarify that a liability can be settled
in its own equity instruments, and that only if a conversion
option in a convertible liability is itself accounted for as an
equity instrument would the terms of a liability not impact
its classification. The 2022 Amendments further clarify
that, among covenants of a liability arising from a loan
arrangement, only those with which an entity must comply
on or before the reporting date affect the classification of that
liability as current or non-current. Additional disclosures are
required for non-current liabilities that are subject to the entity
complying with future covenants within 12 months after the
reporting period.

2.1

2.2
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
RIS RRMEE

For the yearended 31 March 2025 BE-—T-—AF=A=+—HILFE

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES (CONTINUED)

2.3

()

(continued)

The Group has reassessed the terms and conditions of
its liabilities as at 1 April 2023 and 2024 and concluded
that the classification of its liabilities as current or non-
current remained unchanged upon initial application of the
amendments. Accordingly, the amendments did not have
any impact on the financial position or performance of the
Group.

Amendments to HKAS 7 and HKFRS 7 clarify the
characteristics of supplier finance arrangements and require
additional disclosure of such arrangements. The disclosure
requirements in the amendments are intended to assist
users of financial statements in understanding the effects of
supplier finance arrangements on an entity’s liabilities, cash
flows and exposure to liquidity risk. As the Group does not
have supplier finance arrangements, the amendments did
not have any impact on the Group’s financial statements.

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HKFRS ACCOUNTING
STANDARDS

The Group has not applied the following new and revised HKFRS
Accounting Standards, that have been issued but are not yet
effective, in these financial statements. The Group intends to apply
these new and revised HKFRS Accounting Standards, if applicable,
when they become effective.

HKFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in
Financial Statements®
HKFRS 19 Subsidiaries without Public

Amendments to HKFRS 9 and
HKFRS 7

Amendments to HKFRS 9 and
HKFRS 7

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and

Accountability: Disclosures®
Amenaments to the Classification
and Measurement of Financial
Instruments?
Contracts Referencing Nature-
aependent Electricity?

Sale or Contribution of Assets between

HKAS 28 an Investor and its Associate or
Joint Venture*
Amendments to HKAS 21 Lack of Exchangeability’

Annual Improvements to HKFRS
Accounting Standards - Volume 11

Amendments to HKFRS 1, HKFRS 7,
HKFRS 9, HKFRS 10 and HKAS 72

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2025
Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2026
Effective for annual/reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2027

No mandatory effective date yet determined but available for adoption

KMLTechnology Group Limited ® Annual Report 2024/25
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
A IS IRRMEE

For the yearended 31 March 2025 BZE—T_AF=A=+—HILFE

2.3

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HKFRS ACCOUNTING
STANDARDS (CONTINUED)

Further information about those HKFRS Accounting Standards that
are expected to be applicable to the Group is described below.

(@)

HKFRS 18 replaces HKAS 1 Presentation of Financial
Statements. While a number of sections have been brought
forward from HKAS 1 with limited changes, HKFRS 18
introduces new requirements for presentation within the
statement of profit or loss, including specified totals and
subtotals. Entities are required to classify all income and
expenses within the statement of profit or loss into one
of the five categories: operating, investing, financing,
income taxes and discontinued operations and to present
two new defined subtotals. It also requires disclosures
about management-defined performance measures in a
single note and introduces enhanced requirements on the
grouping (aggregation and disaggregation) and the location
of information in both the primary financial statements and
the notes. Some requirements previously included in HKAS
1 are moved to HKAS 8 Accounting Policies, Changes
in Accounting Estimates and Errors, which is renamed
as HKAS 8 Basis of Preparation of Financial Statements.
As a consequence of the issuance of HKFRS 18, limited,
but widely applicable, amendments are made to HKAS 7
Statement of Cash Flows, HKAS 33 Earnings per Share
and HKAS 34 Interim Financial Reporting. In addition, there
are minor consequential amendments to other HKFRS
Accounting Standards. HKFRS 18 and the consequential
amendments to other HKFRS Accounting Standards are
effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2027 with earlier application permitted. Retrospective
application is required. The Group is currently analysing the
new requirements and assessing the impact of HKFRS 18
on the presentation and disclosure of the Group’s financial
statements.

HKFRS 19 allows eligible entities to elect to apply reduced
disclosure requirements while still applying the recognition,
measurement and presentation requirements in other HKFRS
Accounting Standards. To be eligible, at the end of the
reporting period, an entity must be a subsidiary as defined in
HKFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements, cannot have
public accountability and must have a parent (ultimate or
intermediate) that prepares consolidated financial statements
available for public use which comply with HKFRS
Accounting Standards. Earlier application is permitted. As
the Company is a listed company, it is not eligible to elect to
apply HKFRS 19. Some of the Company’s subsidiaries are
considering the application of HKFRS 19 in their specified
financial statements.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
RIS RRMEE

For the yearended 31 March 2025 BE-—T-—AF=A=+—HILFE

2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HKFRS ACCOUNTING
STANDARDS (CONTINUED)

(©)

Amendments to HKFRS 9 and HKFRS 7 Amendments to
the Classification and Measurement of Financial Instruments
clarify the date on which a financial asset or financial liability
is derecognised and introduce an accounting policy option
to derecognise a financial liability that is settled through an
electronic payment system before the settlement date if
specified criteria are met. The amendments clarify how to
assess the contractual cash flow characteristics of financial
assets with environmental, social and governance and other
similar contingent features. Moreover, the amendments
clarify the requirements for classifying financial assets with
non-recourse features and contractually linked instruments.
The amendments also include additional disclosures
for investments in equity instruments designated at fair
value through other comprehensive income and financial
instruments with contingent features. The amendments shall
be applied retrospectively with an adjustment to opening
retained profits (or other component of equity) at the initial
application date. Prior periods are not required to be restated
and can only be restated without the use of hindsight. Earlier
application of either all the amendments at the same time or
only the amendments related to the classification of financial
assets is permitted. The amendments are not expected
to have any significant impact on the Group’s financial
statements.

Amendments to HKFRS 9 and HKFRS 7 Contracts
Referencing Nature-dependent Electricity clarify the
application of the “own-use” requirements for in-scope
contracts and amend the designation requirements for
a hedged item in a cash flow hedging relationship for in-
scope contracts. The amendments also include additional
disclosures that enable users of financial statements
to understand the effects these contracts have on an
entity’s financial performance and future cash flows. The
amendments relating to the own-use exception shall be
applied retrospectively. Prior periods are not required to
be restated and can only be restated without the use of
hindsight. The amendments relating to the hedge accounting
shall be applied prospectively to new hedging relationships
designated on or after the date of initial application. Earlier
application is permitted. The amendments to HKFRS
9 and HKFRS 7 shall be applied at the same time. The
amendments are not expected to have any significant impact
on the Group’s financial statements.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
A IS IRRMEE

For the yearended 31 March 2025 BZE—T_AF=A=+—HILFE

2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HKFRS ACCOUNTING
STANDARDS (CONTINUED)

(e

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 address an
inconsistency between the requirements in HKFRS 10
and in HKAS 28 in dealing with the sale or contribution
of assets between an investor and its associate or joint
venture. The amendments require a full recognition of a
gain or loss resulting from a downstream transaction when
the sale or contribution of assets constitutes a business.
For a transaction involving assets that do not constitute a
business, a gain or loss resulting from the transaction is
recognised in the investor’s profit or loss only to the extent
of the unrelated investor’s interest in that associate or joint
venture. The amendments are to be applied prospectively.
The previous mandatory effective date of amendments to
HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 was removed by the HKICPA.
However, the amendments are available for adoption now.

Amendments to HKAS 21 specify how an entity shall
assess whether a currency is exchangeable into another
currency and how it shall estimate a spot exchange rate at
a measurement date when exchangeability is lacking. The
amendments require disclosures of information that enable
users of financial statements to understand the impact of
a currency not being exchangeable. Earlier application is
permitted. When applying the amendments, an entity cannot
restate comparative information. Any cumulative effect of
initially applying the amendments shall be recognised as an
adjustment to the opening balance of retained profits or to
the cumulative amount of translation differences accumulated
in a separate component of equity, where appropriate, at the
date of initial application. The amendments are not expected
to have any significant impact on the Group’s financial
statements.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
RIS RRMEE

For the yearended 31 March 2025 BE-—T-—AF=A=+—HILFE

2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HKFRS ACCOUNTING
STANDARDS (CONTINUED)

@

Annual Improvements to HKFRS Accounting Standards
— Volume 11 set out amendments to HKFRS 1, HKFRS
7 (and the accompanying Guidance on implementing
HKFRS 7), HKFRS 9, HKFRS 10 and HKAS 7. Details of
the amendments that are expected to be applicable to the
Group are as follows:

HKFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures: The
amendments have updated certain wording in
paragraph B38 of HKFRS 7 and paragraphs IG1,
IG14 and IG20B of the Guidance on implementing
HKFRS 7 for the purpose of simplification or achieving
consistency with other paragraphs in the standard
and/or with the concepts and terminology used
in other standards. In addition, the amendments
clarify that the Guidance on implementing HKFRS 7
does not necessarily illustrate all the requirements
in the referenced paragraphs of HKFRS 7 nor does
it create additional requirements. Earlier application
is permitted. The amendments are not expected to
have any significant impact on the Group’s financial
statements.

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments: The amendments
clarify that when a lessee has determined that a lease
liability has been extinguished in accordance with
HKFRS 9, the lessee is required to apply paragraph
3.3.3 of HKFRS 9 and recognise any resulting gain or
loss in profit or loss. In addition, the amendments have
updated certain wording in paragraph 5.1.3 of HKFRS
9 and Appendix A of HKFRS 9 to remove potential
confusion. Earlier application is permitted. The
amendments are not expected to have any significant
impact on the Group’s financial statements.

HKFRS 10 Consoligated Financial Statements: The
amendments clarify that the relationship described
in paragraph B74 of HKFRS 10 is just one example
of various relationships that might exist between the
investor and other parties acting as de facto agents
of the investor, which removes the inconsistency
with the requirement in paragraph B73 of HKFRS 10.
Earlier application is permitted. The amendments are
not expected to have any significant impact on the
Group’s financial statements.

HKAS 7 Statement of Cash Flows: The amendments
replace the term “cost method” with “at cost” in
paragraph 37 of HKAS 7 following the prior deletion
of the definition of “cost method”. Earlier application is
permitted. The amendments are not expected to have
any impact on the Group’s financial statements.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
A IS IRRMEE

For the yearended 31 March 2025 BZE—T_AF=A=+—HILFE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Interests in a joint operation

A joint operation is a joint arrangement whereby the parties that
have joint control of the arrangement have rights to the assets,
and obligations for the liabilities, relating to the arrangement.
Joint control is the contractually agreed sharing of control of an
arrangement, which exists only when decisions about the relevant
activities require the unanimous consent of the parties sharing
control.

The Group recognises in relation to its interest in a joint operation:

o its assets, including its share of any assets held jointly;

. its liabilities, including its share of any liabilities incurred
jointly;

o its revenue from the sale of its share of the output arising

from the joint operation;

o its share of the revenue from the sale of the output by the
joint operation; and

o its expenses, including its share of any expenses incurred
jointly.

The assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses relating to
the Group’s interest in a joint operation are accounted for in
accordance with the HKFRS Accounting Standards applicable to
the particular assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses.

Fair value measurement

The Group measures its financial assets at fair value through profit
or loss at fair value at the end of each reporting period. Fair value is
the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer
a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at
the measurement date. The fair value measurement is based on
the presumption that the transaction to sell the asset or transfer
the liability takes place either in the principal market for the asset
or liability, or in the absence of a principal market, in the most
advantageous market for the asset or liability. The principal or the
most advantageous market must be accessible by the Group. The
fair value of an asset or a liability is measured using the assumptions
that market participants would use when pricing the asset or
liability, assuming that market participants act in their economic
best interest.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into
account a market participant’s ability to generate economic benefits
by using the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to
another market participant that would use the asset in its highest
and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in
the circumstances and for which sufficient data are available to
measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant observable inputs
and minimising the use of unobservable inputs.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
RIS RRMEE

For the yearended 31 March 2025 BE-—T-—AF=A=+—HILFE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Fair value measurement (continued)

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed
in the financial statements are categorised within the fair value
hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest level input that
is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole:

Level 1 — based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets
for identical assets or liabilities

Level2 - based on valuation techniques for which the
lowest level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement is observable, either directly or indirectly

Level 3 - based on valuation techniques for which the
lowest level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement is unobservable

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial
statements on a recurring basis, the Group determines whether
transfers have occurred between levels in the hierarchy by
reassessing categorisation (based on the lowest level input that is
significant to the fair value measurement as a whole) at the end of
each reporting period.

Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual
impairment testing for an asset is required (other than inventories,
contract assets and financial assets), the asset’s recoverable
amount is estimated. An asset’s recoverable amount is the higher
of the asset’s or cash-generating unit’s value in use and its fair
value less costs of disposal, and is determined for an individual
asset, unless the asset does not generate cash inflows that are
largely independent of those from other assets or groups of assets,
in which case the recoverable amount is determined for the cash-
generating unit to which the asset belongs.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying amount of an
asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In assessing value in use,
the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to
the asset. An impairment loss is charged to profit or loss in the
period in which it arises in those expense categories consistent with
the function of the impaired asset.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
A IS IRRMEE

For the yearended 31 March 2025 BZE—T_AF=A=+—HILFE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Impairment of non-financial assets (continued)

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting period
as to whether there is an indication that previously recognised
impairment losses may no longer exist or may have decreased.
If such an indication exists, the recoverable amount is estimated.
A previously recognised impairment loss of an asset other than
goodwill is reversed only if there has been a change in the estimates
used to determine the recoverable amount of that asset, but not
to an amount higher than the carrying amount that would have
been determined (net of any depreciation/amortisation) had no
impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior years. A
reversal of such an impairment loss is credited to profit or loss in
the period in which it arises.

Related parties
A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(@) the party is a person or a close member of that person’s
family and that person

0} has control or joint control over the Group;
(ii) has significant influence over the Group; or

(iii) is a member of the key management personnel of the
Group or of a parent of the Group;

or

(b) the party is an entity where any of the following conditions
applies:

(i) the entity and the Group are members of the same
group;

(ii) one entity is an associate or joint venture of the other
entity (or of a parent, subsidiary or fellow subsidiary of
the other entity);

(iii) the entity and the Group are joint ventures of the same
third party;

(iv)  one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the
other entity is an associate of the third entity;

(v) the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the
benefit of employees of either the Group or an entity
related to the Group;

(v the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person
identified in (a);

(vi)  a person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence
over the entity or is a member of the key management
personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity);
and

(viii)  the entity, or any member of a group of which it is a
part, provides key management personnel services to
the Group or to the parent of the Group.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
RIS RRMEE

For the yearended 31 March 2025 BE-—T-—AF=A=+—HILFE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated
depreciation and any impairment losses. The cost of an item of
property, plant and equipment comprises its purchase price and
any directly attributable costs of bringing the asset to its working
condition and location for its intended use.

Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant and equipment
have been put into operation, such as repairs and maintenance,
is normally charged to profit or loss in the period in which it is
incurred. In situations where the recognition criteria are satisfied,
the expenditure for a major inspection is capitalised in the carrying
amount of the asset as a replacement. Where significant parts
of property, plant and equipment are required to be replaced at
intervals, the Group recognises such parts as individual assets with
specific useful lives and depreciates them accordingly.

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to write off the
cost of each item of property, plant and equipment to its residual
value over its estimated useful life. The principal annual rates used
for this purpose are as follows:

Leasehold improvements  Over the shorter of the lease terms and 20%
Furniture and fixtures 20%

Plant and machinery 20%
Computer equipment 20%
Motor vehicles 20%
Marine equipment 20%

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have
different useful lives, the cost of that item is allocated on a
reasonable basis among the parts and each part is depreciated
separately. Residual values, useful lives and depreciation methods
are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at least at each financial
year end.

An item of property, plant and equipment including any significant
part initially recognised is derecognised upon disposal or when no
future economic benefits are expected from its use or disposal. Any
gain or loss on disposal or retirement recognised in profit or loss in
the year the asset is derecognised is the difference between the net
sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the relevant asset.

Research and development costs
All research costs are charged to profit or loss as incurred.

Expenditure incurred on developing new projects is capitalised
and deferred only when the Group can demonstrate the technical
feasibility of completing the intangible asset so that it will be
available for use or sale, its intention to complete and its ability to
use or sell the asset, how the asset will generate future economic
benefits, the availability of resources to complete the project
and the ability to measure reliably the expenditure during the
development. Project development expenditure which does not
meet these criteria is expensed when incurred.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
A IS IRRMEE

For the yearended 31 March 2025 BZE—T_AF=A=+—HILFE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Leases

The Group assesses at contract inception whether a contract is, or
contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract
conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a
period of time in exchange for consideration.

Group as a lessee

The Group applies a single recognition and measurement approach
for all leases, except for short-term leases and leases of low-
value assets. The Group recognises lease liabilities to make lease
payments and right-of-use assets representing the right to use the
underlying assets.

@)

®)

Right-of-use assets

Right-of-use assets are recognised at the commencement
date of the lease (that is the date the underlying asset is
available for use). Right-of-use assets are measured at cost,
less any accumulated depreciation and any impairment
losses, and adjusted for any remeasurement of lease
liabilities. The cost of right-of-use assets includes the amount
of lease liabilities recognised, initial direct costs incurred, and
lease payments made at or before the commencement date
less any lease incentives received. Right-of-use assets are
depreciated on a straight-line basis over the shorter of the
lease terms and the estimated useful lives of the assets as
follows:

Office premises 1.5 to 3 years
Warehouse 2 years

If ownership of the leased asset transfers to the Group by
the end of the lease term or the cost reflects the exercise
of a purchase option, depreciation is calculated using the
estimated useful life of the asset.

Lease liabilities

Lease liabilities are recognised at the commencement date
of the lease at the present value of lease payments to be
made over the lease term. The lease payments include
fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments) less
any lease incentives receivable, variable lease payments
that depend on an index or a rate, and amounts expected
to be paid under residual value guarantees. The lease
payments also include the exercise price of a purchase
option reasonably certain to be exercised by the Group and
payments of penalties for termination of a lease, if the lease
term reflects the Group exercising the option to terminate the
lease. The variable lease payments that do not depend on an
index or a rate are recognised as an expense in the period
in which the event or condition that triggers the payment
occurs.

In calculating the present value of lease payments, the
Group uses its incremental borrowing rate at the lease
commencement date because the interest rate implicit in the
lease is not readily determinable. After the commencement
date, the amount of lease liabilities is increased to reflect the
accretion of interest and reduced for the lease payments
made. In addition, the carrying amount of lease liabilities is
remeasured if there is a modification, a change in the lease
term, a change in lease payments (e.g., a change to future
lease payments resulting from a change in an index or rate)
or a change in assessment of an option to purchase the
underlying asset.

The Group’s lease liabilities are separately disclosed in the
consolidated statement of financial position.
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RIS RRMEE

For the yearended 31 March 2025 BE-—T-—AF=A=+—HILFE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Leases (continued)

Group as a lessee (continued)

() Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets
The Group applies the short-term lease recognition
exemption to its short-term leases of containers (that is those
leases that have a lease term of 12 months or less from the
commencement date and do not contain a purchase option).
It also applies the recognition exemption for leases of low-
value assets to the containers that are considered to be of
low value.

Lease payments on short-term leases and leases of low-
value assets are recognised as an expense on a straight-line
basis over the lease term.

Leases that transfer substantially all the risks and rewards incidental
to ownership of an underlying asset to the lessee are accounted for
as finance leases.

Investments and other financial assets

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as subsequently
measured at amortised cost and fair value through profit or loss.

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition depends
on the financial asset’s contractual cash flow characteristics and
the Group’s business model for managing them. With the exception
of trade receivables that do not contain a significant financing
component or for which the Group has applied the practical
expedient of not adjusting the effect of a significant financing
component, the Group initially measures a financial asset at its fair
value plus in the case of a financial asset not at fair value through
profit or loss, transaction costs. Trade receivables that do not
contain a significant financing component or for which the Group
has applied the practical expedient are measured at the transaction
price determined under HKFRS 15 in accordance with the policies
set out for “Revenue recognition” below.

In order for a financial asset to be classified and measured at
amortised cost or fair value through other comprehensive income,
it needs to give rise to cash flows that are solely payments of
principal and interest (“SPPI”) on the principal amount outstanding.
Financial assets with cash flows that are not SPPI are classified
and measured at fair value through profit or loss, irrespective of the
business model.

The Group’s business model for managing financial assets refers
to how it manages its financial assets in order to generate cash
flows. The business model determines whether cash flows will
result from collecting contractual cash flows, selling the financial
assets, or both. Financial assets classified and measured at
amortised cost are held within a business model with the objective
to hold financial assets in order to collect contractual cash flows,
while financial assets classified and measured at fair value through
other comprehensive income are held within a business model
with the objective of both holding to collect contractual cash
flows and selling. Financial assets which are not held within the
aforementioned business models are classified and measured at
fair value through profit or loss.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
A IS IRRMEE

For the yearended 31 March 2025 BZE—T_AF=A=+—HILFE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Investments and other financial assets (continued)

Initial recognition and measurement (continued)

Purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets
within the period generally established by regulation or convention
in the marketplace are recognised on the trade date, that is, the
date that the Group commits to purchase or sell the asset.

Subsequent measurement
The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends on their
classification as follows:

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently measured
using the effective interest method and are subject to impairment.
Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss when the asset is
derecognised, modified or impaired.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are carried in the
statement of financial position at fair value with net changes in fair
value recognised in profit or loss.

This category includes derivative instruments and equity investments
which the Group had not irrevocably elected to classify at fair value
through other comprehensive income. Dividends on the equity
investments are also recognised as other income in profit or loss
when the right of payment has been established.

Derecognition of financial assets

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset or
part of a group of similar financial assets) is primarily derecognised
(i.e., removed from the Group’s consolidated statement of financial
position) when:

° the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired;
or

° the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows
from the asset or has assumed an obligation to pay the
received cash flows in full without material delay to a third
party under a “pass-through” arrangement; and either (a) the
Group has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards
of the asset, or (b) the Group has neither transferred nor
retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset,
but has transferred control of the asset.

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows
from an asset or has entered into a pass-through arrangement,
it evaluates if, and to what extent, it has retained the risk and
rewards of ownership of the asset. When it has neither transferred
nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset nor
transferred control of the asset, the Group continues to recognise
the transferred asset to the extent of the Group’s continuing
involvement. In that case, the Group also recognises an associated
liability. The transferred asset and the associated liability are
measured on a basis that reflects the rights and obligations that the
Group has retained.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Derecognition of financial assets (continued)

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over the
transferred asset is measured at the lower of the original carrying
amount of the asset and the maximum amount of consideration
that the Group could be required to repay.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises an allowance for expected credit losses
(“ECLs”) for all debt instruments not held at fair value through
profit or loss. ECLs are based on the difference between the
contractual cash flows due in accordance with the contract and all
the cash flows that the Group expects to receive, discounted at an
approximation of the original effective interest rate. The expected
cash flows will include cash flows from the sale of collateral held
or other credit enhancements that are integral to the contractual
terms.

General approach

ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures for
which there has not been a significant increase in credit risk since
initial recognition, ECLs are provided for credit losses that result
from default events that are possible within the next 12 months (a
12-month ECL). For those credit exposures for which there has
been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition,
a loss allowance is required for credit losses expected over the
remaining life of the exposure, irrespective of the timing of the
default (a lifetime ECL).

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether the credit
risk on a financial instrument has increased significantly since initial
recognition. When making the assessment, the Group compares
the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument as at the
reporting date with the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the date of initial recognition and considers
reasonable and supportable information that is available without
undue cost or effort, including historical and forward-looking
information. The Group considers that there has been a significant
increase in credit risk when contractual payments are more than
one year past due.

The Group considers a financial asset to be in default when
contractual payments are 90 days past due. However, in certain
cases, the Group may also consider a financial asset to be in
default when internal or external information indicates that the
Group is unlikely to receive the outstanding contractual amounts in
full before taking into account any credit enhancements held by the
Group. A financial asset is written off when there is no reasonable
expectation of recovering the contractual cash flows.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
A IS IRRMEE

For the yearended 31 March 2025 BZE—T_AF=A=+—HILFE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

General approach (continued)

Financial assets at amortised cost are subject to impairment under
the general approach and they are classified within the following
stages for measurement of ECLs except for trade receivables and
contract assets which apply the simplified approach as detailed
below.

Stage 1 — Financial instruments for which credit risk has not
increased significantly since initial recognition and for
which the loss allowance is measured at an amount
equal to 12-month ECLs

Stage 2 - Financial instruments for which credit risk has
increased significantly since initial recognition but that
are not credit-impaired financial assets and for which
the loss allowance is measured at an amount equal to
lifetime ECLs

Stage 3 - Financial assets that are credit-impaired at the
reporting date (but that are not purchased or originated
credit-impaired) and for which the loss allowance is
measured at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs

Simplified approach

For trade receivables and contract assets that do not contain
a significant financing component or when the Group applies
the practical expedient of not adjusting the effect of a significant
financing component, the Group applies the simplified approach
in calculating ECLs. Under the simplified approach, the Group
does not track changes in credit risk, but instead recognises a
loss allowance based on lifetime ECLs at each reporting date.
The Group has established a provision matrix that is based on
its historical credit loss experience, adjusted for forward-looking
factors specific to the debtors and the economic environment.

Financial liabilities

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as financial
liabilities at amortised cost, which are recognised initially at fair
value and net of directly attributable transaction costs.

The Group’s financial liabilities include trade and retention payables,
other payables, bank borrowings and lease liabilities.

Subsequent measurement

Financial liabilities at amortised cost (trade and retention payables,
other payables and borrowings)

After initial recognition, trade and retention payables, other payables
and bank borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised
cost, using the effective interest rate method unless the effect of
discounting would be immaterial, in which case they are stated at
cost. Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss when the
liabilities are derecognised as well as through the effective interest
rate amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or
premium on acquisition and fees or costs that are an integral part
of the effective interest rate. The effective interest rate amortisation is
included in finance costs in profit or loss.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
RIS RRMEE

For the yearended 31 March 2025 BE-—T-—AF=A=+—HILFE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Derecognition of financial liabilities
A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the
liability is discharged or cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the
same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of an
existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or
modification is treated as a derecognition of the original liability
and a recognition of a new liability, and the difference between the
respective carrying amounts is recognised in profit or loss.

Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount
is reported in the statement of financial position if there is a currently
enforceable legal right to offset the recognised amounts and there
is an intention to settle on a net basis, or to realise the assets and
settle the liabilities simultaneously.

Treasury shares

Own equity instruments which are reacquired from the market
and held by the Company or the Group (treasury shares) under
the share award scheme of the Company are recognised directly
in equity at cost. No gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss on
the purchase, sale, issue or cancellation of the Group’s own equity
instruments.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value.
Cost is determined on the weighted average basis. Net realisable
value is based on estimated selling prices less any estimated costs
to be incurred to disposal.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents in the statement of financial position
comprise cash on hand and at banks, and short-term highly liquid
deposits with a maturity of generally within three months that are
readily convertible into known amounts of cash, subject to an
insignificant risk of changes in value and held for the purpose of
meeting short-term cash commitments.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash
and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and at banks, and
short-term deposits as defined above, less bank overdrafts which
are repayable on demand and form an integral part of the Group’s
cash management.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
A IS IRRMEE

For the yearended 31 March 2025 BZE—T_AF=A=+—HILFE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Provisions

A provision is recognised when a present obligation (legal or
constructive) has arisen as a result of a past event and it is probable
that a future outflow of resources will be required to settle the
obligation, provided that a reliable estimate can be made of the
amount of the obligation.

When the effect of discounting is material, the amount recognised
for a provision is the present value at the end of the reporting
period of the future expenditures expected to be required to settle
the obligation. The increase in the discounted present value amount
arising from the passage of time is included as finance costs in
profit or loss.

The Group provides for warranties in relation to the provision of
Transportation Mission Critical System Solutions, Mobile Ticketing
and Digital Payment Solutions and Services, M&E Technology
Solutions and Engineering Services and Sales of Products, Parts
and Components for general repairs of defects occurring during
the warranty period. Provisions for these assurance-type warranties
granted by the Group are initially recognised based on past
experience of the level of repairs and returns, discounted to their
present values as appropriate. The warranty-related cost is revised
annually.

Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax relating
to items recognised outside profit or loss is recognised outside
profit or loss, either in other comprehensive income or directly in
equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the amount
expected to be recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities,
based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period, taking
into consideration interpretations and practices prevailing in the
countries in which the Group operates.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all temporary
differences at the end of the reporting period between the tax bases
of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial
reporting purposes.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary
differences, except:

o when the deferred tax liability arises from the initial recognition
of goodwill or an asset or liability in a transaction that is not
a business combination and, at the time of the transaction,
affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or
loss and does not give rise to equal taxable and deductible
temporary differences; and

o in respect of taxable temporary differences associated with
investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures,
when the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences
can be controlled and it is probable that the temporary
differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Income tax (continued)

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary
differences, and the carryforward of unused tax credits and any
unused tax losses. Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent
that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against which
the deductible temporary differences, and the carryforward of
unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be utilised, except:

o when the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible
temporary differences arises from the initial recognition of
an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business
combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects
neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss and
does not give rise to equal taxable and deductible temporary
differences; and

o in respect of deductible temporary differences associated
with investments in subsidiaries, deferred tax assets
are only recognised to the extent that it is probable that
the temporary differences will reverse in the foreseeable
future and taxable profit will be available against which the
temporary differences can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of
each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no longer
probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or
part of the deferred tax asset to be utilised. Unrecognised deferred
tax assets are reassessed at the end of each reporting period and
are recognised to the extent that it has become probable that
sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the
deferred tax asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that
are expected to apply to the period when the asset is realised or
the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have
been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting
period.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if and only if
the Group has a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets
and current tax liabilities and the deferred tax assets and deferred
tax liabilities relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation
authority on either the same taxable entity or different taxable
entities which intend either to settle current tax liabilities and assets
on a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the liabilities
simultaneously, in each future period in which significant amounts
of deferred tax liabilities or assets are expected to be settled or
recovered.

Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair value where there
is reasonable assurance that the grant will be received and all
attaching conditions will be complied with. When the grant relates
to an expense item, it is recognised as income on a systematic
basis over the periods that the costs, for which it is intended to
compensate, are expensed.

Where the grant relates to an asset, the fair value is credited to
a deferred income account and is released to profit or loss over
the expected useful life of the relevant asset by equal annual
instalments or deducted from the carrying amount of the asset and
released to profit or loss by way of a reduced depreciation charge.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Revenue recognition

Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised when control
of goods or services is transferred to the customers at an amount
that reflects the consideration to which the Group expects to be
entitled in exchange for those goods or services.

When the consideration in a contract includes a variable amount,
the amount of consideration is estimated to which the Group will
be entitled in exchange for transferring the goods or services to
the customer. The variable consideration is estimated at contract
inception and constrained until it is highly probable that a significant
revenue reversal in the amount of cumulative revenue recognised
will not occur when the associated uncertainty with the variable
consideration is subsequently resolved.

When the contract contains a financing component which provides
the customer with a significant benefit of financing the transfer
of goods or services to the customer for more than one year,
revenue is measured at the present value of the amount receivable,
discounted using the discount rate that would be reflected in
a separate financing transaction between the Group and the
customer at contract inception. When the contract contains a
financing component which provides the Group with a significant
financial benefit for more than one year, revenue recognised under
the contract includes the interest expense accreted on the contract
liability under the effective interest method. For a contract where the
period between the payment by the customer and the transfer of
the promised goods or services is one year or less, the transaction
price is not adjusted for the effects of a significant financing
component, using the practical expedient in HKFRS 15.

(a) Transportation Mission Critical System Solutions, Mobile
Ticketing and Digital Payment Solutions and Services, and
MG&E Technology Solutions and Engineering Services
Revenue from the provision of Transportation Mission Critical
System Solutions, Mobile Ticketing and Digital Payment
Solutions and Services and M&E Technology Solutions and
Engineering Services is generated from the design, supply
and installation of systems and implementation of these
services.

Revenue is recognised over time using an input method
to measure progress towards complete satisfaction of
the service, because the Group’s performance creates or
enhances an asset that the customer controls as the asset
is created or enhanced. The input method recognises
revenue based on the proportion of the actual costs incurred
relative to the estimated total costs for satisfaction of the
construction services.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
RIS RRMEE

For the yearended 31 March 2025 BE-—T-—AF=A=+—HILFE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Revenue recognition (continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)

@

Transportation Mission Critical System Solutions, Mobile
Ticketing and Digital Payment Solutions and Services, and
MG&E Technology Solutions and Engineering Services
(continued)

Claims to customers are amounts that the Group seeks
to collect from the customers as reimbursement of costs
and margins for scope of works not included in the original
construction contract. Claims are accounted for as variable
considerations and constrained until it is highly probable that
a significant revenue reversal in the amount of cumulative
revenue recognised will not occur when the associated
uncertainty with the variable considerations is subsequently
resolved. The Group uses the expected value method to
estimate the amounts of claims because this method best
predicts the amount of variable consideration to which the
Group will be entitled.

Under the terms of contracts, the Group’s performance
creates and/or enhances the assets which the customers
control during the course of work by the Group. Revenue
from the provision of contracting services is therefore
recognised based on the stage of completion of contracts
over time using the input method. The Group normally
receives progress payment from customers on a monthly
basis with reference to the contract terms. The Group
requires certain customers to provide upfront deposits at
rates ranging from 5% to 20% of total contract sum. When
the Group receives a deposit before the project commences,
this will give rise to contract liabilities at the start of a contract
until the full amount of deposits is deducted proportionately
from monthly progress payment.

A contract asset, net of contract liability related to the same
contract, is recognised over the period in which these
services are performed and represents the Group’s right
to consideration for the services performed and not billed
because the rights are conditional on the Group’s future
performance accepted by the customers. The contract assets
are transferred to trade receivables when the rights become
unconditional. The Group typically transfers its contract
assets to trade receivables when progress certificate/invoice
is issued.

Retention receivables, prior to the expiration of the
maintenance period which usually ranges from one to three
years from the date of the practical completion of the project,
are classified as contract assets. The relevant amount of
contract assets is reclassified to trade receivables when
the maintenance period expires, and/or the maintenance/
payment certificate is issued, and/or the final account is
issued.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

R IR Rk

For the yearended 31 March 2025 BZE—T_AF=A=+—HILFE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Revenue recognition (continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)

(b)  Provision of Digital Fabrication and Maintenance Services
Revenue from the provision of fabrication services is
generated from design and fabrication services for the
fabrication of made-to-order products for the customers.
Revenue is recognised at the point in time when control of
the asset is transferred to the customer, generally on delivery
of the goods to specific locations and customers obtaining
control of the goods.

Revenue from the provision of maintenance services to the
customers’ facilities is recognised over time when services
are rendered during the contract period. The services are
billed based on the services performed.

() Sales of Products, Part and Components
Revenue from the sales of products, parts and components
is recognised at the point in time when control of the asset
is transferred to the customer, generally on delivery of the
goods to specific locations and customers obtaining control
of the materials.

Other income

Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis using the
effective interest method by applying the rate that exactly discounts
the estimated future cash receipts over the expected life of the
financial instrument or a shorter period, when appropriate, to the
net carrying amount of the financial asset.

Contract assets

If the Group performs by transferring goods or services to a
customer before being unconditionally entitled to the consideration
under the contract terms, a contract asset is recognised for the
earned consideration that is conditional. Contract assets are
subject to impairment assessment, details of which are included in
the accounting policies for impairment of financial assets. They are
reclassified to trade receivables when the right to the consideration
becomes unconditional.

Contract liabilities

A contract liability is recognised when a payment is received or a
payment is due (whichever is earlier) from a customer before the
Group transfers the related goods or services. Contract liabilities
are recognised as revenue when the Group performs under the
contract (i.e., transfers control of the related goods or services to
the customer).

Contract costs

Other than the costs which are capitalised as inventories and
property, plant and equipment, costs incurred to fulfil a contract
with a customer are capitalised as an asset if all of the following
criteria are met:

(@) The costs relate directly to a contract or to an anticipated
contract that the entity can specifically identify;

(b)  The costs generate or enhance resources of the entity
that will be used in satisfying (or in continuing to satisfy)
performance obligations in the future; and

(c) The costs are expected to be recovered.

The capitalised contract costs are amortised and charged to profit
or loss on a systematic basis that is consistent with the transfer to
the customer of the goods or services to which the asset relates.
Other contract costs are expensed as incurred.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
RIS RRMEE

For the yearended 31 March 2025 BE-—T-—AF=A=+—HILFE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Share-based payments

Share option scheme

The Company operates a share option scheme. Employees
(including directors) of the Group receive remuneration in the form
of share-based payments, whereby employees render services in
exchange for equity instruments (“equity-settled transactions”).

The cost of equity-settled transactions with employees is measured
by reference to the fair value at the date at which they are
granted. The fair value is determined by an external valuer using a
binomial model, further details of which are given in note 38 to the
consolidated financial statements.

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised in employee
benefit expense, together with a corresponding increase in equity,
over the period in which the performance and/or service conditions
are fulfilled. The cumulative expense recognised for equity-settled
transactions at the end of each reporting period until the vesting
date reflects the extent to which the vesting period has expired and
the Group’s best estimate of the number of equity instruments that
will ultimately vest. The charge or credit to profit or loss for a period
represents the movement in the cumulative expense recognised as
at the beginning and end of that period.

Service and non-market performance conditions are not taken into
account when determining the grant date fair value of awards, but
the likelihood of the conditions being met is assessed as part of the
Group’s best estimate of the number of equity instruments that will
ultimately vest. Market performance conditions are reflected within
the grant date fair value. Any other conditions attached to an award,
but without an associated service requirement, are considered to
be non-vesting conditions. Non-vesting conditions are reflected in
the fair value of an award and lead to an immediate expensing of an
award unless there are also service and/or performance conditions.

For awards that do not ultimately vest because non-market
performance and/or service conditions have not been met,
no expense is recognised. Where awards include a market or
non-vesting condition, the transactions are treated as vesting
irrespective of whether the market or non-vesting condition is
satisfied, provided that all other performance and/or service
conditions are satisfied.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
A IS IRRMEE

For the yearended 31 March 2025 BZE—T_AF=A=+—HILFE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Share-based payments (continued)

Share option scheme (continued)

Where the terms of an equity-settled award are modified, as a
minimum an expense is recognised as if the terms had not been
modified, if the original terms of the award are met. In addition, an
expense is recognised for any modification that increases the total
fair value of the share-based payments, or is otherwise beneficial to
the employee as measured at the date of modification.

Where an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated as if it
had vested on the date of cancellation, and any expense not yet
recognised for the award is recognised immediately.

The dilutive effect of outstanding options is reflected as additional
share dilution in the computation of earnings per share.

Shares held under the share award scheme

Where shares of the Company are gifted or purchased from the
open market for the share award scheme, the fair value at the date
of gifting or consideration paid, including any directly attributable
incremental costs, respectively, is presented as “Shares held under
the share award scheme” and deducted from equity. No gain or
loss is recognised in profit or loss on the purchase, sale, issue or
cancellation of the Group’s own equity instruments.

Other employee benefits

Retirement benefit schemes

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory Provident
Fund retirement benefit scheme (the “MPF Scheme”) under
the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for those
employees who are eligible to participate in the MPF Scheme.
Contributions are made based on a percentage of the employees’
basic salaries and are charged to profit or loss as they become
payable in accordance with the rules of the MPF Scheme. The
assets of the MPF Scheme are held separately from those of
the Group in an independently administered fund. The Group’s
employer contributions vest fully with the employees when
contributed into the MPF Scheme, except for the Group’s employer
voluntary contributions, which are refunded to the Group when the
employee leaves employment prior to the contributions vesting fully,
in accordance with the rules of the MPF Scheme.

The Group also operates a Mandatory Provident Fund Exempted
ORSO retirement benefit scheme (the “ORSO Scheme”) for those
employees who are eligible to participate in the ORSO Scheme.
The ORSO Scheme operates in a way similar to the MPF Scheme,
except that when an employee leaves the scheme prior to his/
her interest in the Group’s employer contributions vesting fully, the
ongoing contributions payable by the Group are reduced by the
relevant amount of the employer’s forfeited contributions.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction
or production of qualifying assets, i.e., assets that necessarily take
a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use
or sale, are capitalised as part of the cost of those assets. The
capitalisation of such borrowing costs ceases when the assets are
substantially ready for their intended use or sale. All other borrowing
costs are expensed in the period in which they are incurred.
Borrowing costs consist of interest and other costs that an entity
incurs in connection with the borrowing of funds.

Dividend

Final dividends are recognised as a liability when they are approved
by the shareholders in a general meeting. Proposed final dividends
are disclosed in the notes to the consolidated financial statements.

Foreign currencies

These financial statements are presented in HK$, which is
the Company’s functional currency. Each entity in the Group
determines its own functional currency and items included in
the financial statements of each entity are measured using that
functional currency. Foreign currency transactions recorded by
the entities in the Group are initially recorded using their respective
functional currency rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions.
Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies
are translated at the functional currency rates of exchange ruling at
the end of the reporting period. Differences arising on settlement or
translation of monetary items are recognised in profit or loss.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost
in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates at the
dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary items measured at
fair value in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange
rates at the date when the fair value was measured. The gain
or loss arising on translation of a non-monetary item measured
at fair value is treated in line with the recognition of the gain or
loss on change in fair value of the item (i.e., translation difference
on the item whose fair value gain or loss is recognised in other
comprehensive income or profit or loss is also recognised in other
comprehensive income or profit or loss, respectively).

In determining the exchange rate on initial recognition of the related
asset, expense or income on the derecognition of a non-monetary
asset or non-monetary liability relating to an advance consideration,
the date of initial transaction is the date on which the Group initially
recognises the non-monetary asset or non-monetary liability arising
from the advance consideration. If there are multiple payments or
receipts in advance, the Group determines the transaction date for
each payment or receipt of the advance consideration.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
A IS IRRMEE

For the yearended 31 March 2025 BZE—T_AF=A=+—HILFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES

The preparation of the Group’s financial statements requires
management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that
affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets and
liabilities, and their accompanying disclosures, and the disclosure
of contingent liabilities. Uncertainty about these assumptions and
estimates could result in outcomes that could require a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of the assets or liabilities
affected in the future.

The major judgements, estimates and assumptions, that have the
most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial
statements and have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within
the next financial year, are set out below:

Contract revenue from and contract costs of Transportation
Mission Critical System Solutions, Mobile Ticketing

and Digital Payment Solutions and Services, and M&E
Technology Solutions and Engineering Services

The Group reviews and revises the estimates of contract revenue,
contract costs, variation orders and contract claims prepared for
each contract of Transportation Mission Critical System Solutions,
Mobile Ticketing and Digital Payment Solutions and Services,
and M&E Technology Solutions and Engineering Services as
the contract progresses. Budget engineering service costs are
prepared by management on the basis of estimation of direct
labour costs to be incurred and quotations from time to time
provided by the major contractors, suppliers or vendors involved
and the experience of management. In order to keep the budget
accurate and up-to-date, management conducts periodic reviews
of the budgets of contracts by comparing the budgeted amounts
to the actual amounts incurred. Such significant estimate may have
impact on the revenue recognised in each period with adjustments
made on a prospective basis.

Recognised amounts of these services contracts revenue and
related receivables reflect management’s best estimate of each
contract’s outcome and stage of completion, which are determined
on the basis of a number of estimates. This includes the assessment
of the profitability of these ongoing services contracts.

For more complex contracts in particular, costs to complete and
contract profitability are subject to significant estimation uncertainty.
The actual outcomes in terms of total cost or revenue may be
higher or lower than estimated at the end of the reporting period,
which would affect the revenue and profit recognised in future
years as an adjustment to the amounts recorded to date with
adjustments made on a prospective basis.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
RIS RRMEE

For the yearended 31 March 2025 BE-—T-—AF=A=+—HILFE

5.

REVENUE AND SEGMENTAL INFORMATION

An analysis of the Group’s revenue is as follows:

Revenue from contracts with customers

Transportation Mission Critical System Solutions

Mobile Ticketing and Digital Payment Solutions and
Services

M&E Technology Solutions and Engineering Services

Digital Fabrication and Maintenance Services

Sales of Products, Parts and Components

(@) Disaggregated revenue information

By timing of revenue recognition:
Transferred at a point in time
Transferred over time

Total revenue from contracts with customers
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

R IR Rk

For the yearended 31 March 2025 BZE=—Z_RAF=A=+—HILFE

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENTAL INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

(b) Performance obligations
The amounts of transaction prices allocated to the remaining
performance obligations (unsatisfied or partially unsatisfied) as
at the end of the reporting period are as follows:
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2025 —E-RF
Mobile M&E
Transportation Ticketing Technology Digital
Mission and Digital Solutions Fabrication
Critical Payment and and
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
RIS RRMEE

For the yearended 31 March 2025 BE-—T-—AF=A=+—HILFE

REVENUE AND SEGMENTAL INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

Segment information

The Group’s operating income was derived from the provision of
MG&E engineering solutions and services during both years. For the
purposes of resource allocation and performance assessment,
the chief operation decision maker (i.e. the executive directors of
the Company) reviews the overall results and financial position of
the Group as a whole. Accordingly, the Group has only one single
operating segment and no separate analysis of this single segment is
presented other than entity-wide disclosure.

Geographical information
The Group’s revenue from external customers based on the place
of operation of customers and non-current assets by jurisdictions

5. WEKDBENE

RREFEA @ AEBRLSERARERERET
RERTREERYE - wBERAERRBIGMS -
FTERQEREE BIARAMITES) ZHRAEED

BEEERMBERR - Bt - AEEES—HE—
KENSMEHEBHEANEEIN - TEST)ZE
— D EBREBHHT ©

AEBRBIINES (BERE P EEMRE) AU s
LgezER (EREEMAENE) SINWIERSHE

based on the location of the assets are detailed below: EFaan T
Revenue Non-current assets
[ EREBEE
2025 2024 2025 2024
—EZREF ZEpNF —Z-hREF —ZT D YF
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAET FExT FET
(note) (note)
(#iat) (Hi72)
Hong Kong &5 195,031 193,331 8,487 7,144
Taiwan /& 54 19 - =
Others EAftb 1,020 761 - -
196,105 194,111 8,487 7,144

Note:  Non-current assets comprise property, plant and equipment and right-of-
use assets.

Information about a major customer
Revenue from a customer of the corresponding years contributing
over 10% of the total revenue of the Group is as follows:

Customer A BPA

Other than disclosed above, there was no revenue from customers
individually contributing over 10% of the total revenue of the Group
during the years ended 31 March 2025 and 2024.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
A IS IRRMEE

For the yearended 31 March 2025 BZE—T_AF=A=+—HILFE

6. OTHER INCOME AND GAINS AND LOSSES, NET 6. HWARWKGEAREEFE
Other income HAl A
2025 2024
—E-FHEF —EOF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Bank interest income ERITH BURA 2,065 2,783
Dividend income Az B A 45 45
Government subsidies (note) BT B (B 57) 47 360
Interest income from financial assets at fair value  #E AR B ABENESRIEE
through profit or loss ESPIIFSRON 318 294
Sundry income WA 331 247
Total a5 2,806 3,729
Note: The amount represented subsidies of HK$32,000 (2024. HK$137,000) Biat : ZREIE R E BRI B8 R ATt 5 &R B
received from the Group's participation in the Pilot Incentive Scheme 32,000;%7T (= F =94 : 187,000;87T) K X EEZ 0
to Employers and subsidies of HK$15,000 received from the Group's B2 B B BYat E)W R 87 15,0008 7T © IS + R
participation in the On-the-job Skill Consolidation Subsidy Scheme. In HE T -—WFE=H=—+—HIFFE  FEEHZ2EF
addition, subsidies of HK$223,000 received from the Group'’s participation Bt R I INETEIWER#58)223,000/8 7T °

in the Youth Employment and Training Programme during the year ended
31 March 2024.

Other gains and losses, net Hinlh 5 R 5185 58
2025 2024
—EB-RHEF —E_MF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FEx FAxT
(Losses)/gains on disposal of property, plantand HE¥E - BE M
equipment, net # A (E18) W F (30) 12
Gains on disposal of financial assets at fair value HER AL EFABRANSRIEER
through profit or loss INIRIEL & 129 -
Fair value gains/(losses) on financial assets at fair Z AR B ABZNEREENALE
value through profit or loss Iz (E518) 65 (220)
Foreign exchange differences, net HNGE 2 5B FRE (185) (167)
Total st (21) (375)
7. FINANCE COSTS 7. = 9%
An analysis of finance costs is as follows: BMEKRRN 2T :
2025 2024
“B-REF —E_OF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
Interest on bank borrowings (note 23) RITEREZFE (Hit23) 197 459
Interest on lease liabilities (note 14(c)) HEBEZFE W iF14(c) 286 351
Total #at 483 810
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

e R R

For the yearended 31 March 2025 BE-—T-—AF=A=+—HILFE

8. DIRECTORS’ AND EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS 8. EZERESHFMH
(a) Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments (a) EERTETBAEHM
Directors’ remuneration for the year, disclosed pursuant to RIEGEM ET# A - FA R EEHIZE383(1)
the GEM Listing Rules, section 383(1)(a), (b), (c) and (f) of @ (o) OROERAR (FEBEEEFZFER)
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of the ROIE2E - FNEEHFHEREAT -
Companies (Disclosure of Information about Benefits of
Directors) Regulation, is as follows:
Retirement Equity-
benefit settled
Salaries and scheme share option
Fees allowances contributions expense Total
BAER BRLE
Be HeRER HEMR BRERX k]
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TET TET TET TET
Year ended 31 March 2025 BE-Z-RF=A=1t-HLEE
Mr. Luk Kam Ming (‘Mr. KM Luk’) B84 4 (& x4]) - 1,068 - - 1,068
Mr. Luk Kwai Lung BEEREE 60 848 42 - 950
Mr. Luk Yin Cheung BEYLE 60 720 36 - 816
Mr. Lau On Kwok RBEE 180 - - - 180
Mr. Law Wing Chi Stephen BXERE 180 - - - 180
Dr. Tse Chi Kong HEMEL 180 - - - 180
Ms. Lee Kam Han* FRMzL 39 313 16 371
699 2,949 94 3 3,745
Year ended 31 March 2024 BE-_Z-_ME=-A=+-HIEE
Mr. KM Luk BEmmA A - 1,068 - - 1,068
Mr. Luk Kwai Lung BEEREE 60 720 36 - 816
Mr. Luk Yin Cheung BEYLE 60 704 35 = 799
Mr. Chan Chak Lun Philip BRI L ((REBEE])

(“Mr. CL Chan")* 21 502 40 9 572
Mr. Lau On Kwok it 180 - - - 180
Mr. Law Wing Chi Stephen BkEEE 180 - - - 180
Dr. Tse Chi Kong HEREL 180 - - - 180
Mr. Yu Wing Lok Garry™* FokBEE A 63 - - - 63

744 2,994 111 9 3,858

Ms. Lee Kam Han was appointed as executive director of the Company
with effect from 7 August 2024.

Mr. CL Chan retired as executive director of the Company with effect
from 7 August 2023 and is continued to serve as a director of KML
Engineering.

“ Mr. Yu Wing Lok Garry retired as independent non-executive directors
of the Company with effect from 7 August 2023.

There was no arrangement under which a director waived or
agreed to waive any remuneration during the year (2024: nil).

The emoluments of executive directors were for their services

in connection with the management of the affairs of the
Company and the Group.

KMLTechnology Group Limited ® Annual Report 2024/25

Y FHRERLIRERZFRALAWNTEE H=-F
ZENAEHEER -

> BREBEEERAIFRANITEE 5 _F—=4F
NAEARBLER  BRERETESHRIRITENE
e

" RKFALERARRRIBUIBTEE B-F
Z=FNAEHEER -

FR BEEEREAREREEAHEH
ZH(CT_EEF | -

BITEEFHNORREEEARFRAEE
=R RIS ML -



Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

R IR Rk

For the yearended 31 March 2025 BZE—T_AF=A=+—HILFE

8. DIRECTORS’ AND EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS

(CONTINUED)

(@) Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments

(continued)

The emoluments of the independent non-executive directors
were for their services as directors of the Company.

During the years ended 31 March 2025 and 2024, no
remuneration was paid by the Group to the directors of the
Company as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group
or as compensation for loss of office. None of the directors
of the Company have waived any remuneration during the

years ended 31 March 2025 and 2024.

(b) Employees’ emoluments

The five highest paid individuals included a director of the
Company (2024: a director of the Company and Mr. CL
Chan) whose directors’ emoluments are included in the
disclosures in (a) above for the years ended 31 March 2025
and 2024. The emoluments of the remaining four individuals
(2024: remaining three individuals and Mr. CL Chan upon
retirement as a director) for the years ended 31 March 2025

and 2024 were as follows:

Salaries and other benefits

Performance bonus (hote)

Retirement benefit scheme contributions
Equity-settled share option expense

Total

Note: Performance bonus is determined by reference to the duties and
responsibilities of the relevant individuals within the Group and the

Group's performance.

Their emoluments were within the following bands:

Nil to HK$1,000,000
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000

Total

ESRESHMH (B

(a)

EERTETHASHMN (@)

BIFATEEHM OB EFEAAR
SRz RBMEL -

RBE_T_AFE T _WNF=A=1—
BILFE  AEBETEQARREETINFH
B V8 75 IR B 182 5 0 A\ B DA S B2 (81 B 1 2R
Ebif’ﬁﬁ'ﬂﬁﬁﬁé&ﬁﬂa CREBE-ZT _ﬂi&_
TME=ZA=1+—BILFE  $#ELLQ

BB REEIF
(b) {(EESFM
hEBEeFALTEEREE S _AF K
E_MF=A=+—HLEFEEEMSEA
X E@FEFHNEARR—RES(ZZT M
F AR —REBREERLLE) - REZ
ZE-RFR-ZZENF=ZA=+—HIEF
B HEBNRAT(CTZNF BT =41
ARRBRARAESHRZELE) OEF B
™
2025 2024
—E-FHEF —ENF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FExT FAET
e REMER 4,588 4,233
FIRTELT (B/52) 159 205
umaaﬂﬁzwm 251 219
A EERERS 39 18
waEt 5,037 4,675
Bist - KBEAT IR E R EFAE BIEA BB REF
U RFEFFBRET
BENHTNELTERZA
2025 2024
—E-RE —E-OF
Number of Number of
individuals individuals
AE AEK
ZF%51,000,0005 7T 0 0
1,000,001 7c % 1,500,000/ 7T 4 4
@5t 4 4

During the years ended 31 March 2025 and 2024, no
emoluments were paid by the Group to the five highest
paid individuals as an inducement to join or upon joining the

Group or as compensation for loss of office.

REE_Z-AFR-FT-_MF=A=+—
BILEFE AfEVTERNAERSHALX
NEH - (EARSIFEEMASRIMAREE %
K SEE) Sk 1E B RER A (E -
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
RIS RRMEE

For the yearended 31 March 2025 BE-—T-—AF=A=+—HILFE

9. PROFIT/(LOSS) BEFORE TAX 9. BRBADEF (BB
The Group’s profit/(loss) before tax is arrived at after charging: AEBBRAGT (BR) EHBRIATEBEE
B
2025 2024
—E-REF —ZENF
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
P FE FExT FAET
Cost of sales SHEMA
— Transportation Mission Critical System — BB AESRRRT R
Solutions, Mobile Ticketing and Digital BT K B ST A
Payment Solutions and Services, and M&E GEYSGIVISY R
Technology Solutions and Engineering SRITERE R TIRARE
Services 141,950 148,610
— Others —Hb 15,020 15,566
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment M - BEREZETE 13 1,484 2,092
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEENE 14 5,937 5,953
Auditor’s remuneration % SN N 1,390 1,390
Directors’ remuneration EE5E 8 3,745 3,858
Employee benefit expenses (excluding directors’ BER@FIFS (TEEEER
and chief executive’s remuneration (note 8)): EZ1THA B R E
(H17#8))
Salaries and other benefits* e RHEMEF 65,409 68,464
Retirement benefit scheme contributions RIREFETEIE R 2,730 2,786
Equity-settled share-based payment expenses #5455 LARK D A ERET X
Coliah-a 123 440
Total employee benefit expenses EERANRAZ B 68,262 71,690
Lease payments not included in the I AHERENEZ
measurement of lease liabilities HERK 74 156
* For the year ended 31 March 2025, HK$47,910,000 (2024: - HE_T_AF=A=1—HIFE  FeRAMEF
HK$46,803,000) of salaries and other benefits is included in “Cost of sales” 47,910,000/ 7T (= Z =PI : 46,803,000;87C) 71 A 47
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive A8 RAMEE W e P HEL L
income.
10. INCOME TAX 10. FriSBiBAX
2025 2024
—EB-HEF —EOF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FEx FET
Current — Hong Kong BIER— &%
Charge for the year FRRZ 12 =
Overprovision in prior years BEFEBRERE (70) =
Deferred (note 25) IR (H17#25) 70 (151)
Total tax expense/(credit) for the year NEERIBERY (He) 858 12 (151)
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
A IS IRRMEE

For the yearended 31 March 2025 BZE—T_AF=A=+—HILFE

10.

11.

INCOME TAX (CONTINUED) 10. Fr8BiFk (1)
Hong Kong profits tax has been provided at the rate of 16.5% BHEZT-AF=A=1+—HBLFE ERRES
on the estimated assessable profits arising in Hong Kong during EAERGFTERT SRR E16.5%TIRBEABHE
the year ended 31 March 2025, except for one subsidiary of the o EAEE—RHBEARRKRI - EAFSHMK
Group which is a qualifying entity under the two-tiered profits tax FIETHAERERE - ZMB AR BRGNS
rates regime. The first HK$2,000,000 of assessable profits of this 2,000,000 7T1%8.25% HyFi SR B [ 88 T FE AR B Vg
subsidiary are taxed at 8.25% and the remaining assessable profits FIAH216.5% K T REEF o
are taxed at 16.5%.
No provision for Hong Kong profits tax has been made as the AR AERRBE-_S-_MF=A=+—HILFE
Group did not generate any assessable profits arising in Hong Kong WEEBRBELETMERBEF - MW ERESF
during the year ended 31 March 2024. ISBE S -
The Group is not subject to any income tax in the Cayman BEAFASHEERABREZHSNRARAL - &
Islands and the BVI pursuant to the rules and regulations in those EERZE AR BRSNS
jurisdictions.
The tax expense/(credit) for both years can be reconciled to the RREFEMNTIBERY (Ee) T E8BERFHADER
profit/(loss) before tax as follows: (E1B) BRI -
2025 2024
—E-RHE —E N4
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
Profit/(loss) before tax PR RTH T (B518) 109 (13,944)
Tax at the statutory tax rate of 16.5% AT TSR EA16.5%TE 2 1B 18 (2,301)
Income tax at the concessionary rate REBMEGTE 2SR (54) -
Adjustment in respect of tax of previous periods 7% #8387 Hi R T T8 #) 55 & (13) -
Income not subject to tax BAEMR 2 B/A (212) (273)
Expenses not deductible for tax AAHE R 311 457
Tax losses utilised from previous periods BESFEEARIEEE (38) —
Tax losses not recognised RIERTIEE 8 - 1,966
Tax expense/(credit) for the year at the Group’s ~ EANEB BRI RTEH
effective tax rate AFEEHBERY: (HE) 12 (151)

No deferred tax assets have been recognised in respect of tax
losses of HK$47,751,000 (2024: HK$48,043,000) as they have
arisen from subsidiaries with unpredictability of future profit and it is
not considered probable that taxable profits will be available against
which the tax losses can be utilised in the foreseeable future.

DIVIDEND

No dividend was paid or declared by any group entity for the years
ended 31 March 2025 and 2024 nor has any dividend proposed
since the end of the reporting period.

11.

AT I B 18 E A B AR 2R0E B 71 AT TEORI 60 B B A
A Bt WEBRFEEEE47,751,0008 T (ZF
ZPH4F : 48,043,000/ 7T) ERIELERIBEE © TR
A8 R AR R FER B F IR A AT e AR IR SEE A Y
FHEEE -

BRE
FREEEERREE S -_AFER T _MFE=

A
=+ —HAEFEREXNREREMRS - B]RE
R ERUREA RS -
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
RIS RRMEE

For the yearended 31 March 2025 BE-—T-—AF=A=+—HILFE

12.

EARNINGS/(LOSS) PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO 12. RATFZEREZESEAEBRGERET(HH)
ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE COMPANY
The calculation of the basic earnings/(loss) per share is based on BREARF(HBB)SEDHIREAARKS
the profit of HK$97,000 (2024: loss of HK$13,793,000) for the year ABIEFRNEFI7,0008 T (ZT_WEF : BE
attributable to owners of the Company, and the weighted average 13,793,000 7T) + AR FARE BITE @R NEF
number of ordinary shares outstanding less treasury shares held HURIR IR IR (0 SR ED AT 8135 B B EE 1 AR 19 402,824,000
under share award scheme during the year of 402,824,000 (2024: B (ZZ =% : 401,893,00088) 51 & -
401,893,000).
In respect of the year ended 31 March 2025, the calculation of HE_Z-_AF=A=1+—HILFE " imlﬂxﬁﬁ
the diluted earnings per share amount for the year is based on the tﬁ”ﬂﬁ’] FTETERARBIREEEFREH
profit for the year attributable to owners of the Company and the ERARGTEEREARBANNEETE @HQ?JDTE:FYJ
weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue less treasury HUR KR D SR ET & TR A M EF IR LA R AR 1
shares held under share award scheme as used in the basic EmAEENEETTARATBREUTRER
earning per share calculation, and the weighted average number 77385, OOOH ﬁi@ﬁxﬂ’]ﬂﬂ’féﬁ$iﬁ§i&ﬁﬁbﬁx@m
of 385,000 ordinary shares assumed to have been issued at no . @Z? —HEFZA=+—HIFE Sk
consideration on the deemed exercise of dilutive potential ordinary SEARAE IE?ETE: RITEARRRERE  REA
shares into ordinary shares and the effect of awarded shares. The ui%ﬁﬁﬂﬂg WITRERRAEERG B FITE -
computation of diluted earnings per share for the year ended 31
March 2025 does not assume the exercise of the Company’s share
options because the exercise price of those options was higher
than the average market price for shares of the current year.
In respect of the year ended 31 March 2024, no adjustment has HEZZT-MF=A=1+—BLFE ' ARKRTE
been made to the basic loss per share amounts presented in HERG RBRENFZEBYEMETSREREES
respect of a dilution as the impact of the awarded shares and share BEAEREERE R RETEE2| N ERE
options outstanding had an anti-dilutive effect on the basic loss per AEESBEELHAE -
share amounts presented.
2025 2024
—E-EHF ZEPOF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FEx FiET
Earnings/(loss) BA, (Eﬁ
Profit/(loss) for the year attributable to ordinary FARR B EBRERITE ARG
equity holders of the Company, used in the wAl (B1R) - ARTESRERR
basic earnings/(loss) per share calculation M, (E518) 97 (13,793)
Number of shares
ROEE
2025 2024
—E-REF ZZF
’000 000
T8 T
Shares B
Weighted average number of ordinary shares SHEEREART (BR)MEETER
outstanding less treasury shares held under the BI04 9 BURF MR BB 1@ 5T )
share award scheme during the year used in the 18 F£5 HIE 7LD
basic earnings/(loss) per share calculation 402,824 401,893
Effect of dilution — weighted average number of & 5 28— 3@ A% N P15 2
ordinary shares
Share awards %15 228D 385 -
403,209 401,893

KMLTechnology Group Limited ® Annual Report 2024/25




).

e

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE—Z-_RF=A=+—HILFE

13.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Cost:

Asat 1 Apri 2023
Additions
Disposals/Written-off

As at 31 March 2024 and 1 April 2024

Additions
Disposals/Written-off

As at 31 March 2025

Accumulated depreciation:
As at 1 April 2023

Provided during the year
Disposals/Written-off

As at 31 March 2024 and 1 April 2024

Provided during the year
Disposals/Written-off

As at 31 March 2025

Net carrying value:
Asat 31 March 2025

As at 31 March 2024

A
R-E-=EMA-H
e

HE /B

ZitiE
RZZZ=%MA-A
ERiE

L&/ HE
R-E-ME=A=+-AR
“ERERA-A
iR

L&/ HE

RZE-RF=A=1-A

REFE:
RZZZRF=A=1-R

RZE-MEZA=1-A

N BERRE
Leasehold Furniture Plant and Computer Motor Marine
improvements  and fixtures machinery equipment vehicles equipment Total
BihR
HENFEE BE%E  HERHE ShmE RE RARE Eh
HK$ 000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$ 000
T THR i Tén Thn Thn Tén
4,528 1,033 3430 9,840 3,981 478 23290
= = 334 19 327 3 1,167
- - - - (633) - (633)
4,528 1,033 3,764 10,035 3,775 789 23,924
9 - 283 3 - - 325
- - (83) S (673) (640) (1,296)
4,537 1,033 3,964 10,068 3,102 249 22,953
3178 1,031 3,089 8,049 3,062 28 18,422
601 2 170 630 576 13 2,092
= = = = (633) = (633)
3,774 1,033 3,259 8,679 3,095 141 19,981
434 - i 569 197 13 1,484
S = (58) S (652) (204 (914
4,208 1,033 3,312 9,248 2,640 50 20,551
329 - 592 820 462 199 2,402
754 - 505 1,356 680 648 3,943

SHRMREBERRAT « T =M/ =HFFR
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For the yearended 31 March 2025 BE-—T-—AF=A=+—HILFE

14. LEASES 14. HE
The Group has lease contracts as lessees for several properties. AEBERETUENEBAGLHEESL - W%
Leases of the properties (ie. office premises and warehouses) HEMWAEMERRE) 2HEHR —RAB1ES
generally have lease terms between 1 and 3 years. o
(a) Right-of-use assets (a) FHEEE
The carrying amount of the Group’s right-of-use assets and ANEBFEREEENERELRERNEEN
the movements during the year are as follows: o
Properties
L/ES
HK$'000
FHET
At 1 April 2023 R-ZZE-_=FMHA—H 9,154
Depreciation charge hEEA (5,958)
At 31 March 2024 and 1 April 2024 RZZEZWF=A=+—HBR-ZT-WFMA—H 3,201
Additions NE 8,821
Depreciation charge WEER (5,937)
At 31 March 2025 RZZE-—RF=A=1+—H 6,085
(b) Lease liabilities (b) HEEME
The carrying amount of lease liabilities and the movements HEaENERERERNESNT -
during the year are as follows:
2025 2024
—E-FHEF —ENF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Carrying amount at 1 April RUA—BZERAEE 3,324 9,159
New leases wHE 8,821 =
Accretion of interest recognised during the year — FRFER 2 EETF B 286 351
Payments (NES (6,241) (6,186)
Carrying amount at 31 March R=ZA=+—RHAZEmE 6,190 3,324
2025 2024
“E-RF ZEF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FEx FAxT
Analysed into: DT
Repayable: B :
Within one year —FQR 6,027 3,156
Over one year HBIB—F 163 168
6,190 3,324
Less: Non-current portion W FERBE S (163) (168)
Current portion MENER S 6,027 3,156

The maturity analysis of lease liabilities is disclosed in note 34
to the consolidated financial statements.
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For the yearended 31 March 2025 BZE—T_AF=A=+—HILFE

14. LEASES (CONTINUED) 14. AE @
(¢) The amounts recognised in profit or loss for the reporting () MEEFERZEHEMREZERZEHE
period in relation to leases are as follows: W
2025 2024
—E-FREF —ZENF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FET
Interest on lease liabilities HEAGBZHE 286 351
Depreciation charge of right-of-use assets {FREEEZITEER 5,937 5,953
Expense relating to short-term leases B ERE Y
(included in administrative expenses) GrAFTEHAZA) 74 156
Total amount recognised in profit or loss ~ AIBZERH AT 6,297 6,460

The total cash outflows for leases are disclosed in note 36(c)
to the consolidated financial statements.

HEMBRERBEEN G AP BWMKRM T

36(c) N & °

15. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT 15. BARBEFABZNEREE
OR LOSS
2025 2024
—E-FHEF —ZENF
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
k=3 FHET FHT
Listed equity investments, at fair value, included in _EHEAIRE - SFAREE
current assets ERARE) 675 925
Unlisted investments, at fair value EEMRE HEARME)
Deposits paid for life insurance products, ASRBERENES
included in non-current assets FTAERBEE @ 6,599 6,382
Debt investment, included in current assets BBRE  sFARBEE (b) - 2,000
7,274 9,307

The above listed equity investments were classified as financial
assets at fair value through profit or loss as they were held for
trading.

bt EREAREN B RIBAREF ARG Z SR

AE  RAAERMIEEE -

The above unlisted investments at 31 March 2025 and 2024 were
(i) the deposits paid for life insurance products and (i) the debt
security issued by financial institutions in Hong Kong. They were
classified as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss as
their contractual cash flows are not solely payments of principal and
interest.

BB RITHESES

RIE-RER-_ZT-_NE=A=+—8 " Liidk
FHREAEODBASRBRERE MRS R1BES
c REEMWAEAERAR
B ABENEHEE  RRARENANESR
EVHFEAINAERFE -

SHNREEERAT « ZT-N/ZHFFH
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For the yearended 31 March 2025 BE-—T-—AF=A=+—HILFE

15.

16.

FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT
OR LOSS (CONTINUED)

Notes:

@

©)

The life insurance products were entered into by the Group’s subsidiaries
with financial institutions for certain senior management of the Group, Mr.
Luk Yin Cheung, director of the Company and Mr. CL Chan, director of
KML Engineering. Under the life insurance policies, the beneficiaries and
policyholders are subsidiaries of the Group. The Group’s subsidiaries are
required to pay a single premium or annual premium for the policies and
may request a partial surrender or full surrender of the policies at any time
and receive cash back based on the value of the policies at the date of
surrender, which is determined by the account value net of any surrender
charge (the “Cash Values”). The policy premium expense, insurance
charges and surrender charges are recognised in profit or loss. The life
insurance policies have a guaranteed value or carry guaranteed interest
rate of 4.25% per annum in the first year, and a minimum guaranteed
interest rate of 2.00% per annum from the second year onwards.

The Cash Values which are considered a close estimate to the fair values of
the life insurance policies, were HK$6,599,000 as at 31 March 2025 (2024:
HK$6,382,000), determined by reference to the Cash Values as provided
by the insurance companies. The fair value of the Group’s insurance
policies was measured using significant unobservable inputs (Level 3 of fair
value hierarchy) as defined in HKFRS 13.

The aggregate carrying amounts of HK$6,064,000 (2024: HK$5,916,000)
as at 31 March 2025 were pledged as security for a banking facility of the
Group (note 23).

The entire balance of the life insurance products is denominated in United
States dollars (“US$”).

The balance represent debt security issued by the Hong Kong Mortgage
Corporation Limited, which has a maturity of 1 year from June 2023 to
June 2024, and carries interest at the rate of 4.7 % per annum.

TRADE RECEIVABLES

The Group grants credit terms of 30 to 60 days to its customers
from the date of invoices on progress billings of contract and
maintenance works and sales of goods. An ageing analysis of the
trade receivables is presented based on the invoice date at the end
of the reporting period.

Within 30 days
31 to 60 days
61 to 90 days
Over 90 days

Less: Accumulated loss allowance (note 34)

Total

30HR

31£60H
61%290H
H23Ho0H

The Group’s trading terms with its customers are mainly on credit,
except for new customers, where payment in advance is normally
required. Each customer has a maximum credit limit. The Group
seeks to maintain strict control over its outstanding receivables and
has a credit control department to minimise credit risk. Overdue
balances are reviewed regularly by senior management. Trade
receivables are non-interest-bearing.
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2025 2024
—E-REF —ENF
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FHET FHET
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16.

17.

TRADE RECEIVABLES (CONTINUED)

As at 31 March 2025, included in the Group’s trade receivable
balances were balances from customers with an aggregate carrying
amount of HK$8,915,000 (2024: HK$13,259,000) which were
past due as at the reporting date. Out of the past due balances,
HK$79,000 (2024: nil) has been past due more than 90 days. The
Group rebutted the presumption of default under the expected
credit loss model for trade receivables past due over 90 days
assuming no significant change in credit quality after having an
understanding of those customers’ background as well as the
good payment records and continuous business relationship with
those customers. Further, such long outstanding balances were
primarily due to overdue payment which was a common practice in
Transportation Mission Critical System Solutions, Mobile Ticketing
and Digital Payment Solutions and Services, and M&E Technology
Solutions and Engineering Services. The Group did not hold any
collateral over these balances.

Details of impairment of trade receivables for the year ended 31
March 2025 are set out in note 34 to the consolidated financial
statements. The ECLs for trade receivables as at 31 March 2025
and 31 March 2024 were HK$60,000 and HK$31,000, respectively.

As at 31 March 2025 and 2024, trade receivables were all
denominated in HKS.

OTHER RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS AND PREPAYMENTS

Non-current: JERNES -
Deposits b

Current: BNHY
Advances to suppliers BT HAER
Prepayments TEfTFRIA
Interest receivables FEURILE,
Others Efth

Subtotal NEE

Total 1RET

None of the above assets is either past due or impaired. The
financial assets included in the above balances relate to receivables
for which there was no recent history of default. Their related ECL
considerations are set out in note 34 to the consolidated financial
statements.

16.

17.

B 5 RWEOE ()

RZZE-RAF=A=+—0 AKEEZHEKEK
EREAKRE{ERS,9150008 T (ZT - WF
13,259,000/ 70) KM Z P IR - 2B #HE B
HIE B - ZF BT - 79,0008 T (ZF =M
FD)EAHEB0R - AREETHRZEETFPHN
BRUARREX NS MSERBRER - BRE
EERUESEAZY - HEAH0RNE SRR

FEMEEBBREXTOROERT -t - REKR
BEEHIEANBARAGEATR  RBHRE

T8 X B SO BROR TT 2 R RS MM E R AT iR R )7 R
N TRERENTE RIEH] - AEE W EL LT AR
BEMERR -

HE-_Z-AF=-A=1+—HILFE  EHERUR
EREZFBHNGAMEHRENTEIL - KT
CHE=A=1+—BAR-ZZE-_MF=A=1+—HH
B RINIBTEEEEES R A60,0008 T &
31,000/& 7T °

RZBEZRFR-FT-_WNF=A=+—H BHE
W FRBH LB TTYIE -

Hits W FUR - RERANRE

2025 2024
—E-REF —ENF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FERT FHT
1,713 959
2,026 4,854
825 639

475 364

401 142
3,727 5,999
5,440 6,958

P EEMERMTERE - StA LGRS/
BERYMAMEOCE 2 EWRIBER - HEE
HEEBEBRRERN G AP BRRMEES4 -
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CONTRACT ASSETS

Transportation Mission Critical System X iBREA# Rk 5 2
Solutions

Mobile Ticketing and Digital Payment 7 B1 2275 & 85 & 7 0 5 52

Solutions and Services KR
M&E Technology Solutions and
Engineering Services

Digital Fabrication and Maintenance BSE L AR B IR TS
Services

Impairment (note 34) B (H7134)

Total RET

A contract asset, net of contract liability related to the same
contract, is recognised over the period in which the engineering
services are performed, representing the Group’s right to
consideration for the services performed and not billed because
the rights are conditional on the Group’s future performance
accepted by the customers. The contract assets are transferred
to trade receivables when the rights become unconditional. The
Group typically transfers its contract assets to trade receivables
when progress certificate/invoice is issued. The Group generally
provides their customers with maintenance period of one to three
years from the date of the practical completion of the project.
Upon the expiration of the maintenance period, the customers will
provide a maintenance certificate and pay the retentions within the
term specified in the contract. The increase in contract assets in
2025 and 2024 was mainly due to the increase in the provision of
engineering services at the end of the year.

The expected timing of recovery or settlement for contract assets as
at 31 March is as follows:

Within one year —FR
After one year —&1&
Total contract assets ARNEEBE

An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting date to
measure expected credit losses. The provision rates for the
measurement of the expected credit losses for the contract assets
are based on those for the trade receivables as the contract assets
and the trade receivables are from the same customer bases. The
provision rates of contract assets are based on its historical credit
loss experience, adjusted for forward-looking factors specific to
the debtors and the economic environment. The Group applies the
simplified approach to provide for the ECLs prescribed by HKFRS
9. Loss allowance of HK$4,000 (2024: reversal of loss allowance of
HK$28,000) was recognised during the year. Details of impairment of
contract assets for the years ended 31 March 2025 and 2024 are set
out in note 34 to the consolidated financial statements.
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HERAMARRTT 5 & TR RS

18. EHEE

31 March 2025 31 March 2024 31 March 2023
—E-RHE —ZE_peF —E-=5F
=A=+—H =A=+—~H —A=+—~H
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET FExT

6,246 9,731 11,162

31,774 27,959 5,260

34,827 31,248 27,515

76 97 68

72,923 69,035 44,005
(29) (25) (53)

72,894 69,010 43,952

AWEE  HBHEERGOBEENEGHNEE  RE
HEIRREHEBER  REAEEEERE T
BERAAZHREKERE  BAZIEERNTIEUR
REFEMAEBARREKE - ST BEGY
B AHNEEEBREEIENKIVE - AEEBEE
BHEFES WENEHANEEEREEHE
g - AEBBERETFIREEEEERZEX
AR —ZEZ=FRIERS - RREBERE &
FREEREFERRAVEENHRALTRE
2 RBE-_RAFR-_ZE-_NFENEEENEE
AR FERE TRRA TR -

*

RZAZ+—B - aWEENTRHKE S B
PARNE

2025 2024
—ECRF T E
HK$’000 HK$'000
FERT FAET
35,949 23,230
36,945 45,780
72,894 69,010

RERE BEITRES AT ETEREEEE « &
EANEERBEEBENEERIEANZERS
EWHIE - RARANEEREZERFIAREE
RAEFER - GNBEENBEENEANEESFE
B RALE - WRLETS A B E ATIE M R R AR
MIEHTE o RIBEBBUEREEMNFIRNRE
REBERBIETEARBHEEERE - FAE
R EIEEEA,000/8 7T (T M4 - FHIEREHR
[B128,00087T) - BE_Z_hFER_T_NF=H
=+ ALFEZANEENRERHBERES N
TR MIFES4 ©
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19.

20.

CONTRACT LIABILITIES

Transportation Mission Critical System @A Z G fiR 7 2
Solutions

Mobile Ticketing and Digital Payment
Solutions and Services

M&E Technology Solutions and

Engineering Services

Ko BR#5

Digital Fabrication and Maintenance B S BE AR B IR TS
Services
Total “@Et

The Group requires certain customers under engineering service
contracts to provide upfront deposits at rates ranging from 5%
to 20% of the total contract sum. When the Group receives a
deposit before the project commences, this will give rise to contract
liabilities at the start of a contract until the full amount of the deposit
is deducted proportionately from progress payment. The increase in
contract liabilities in 2025 and 2024 was mainly due to the increase
in short-term advances received from customers in relation to the
provision of engineering services at the end of the year.

TIME DEPOSITS WITH ORIGINAL MATURITY OVER
THREE MONTHS/PLEDGED BANK DEPOSITS/BANK
BALANCES AND CASH

As at 31 March 2025, bank balances and cash comprise cash held
by the Group and bank deposits carrying interest at market rates
which ranged from 0.1% to 3.75% per annum (2024: ranged from
0.1% to 5.1% per annum) with original maturity of three months or
less.

As at 31 March 2025, pledged bank deposits represented deposits
pledged to banks to secure banking facilities granted by banks
to the Group (2024: banking facilities and bank borrowing of
HK$15,000,000) (note 23), carrying fixed interest rates ranging from
2.8% to 4.0% per annum (2024: ranging from 4.0% to 4.84% per
annum).

As at 31 March 2025, time deposits with original maturity over three
months carried fixed interest rate of 2.9% per annum (2024: nil).

BRI RIS RIS
BERAARRTT R TR

19. AHEE
31 March 2025 31 March 2024 31 March 2023
—E-EHF ZENF —E-=F
=A=+-H =A=+—8 =A=+—H
HK$’000 HK$’'000 HK$'000
Fix F&T FET
3,215 1,206 1,384
6,069 5,161 2,018
9,822 9,277 3,969
462 237 241
19,568 15,881 7,612

20.

FAEERBETRERBANERETEPRMHSFMNR
T ERBRNFEENESRENS%E20% AR X5
H o AEEARBRKRIEEIRSE - EHESHH
BELANAE BEERENENSBEAEENR
BRI - RZB-_RHFR T -_MFEHEE
EEERNFRBEHRIERGRE S WEAE
HAEA OGN ER -

REHAEB=AANERER FEARTE
R BRITERRES

MN-ZB-RE=A=1+—0 HBITIEHLELEE
AEEMFERELRREIHAABZ@EASATENT
0.1%ZE3.75% (ZF=NF : NTFHF01%ZE5.1%)
TS FEF R BRI TR

R-ZE-_RE=ZA=+—8  BEMEITHERIE
ERFERITAARTALAEERHNRITHMEE
EEONGER (T -_MF  RORERRBTER
15,000,000 7T) (Ki5E23) @ KEEFFEN KT
2.8%F4.0% (ZZE=NF : NTFTEHF40%E4.84%)
-

RZZE-_RF=ZA=+—0  RIHABBE=M@EA

B E I IR E E F A E2.9% (B ZMF : T)&f
B
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For the yearended 31 March 2025 BE-—T-—AF=A=+—HILFE

20.

21.

TIME DEPOSITS WITH ORIGINAL MATURITY OVER
THREE MONTHS/PLEDGED BANK DEPOSITS/BANK
BALANCES AND CASH (CONTINUED)

At the end of the reporting period, the carrying amounts of the
Group’s time deposits with original maturity over three months,
pledged bank deposits, and bank balances and cash are
denominated in the following currencies:

HK$ BIT

Euro (“EUR”) BT ([&ocl)
Renminbi (“‘RMB”) ARB (AR
Uss$ i

Other currencies HEmEw

TRADE AND RETENTION PAYABLES

The credit period on purchases and subcontracting of contract
work services ranges from 30 to 60 days. The following is an ageing
analysis of trade payables presented based on the invoice date at
the end of the reporting period:

Trade payables: B S5 EARE
Within 30 days 308/
31 to 60 days 31&E60H
61 to 90 days 61£90H
91 to 365 days 912365H
Over 365 days B3A365H
Retention payables ERRE S

Total trade and retention payables
Fcke)

Notes:

(a) As at 31 March 2025, trade payables of HK$43,000 were denominated
in RMB and HK$4,000 were denominated in US$. As at 31 March 2024,
trade payables of HK$14,000 were denominated in EUR.

b) Retention payables to sub-contractors of contract work are interest-free
and payable by the Group after the completion of the maintenance period
of the relevant contracts or in accordance with the terms specified in the
relevant contracts, ranging from 1 to 2 years from the completion dates of
the respective contracts.
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BHRNFERENRES

REHAEB=AANERER FEARTE
R RITERRES (B

RB|EFER - REBEATIEEERNRE B

B={EA & ERFR -

MR HIRHEE

As at 31 March

BEIPRITIF R IRITHEER

R=ZA=+—H
2025 2024
“ECRF T E
HK$’000 HK$'000
FERT FAET
34,371 31,403
252 259
79 82
20,519 33,466
5,163 5,023
60,384 70,233

EZRNTERENRES

BERDBANIIERBOHEEHN FI0=60R -
NTARBEFERENERZAHZIINEZ RN

IR DT ¢
2025 2024
—E_RE —E-NEFE
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
B3 FERT FHT
(@)
8,055 6,059
3,329 192
183 47
255 11
156 335
11,978 6,644
b) 5,555 5,502
17,533 12,146
Htat

@ RoE-RE=FH=+—H  ESEMNSIEF43,000%

TCAA BB 5TE R 4,000/8 7T A FE T A1 B © 7= 2

—g

FE=F=1—HEZRENFIEF 14,000 7T L BT 5

& o

®) BT EEHE N TIERE D RS

" B A EE R

BIE A9 1E R ST 14 SR BRI & AT E VIR
E 1A T IR & K)7T K HRIRERT I F1 226 ©
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22, OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS

Accrued staff costs

Provision for employee related benefits
Accrued expenses

Provision for warranties (note)

Total

Note:

fEEH B TR
1B BARREE BB
FEETRISE
REER A ATE)

\U]] oy

8

4 =

oA

The movements of provision for warranties during the years are as follows:

At beginning of year

Additional provision

Amounts utilised during the year
Reversal of unutilised amounts

At end of year

F5)

BN
FRBASHE
APAEERD

FR

The Group provides one-year warranty to its customers for contract services for
general repairs of defects occurring during the warranty period. The amount of the
provision for the warranties is estimated based on past experience of the level of
repairs. The estimation basis is reviewed on an ongoing basis and revised where

appropriate.

23. BANK BORROWINGS

As at 31 March 2025, the Group has nil (2024: HK$15,000,000))
outstanding bank borrowings. As at 31 March 2024, the bank
borrowings borne interests of 6.45%-7.42% per annum and
repayable within one year, and were denominated in HK$ and
secured by pledged deposits of HK$14,080,000 (note 20) and
deposits paid for life insurance products of HK$5,916,000 (note

15(a).

24. PROVISION FOR CONTRACT WORKS

At beginning of year
Amount utilised during the year

At end of year

F10
FAPHATHE

FR

The Group recognises provision for contract works when the
costs of meeting the performance obligations under the revenue
contracts exceed the economic benefits expected to be received.
The amount of provision is estimated based on contract costs to
completion. The estimation basis is reviewed on an ongoing basis

and revised where appropriate.

22, HtENFIAREEM

2025 2024
—E-hHEF ZETNF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAExT
4,149 4,138
3,790 3,803
2,317 2,230
615 1,366
10,871 11,537
MaE -
FRAREHBEHEHOT :
2025 2024
—E-RF ZEE
HK$’000 HK$’000
FBx FHT
1,366 3,608
615 1,366
(1,129) (2,275)
(237) (1,333)
615 1,366

FEESEPRE-FREMNSORY - BREMAHER
BB —RIERE - REMBBESTEDERBEREKFE
BfhE o AATEAS TRERS - YEEEBER THEIERT -

23. RITHEE

RIE-_RFE=ZA=+—H  AEBEHKREEZERIT

BEEAZT(ZZT - PU4F : 15,000,000/87T) - R-F

“HFE=ZA=+—H  RITEERFFNE.45%F

7.42%T B RAR—FREE - BABTTE LU

B IEIRF14,080,0007 7T (i 5£20) R EAT AER
W SR Y% £5,916,000/%8 7T (B 5E15(a)) {EHEIF -

24. EHNIERE

2025 2024
—E-RF ZEOF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHT
9,237 16,169
(4,568) (6,932)
4,669 9,237

BERTIRANENREINRABBRETRAH
TE RS BT A A W ol B $¢@%£AWI&%
o BESERBEEXKAOKNALE - REEZE
EHhET R - ﬂﬁEi@%"%ﬁTT’EHﬂ EHK
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25.

DEFERRED TAX

The movements in deferred tax assets/(liabilities) during the year are
as follows:

Deferred tax asset

At 1 April 2023 RZE-_=F1A—H
(Charged)/credited to profit or loss (note 10) (faBx &),/ zt B Hi710)

At 31 March 2024 and 1 April 2024 R-ZZE-WNF=A=+—-HkK
—ZE-NFNA—H

(Charged)/credited to profit or loss (note 10)  ($NExB) /5t A8z (4152 10)

At 31 March 2025 RZZ-ZRAF=RA=+—H

Deferred tax liabilities

At 1 April 2023 R-ZE-=%MA—H
(Charged)/credited to profit or loss (note 10) (N B) /5 A8 (452 10)
At 31 March 2024 and 1 April 2024 RZE-_NFE=A=+—HK
ZZZMFEMA—H
Credited to profit or loss (note 10) stAB=m W10

At 31 March 2025 RZZE-RAF=R=+—H
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25. JRIEBIH

FRREBEEE (BE)NEBHNT

IRIERIIE & B
Impairment
oftrade  Accelerated tax
receivables and (accounting)
contract assets depreciation Total
BB EWFHER R E
EHEERE (& e st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT FTHET FAT
13 (55) (42)
() 1563 146
6 98 104
5 (104) (99)
1 (6) 5
RIEFIEEE
Impairment
oftrade  Accelerated tax
receivables and (accounting)
contract assets depreciation Total
EHBURFER DNEEBLIE
BHEERE (B HE Het
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET
2 (55) (63)
1) 6 5
1 (49) (48)
1 28 29
2 (21) (19)
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26. JOINT OPERATION

Particulars of the Group’s joint operation are as follows:

REEELEBHOFBHIIAT

Form of Place of
business registration Percentage of attributable
Name structure and business interest of the Group Principal activity
=L FBEBER B i 2 it B rEBELEZEOL FEEBED
2025 2024
—E-RHE —F-mF
% %
KML — Huaming Unincorporated body Hong Kong 35 35 Provision of engineering
Joint Venture service
KML — Huaming E YN BE R TR

Joint Venture

Note:  Under the joint venture agreement, the joint operators have contractually
agreed to share control over the relevant activities of this unincorporated
body, hence this unincorporated body is jointly controlled by the Group and
the other joint operator. Furthermore, the relevant joint venture agreement
specifies that the Group and another party to the joint arrangement have
rights to the assets and obligations for the liabilities relating to the joint
arrangement, therefore this unincorporated body is classified as a joint

Wit - REEEERGH - A LEEECHARBESNZIE
ABBIRREB) A HIE - Bt - ZIEN BRI A E
B 5 —H 6 EAFEER LR - o) - 1R 13
W HE - AFERE S a) 75— & S AR
BEZHET  HI0FBEBREER - Bt - ZIEZEA

BREAEREER -

operation.
27. SHARE CAPITAL 7. B*E
Number
of shares Amount
RHOEE -]
’000 HK$'000
FR b
Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each HREEE0.01E LA B
Authorised: JATE
At 31 March 2025 and 2024 RIZE-RAFER T -_NF=A=+—H 3,800,000 38,000
Issued and fully paid: BEITREBHAT
At 31 March 2025 RZZE-RFE=RA=+—H 404,960 4,050
At 31 March 2024 RZEZWFE=A=+—AH 404,960 4,050

Details of the Company’s share option scheme and the Company’s

share award scheme are included in notes 38 and 39 to the

consolidated financial statements, respectively.

AR BBRAERT BIA R AR R B 10 B ED AT B0 F
B0 BB AR & B TS R MY FE38 1239 »

SHNREEERAT « ZT-N/ZHFFH
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28.

RESERVES

The amounts of the Group’s reserves and the movements therein
for the current and prior years are presented in the consolidated
statement of changes in equity.

Share-based payment reserve

The Group’s share-based payment reserve comprise (i) the fair
value of share options vested which are yet to be exercised, as
further explained in the accounting policy of share-based payments
in note 3 to the consolidated financial statements. The amount
will either be transferred to the share premium account when the
related share options are exercised, or transferred to accumulated
profits should the related share options lapse or be forfeited; and
(i) the amount to be expensed as share-based payment expenses
determined by reference to the fair value of the shares under the
share award scheme granted, taking into account all non-vesting
conditions associated with the grants on grant date. The total
expense is recognised on a straight-line basis over the relevant
vesting periods (or on the grant date if the shares vest immediately),
with a corresponding credit to the share-based payment reserve
under equity. Upon vesting, the related costs of the vested shares
under the share award scheme are credited to shares under the
share award scheme, with a corresponding decrease in the share-
based payment reserve.

Other reserves

The Group’s other reserves mainly represent (i) the difference
between the nominal values of the ordinary shares issued by the
Company and the share capital of subsidiaries acquired through
an exchange of shares pursuant to the reorganisation of the Group
during the year ended 31 March 2018 and (i) the deemed capital
contribution from Mr. KM Luk, a controlling shareholder and an
executive director of the Company, in respect of the transfer of
2,000,000 shares to the trust of the share award scheme at nil
consideration, and details of the share award scheme are set out in
note 39 to the consolidated financial statements.
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29.

30.

COMMITMENTS 29.

The Group had no material capital commitments as at 31 March
2025 (2024: nil).

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 30.

The Group had the following transactions with related parties during
the year ended 31 March 2025:

Purchase of materials from Logistic ST TEBMERAR
Industrial Supply Company Limited (FEL I FEDE
(“Logistic Industrial”)

Rental payments HNES
K M L Limited B BRAR

Notes:

(a) Logistic Industrial is a company over which Ms. Leung Kwok Yee (“Madam

Leung’), the spouse of Mr. KM Luk, has significant influence. The
purchase prices of goods were mutually agreed between the parties.

b) K M L Limited is controlled by Mr. KM Luk. Rental payments were on a
mutually-agreed basis.

Save as disclosed elsewhere in these financial statements, the
Group had no material transactions and outstanding balances with
related parties during the years ended 31 March 2025 and 2024.

Compensation of key management personnel

Key management personnel of the Group are the directors of the
Company. Their remuneration during the years ended 31 March
2025 and 2024 is set out in note 8 to the consolidated financial
statements.
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31.

32.

33.

RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEMES

The Group participates in defined contribution schemes which
are registered under the ORSO Scheme and the MPF Scheme
established under the Mandatory Provident Fund Ordinance in
December 2000. The assets of the schemes are held separately
from those of the Group, in funds under the control of trustees.
Employees who were members of the ORSO Scheme prior to the
establishment of the MPF Scheme were offered a choice of staying
with the ORSO Scheme or switching to the MPF Scheme, whereas
all new employees joining the Group on or after 1 December 2000
are required to join the MPF Scheme.

For members of the MPF Scheme, except for the Group’s
voluntary contributions, the Group contributes 5% of relevant
payroll costs to the MPF Scheme, subject to a cap of monthly
relevant income of HK$30,000, which matches contribution of the
employee.

The ORSO Scheme is funded by monthly contributions from both
employees and the Group at rate 5% of the employee’s basic
salary.

The amount recognised in profit or loss of HK$2,824,000 (2024:
HK$2,897,000) during the year ended 31 March 2025 represents
contributions paid and payable to these plans by the Group at rates
specified in the rules of the plans.

CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the Group
will be able to continue as a going concern while maximising the
return to owners through the optimisation of the debt and equity
balance.

The capital structure of the Group consists of debt and equity of the
Group, comprising issued share capital and accumulated profits.

Management of the Group reviews the capital structure regularly
taking into account the cost of capital and the risk associated
with the capital. The Group will balance its overall capital structure
through the issuance of new shares and the raise of borrowings.

FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Management has assessed that the fair values of financial assets
and liabilities which are due to be received or settled within one
year approximate to their carrying amounts largely due to the
short-term maturities of these instruments.

The fair values of the financial assets and liabilities are included
at the amounts at which the instrument could be exchanged in a
current transaction between willing parties, other than in a forced or
liquidation sale.
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33.

FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

The following methods and assumptions were used to estimate the
fair values:

The fair values of the non-current portion of deposits and lease
liabilities have been calculated by discounting the expected future
cash flows using rates currently available for instruments with similar
terms, credit risk and remaining maturities. In the opinion of the
directors, since their carrying amounts are not significantly different
from their respective fair values, no disclosure of the fair values of
these financial instruments is made.

Fair value hierarchy
The following tables illustrate the fair value measurement hierarchy
of the Group’s assets:

Assets measured at fair value:

As at 31 March 2025

BARE \EENSRERE

Financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss

As at 31 March 2024

RARE \EENSREE

Financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss

33. LRITAMNAAERAAREER(E
I TRAEGRF AR ENTERRR :
RekHEABZIIRBDIS AR BERRERAR
BERUGR - EERRRFAFHNTANRIT
MEMBARARKR S RETE - FERE - BAA
REAEEESAZARBELEEAEZE - WHER
EzEemMIAEZRARE-
ARERER
TREARNEEEE AABENEER
BRARBEHEZAE
R-ZE-HF=A=1+—H
Fair value measurement using
EATHBB AR ETE
Quoted
prices Significant Significant
in active observable  unobservable
markets inputs inputs Total
EX BX
WERWSZ ABREHA RABE
BE £t WABE st
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)
(E-& (BE=®) (B=H)
HK$000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000
TER TER TER THERT
675 - 6,599 7,274
RZZEZWE=A=+—H
Fair value measurement using
ERATIEE AR EFE
Quoted
prices Significant Significant
in active observable unobservable
markets inputs inputs Total
BX BX
KBRS Z ABEHA TR
WE HiE BAHE st
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)
E-H (E=H) (B=H)
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHT FHT FET
925 2,000 6,382 9,307
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33. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

Fair value hierarchy (continued)

The Group did not have any financial liabilities measured at fair

value as at 31 March 2025 and 2024.

33. ERMIANAAERQIAERERE

DREER @)

R-ZE-RAER-_Z-_WNFE=A=+—0H  ~&H
ﬁ#ﬁ%iﬁ’&fﬁﬁﬁzZEﬁimﬂ@ 1

Recondiliation of fair value measurements categorised within Level DERARNBEERE=-RANZ AR EEHE
3 of the fair value hierarchy:
HK$'000
FAxT
Carrying amount at 31 March 2023 and 1 April 2023 RZBEZ=F=A=1+—HRK
—EC=FNMA-HZEREE 6,214
Additions N 973
Settlements wE 973)
Loss from fair value adjustment recognised in other REMKEREBARR AR ERAEERFE
gains and losses, net (26)
Interest income recognised in other income E AU A RFERR 2 F B U A 216
Exchange realignment P& ST (22)
Carrying amount at 31 March 2024 and 1 April 2024 RZZE-_WNF=A=+—8HK
—TNEFMA—BZEREE 6,382
Additions 0 106
Settlements “e (106)
Gain from fair value adjustment recognised in other ﬂﬁﬁﬁ”ﬂ( s RBEAER AN ERERSFE
gains and losses, net 20
Interest income recognised in other income RE AW A AFER 2 TS WA 235
Exchange realignment PE M ST (38)
Carrying amount at 31 March 2025 R -_RFE=A=+—BZKEE 6,599

During the year ended 31 March 2025 and 2024, there were no
transfers of fair value measurements between Level 1 and Level 2
and no transfers into or out of Level 3 for both financial assets and

B memEErTRABEME
F—REE—

BE_Z_RAFK-_T_MNF=A=+—HIF

'Z\ﬁ

AR B - REE = RNEARE

Bt EE

financial liabilities. i e
34. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 34. £@MTHE
The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial RREFERSERSRITAZERENT :
instruments as at the end of the reporting period are as follows:
Categories of financial instruments SRTEER
2025 2024
“E-RF ZENF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FERT FExT
Financial assets SREE
At amortised cost biog: RicI W 103,387 110,338
At fair value through profit or loss BAREFABRRE 7,274 9,307
Financial liabilities c@mas
At amortised cost RE A 26,040 32,700
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34.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

Financial risk management objectives and policies

The Group’s principal financial instruments include trade
receivables, other receivables and deposits, pledged bank
deposits, time deposits with original maturity over three months,
bank balances and cash, trade and retention payables, other
payables and accruals and lease liabilities. Details of the major
financial instruments and the Group’s relevant accounting policies
are disclosed in note 3 to the consolidated financial statements.

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments are
currency risk, interest rate risk, credit risk and liquidity risk. The
directors review and agree policies for managing each of these risks
and they are summarised below.

Currency risk

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, certain bank
balances and cash, time deposits with original maturity over three
months, trade receivables and trade payables of the Group are
denominated in foreign currencies, i.e. US$, RMB, EUR, Australian
Dollar ("AU$"), Pound sterling ("GBP"), Singapore dollars (“SG$”)
and New Taiwan dollars (“NT$”). The carrying amounts of the
Group’s bank balances and cash, time deposits with original
maturity over three months, trade receivables and trade payables
denominated in foreign currencies at the end of each reporting
period are as follows:

34.

Financial assets

SR T A ()
BEBREEEEREE

AEENTIETRHMTABKEEZHRUGIAE - EftE
WEMRE - AHERRTER - RIBA@BB=
BEANESRFR - RITHEBRERRE BHENFE
LENRES  BEMENREREAERARES
BfE - TEERTARAEEABE I BRNFE
ARG BTSRRI RS ER.

AEEeRMIAEENTIERRAERRER - FIX
Rk - EERREAHEZRER  EFRILRE
ERZERR 2 WK A AR T o

gl

FEFRAABEAABENSBMEE - BTRITHE
#EkEe RIFABE=EANERER BES
FEUTRIA & B 5 FE R FIRIASNE (BT ~ AR -
BT RT(T&zT)) ~ R ([HEE]) - FhngT
(T#RT ) ZT BB ((HEMW]))FIE - N
WEHRR - UIMNESIENARERITER LIRS
REHABB=EANERER - BHRUGKIEIA
NEZRNFIRNREEDT

Financial liabilities

SRMEE SRas
2025 2024 2025 2024
—E-FHE —E-E —E-HE —E s
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FERT FHT FExT FExT
Uss$ =T 27,118 39,848 4 =
GBP R 3,718 3,483 - =
EUR BT 252 259 - 14
RMB AREE 79 82 43 =
SG$ T 16 16 = =
NT$ ek 9 79 - =
AUS SEIT 6 6 - =

The Group currently does not have a foreign currency hedging
policy. However, the directors of the Company monitor foreign
exchange exposure and will consider hedging significant foreign
currency exposure should the need arise.

Since the exchange rate of HK$ is pegged to US$, the Group does
not expect any significant movements in the US$/HKS$ exchange
rates. Thus, there is no sensitivity analysis on US$ denominated
financial assets.

REBERBIWBWMINEL BB - AT - RRRES
ES i SINE B I A A T B E B AP EAIME R

i o
2

mpE T BTN - REBTER T BT
RWEAEMEARELE - Rt - WEAKTINENS
BREEBREIN -
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34. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(continued)

Currency risk (continued)

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity at the end of the
reporting period to a reasonably possible change of 10% in foreign
currencies, with all other variables held constant, of the Group’s
profit after tax due to changes in the financial assets and liabilities.

GBP g
EUR BT
RMB AREE
NT$ ek
AUS$ SRIT
SG$ T

Interest rate risk

The Group was exposed to cash flow interest rate risk in bank
balances and cash and pledged bank deposits as at 31 March
2025 and 2024.

As at 31 March 2025 and 2024, the Group was also exposed to
fair value interest rate risk in relation to fixed rate time deposits with
original maturity over three months.

The Group has not used any interest rate swaps to mitigate its
exposure associated with interest rate risk. However, management
of the Group monitors interest rate exposure and will consider
hedging significant interest rate exposure should the need arise.

Sensitivity analysis

In the opinion of management of the Group, the expected change
in interest rate will not have a significant impact on the interest
income or expenses on payments for bank balances and pledged
bank deposits, hence sensitivity analysis is not presented.

Credit risk and impairment assessment

The Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk which will cause
a financial loss to the Group due to the failure to discharge the
obligations by counterparties arises from the carrying amount of the
respective recognised financial assets as stated in the consolidated
statements of financial position at the end of the reporting period.
The Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable to financial assets
at fair value through profit or loss, trade receivables, contract
assets, financial assets included in other receivables, deposits and
prepayments, pledged bank deposits, time deposits with original
maturity over three months and bank balances and cash.
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34.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (continued)

Trade receivables and contract assets arising from contracts with
customers

In order to minimise the credit risk, management of the Group has
delegated a team responsible for the determination of credit limits
and credit approvals. Before accepting any new customer, the
Group uses an internal credit scoring system to assess the potential
customer’s credit quality and define credit limits for customer.
The level of credit granted must not exceed a predetermined level
set by management. Limits and scoring attributed to customers are
reviewed once a year. Other monitoring procedures are in place
to ensure that follow-up action is taken to recover overdue debts.
In addition, the Group performs impairment assessment under the
ECL model on trade receivables and contract assets individually.
In this regard, the directors of the Company consider that the
Group’s credit risk is significantly reduced.

The Group has concentration of credit risk on trade receivables
and contract assets in terms of geographical location as these
receivables and assets which accounted for 100% (2024: 100%)
of the total trade receivables and 99.3% (2024: 98.9%) of the total
contract assets as at 31 March 2025, were mainly in Hong Kong.

The Group has concentration of credit risks on trade receivables
and contract assets with exposure limited to certain customers.
Receivables from the five largest customers amounting to
HK$36,092,000 (2024: HK$35,703,000) comprised approximately
89.3% (2024: 92.4%) of the Group’s trade receivables and 92.6%
(2024: 94.2%) of the Group’s total contract assets as at 31 March
2025. As at 31 March 2025, 68.8% (2024: 77.3%) of the Group’s
trade receivables were due from the Group’s largest customer.

Pledged bank deposits, time deposits with original maturity over
three months and bank balances and cash

The Group has a concentration of credit risk on pledged bank
deposits, time deposits with original maturity over three months
and bank balances deposited with a few major banks. The credit
risk on these balances is limited because the counterparties are
banks with good reputation and with high credit ratings assigned
by international credit-rating agencies.

Financial assets included in other receivables, deposits and
prepayments

Management of the Group regularly reviews and assesses the
credit quality of the counterparties. The Group uses 12-month ECLs
to assess the loss allowance for financial assets included in other
receivables, deposits and prepayments since these receivables are
not past due and there has not been a significant increase in credit
risk since initial recognition. Based on internal credit assessment,
the directors of the Company consider that these financials assets
are with low credit risk due to the short-term nature and the
probability of default is negligible. Hence, no loss allowance was
recognised during the year ended 31 March 2025 (2024: nil).

Other than the concentration risk as disclosed above, the Group
does not have any significant concentration of credit risk.

34.
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34. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED) 34. SWMIAG@
Financial risk management objectives and policies MR EE EERBUR (8
(continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment (continued) =B AR EFFS ()
The tables below show the credit quality and the maximum TR ENRAEBEERRZEELCE RS
exposure to credit risk based on the Group’s credit policy, which BRERE - F2ERNGBMER GRIEEMER L EE
is mainly based on past due information unless other information NHABERANKE INELTER) - KR=A
is available without undue cost or effort, and year-end staging ST —AZFREBRBROE FERIEERTHEE
classification as at 31 March. The amounts presented are gross REKEEZEREE -
carrying amounts for financial assets and contract assets.
As at 31 March 2025 R-ZE-_HF=A=+—H
12-month
ECLs Lifetime ECLs
+=f8A
BHEEESR RENEHEEER
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage3  approach Total
F-BE FoBE 123 fE R % st
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
TET TET TET TET TET
Trade receivables Z 5 e A - - - 40,474 40,474
Contract assets BHEE - - - 72,923 72,923
Financial assets included in other FHAH A EURIE -
receivables, deposits and R RENHEZ
prepayments TREE 2,589 - - - 2,589
Pledged bank deposits BIEMIRITER 24,912 = = = 24,912
Time deposit with original maturity REERBBE=EAN
over three months THER 304 - - - 304
Bank balances and cash RITHEBRRE 35,168 - - - 35,168
62,973 - - 113,397 176,370
As at 31 March 2024 R-ZE-_WNFE=/A=+—H
12-month
ECLs Lifetime ECLs
+=f8A
EHEEER FEREHEERE
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total
R ERB E=RB LA @it
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FEL FEL FEL FEL FEL
Trade receivables B S MR - - - 38,671 38,671
Contract assets BHEE - - - 69,035 69,035
Financial assets included in other FHAH A EURIE -
receivables, deposits and Be kENHEZ
prepayments EREE 1,465 - - - 1,465
Pledged bank deposits BEBBEAER 24,664 = = = 24,664
Bank balances and cash RITHEB KBRS 45,569 - - = 45,569
71,698 - - 107,706 179,404
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34.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED) 34. SWMIAG@
Financial risk management objectives and policies M EREEEERBUR ()
(continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment (continued) 1= EE R E S (4E)
The closing loss allowances for trade receivables, contract assets RBEBAR - EHEKFIA - ANEERTAHAM
and financial assets included in other receivables, deposits and FEWRIE - R REBNRENSREE RS
prepayments as at the end of the reporting period are reconciled to EREREBYEERE  HRNT
the opening loss allowances as follows:
Financial assets
included in other
receivables,
Trade Contract deposits and
receivables assets prepayments Total
A E A REY
RE - Ee
RAENTE
B 5 EWRIE BREE NemEE et
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT FAT FHAET FAT
At 31 March 2023 and RZZE-_=F=A=+—H
1 April 2023 —T-=FWMA—A 4,168 53 - 4,221
Reversal of impairment RERBEREFE
losses, net (22) (28) - (50)
Amount written off as MEH AT EIR & 58
uncollectible (4,115) - - (4,115)
At 31 March 2024 and RZEZNFE=A=+—H
1 April 2024 RZZZMFMA—H 31 25 - 56
Impairment losses, net EEEFE 29 4 - 33
At 31 March 2025 R-ZE-RAE=fF=+—H 60 29 - 89
The estimated loss rates and risk level are estimated based on HRtEEERRARERDBREELERELNENE

historical observed default rates over the expected life of the
debtors and are adjusted for forward-looking information that is
available without undue cost or effort. The grouping is regularly
reviewed by management to ensure relevant information about
specific debtors is updated.

During the year ended 31 March 2025, the Group made provision
of HK$29,000 (2024: reversal of provision of HK$22,000) and
provision of HK$4,000 (2024: reversal of provision of HK$28,000)
for trade receivables and contract assets, respectively. During the
year ended 31 March 2025, the increase in provision for impairment
allowance was mainly due to the provision for losses recognised on
a long outstanding balance. During the year ended 31 March 2024,
decrease in the provision for impairment allowance was mainly due
to the write-off of the amount as uncollectable for long outstanding
balance.

BAWTRREHGE  TERBEFTBERAHE
NENATEF ORI IE M ERHEL T - BIRE T MR
HEEOME - ARRBEEBANBBERREE
# e

BE-_Z-AF-A=Z1+—HLFE KEEHRZ
SREWBRANEED BIEL#E29,000/8 T
(ZZ -4 B RE22,00058 7T) K B4, ooo/%
TT(ZZE N4 : BERE28,00087T) - HE-Z
_£¢ B=Z+—BIFE  BEEEENEEH
ﬁﬁéﬁﬂﬂi BB MR E BB BT - %zi—

—HE=ZA=+—ALFE REREBERIEE
EEFW%%HE*E% ﬁ%ﬁtﬂTﬂH&z@E@ﬁ%‘Eﬁﬁ@zo
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For the yearended 31 March 2025 BE-—T-—AF=A=+—HILFE

34.

35.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(continued)

Liquidity risk

In the management of liquidity risk, the Group monitors and
maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents deemed adequate
by management to finance the Group’s operations and mitigate
the effects of unexpected fluctuations in cash flows.

The following table details the Group’s remaining contractual
maturity for its non-derivative financial liabilities. The table has
been drawn up based on the undiscounted cash flows of financial
liabilities based on the earliest date on which the Group is required
to pay.

R-Z-HF=H=+-H

EHRNTAREMRES

STARMEN AL ER B
MERaE

HEAE

As at 31 March 2025

Trade and retention payables

Financial liabilities included in other
payables and accruals

Lease liabilities

R-Z-WE=A=+—H
BIRNRERENRES
FPARMENFIEREER

As at 31 March 2024
Trade and retention payables
Financial liabilities included in other

payables and accruals neEmas
Bank borrowings RITEE
Lease liabilities HERR

PERFORMANCE GUARANTEES

As at 31 March 2025, performance guarantees of approximately
HK$13,768,000 (2024: HK$13,768,000) were given by banks in
favour of the Group’s customer as security for the due performance
and observance of the Group’s obligations under the contracts
entered into between the Group and its customer. If the Group
failed to provide satisfactory performance to its customer to whom
the performance guarantees had been given, such customer may
demand the banks to pay the customer the sum or sum stipulated
in such demand. The Group would become liable to compensate
such banks accordingly. The performance guarantees would be
released upon completion of the contract works. The performance
guarantees were granted under banking facilities.
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34.

SRIT A
BEEAREEREEERBE (&)
REERDESRRE  AEBESERGIFELRRE

BREZENRSMREFEYKF  UBENAEE
BEED MRERSREBREEINPNTE -

TRAMAEEITESBREBENHR T ENEHIE

Mo ZRENEBEERAEFAENNRZFEH
WARITRR e RERE -
On demand
or within 1 year 1to 3 years Total
RERIMER —E=f st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET
17,533 - 17,533
2,317 - 2,317
6,398 173 6,571
26,248 173 26,421
12,146 - 12,146
2,230 - 2,230
16,064 - 16,064
3,206 172 3,378
33,646 172 33,818
35. BHER

RZEZEZ_AF=ZA=+—H BHERY
13,768,000 7T (ZF ZU4F : 13,768,000/ 7T) B
RITAREERF REaAEL - (EREEROR
BIARBERNAREEZEPIIINEHATES
EER - WARBRENER TRORRNEER
RES ANRENELD  ZEPARERRITMAX
NSRS NZ B RPRTRIFR - REBEARILL
BERAZSRITELMHE - BORRERAHOTE
R TIRERE - BRORFRRBERTBERY -
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36.

37.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH 36. HLGEBHESHREBRMT

FLOWS

(@) Major non-cash transactions

(@) FEIREXH

During the year ended 31 March 2025, the Group had non- HEZT-_AF=-A=+—HLEFE £&

cash additions to right-of-use assets and lease liabilities of
HK$8,821,000 each in respect of lease arrangements for

EmEZHETHELIERSREEFEA
g ERHEERES,821,00087T

properties.
(b) Changes in liabilities arising from financing activities (b) BMETBEEZAEEH
Bank Lease
borrowings liabilities
RITIEE HESE
HK$’000 HK$'000
FAET FAT
At 1 April 2023 R-ZE-_=FmWA—H - 9,159
Changes from financing cash flows BERSRELH 15,000 (5,835)
Interest paid classified as operating cash ~ D fEAKLEBRESRENEHFE
flows = (351)
Interest expense B - 351
At 31 March 2024 and 1 April 2024 ‘\:;:E¢*H*+ B X
—E-MFMYA—H 15,000 3,324
Changes from financing cash flows mﬂﬁfﬁi/ﬁ =% (15,000) (5,955)
Interest paid classified as operating cash D8 A4L & :Eum%él’ﬂﬁﬁﬂ%
flows - (286)
New leases wiaE - 8,821
Interest expense B - 286
At 31 March 2025 RZE-_RAF=A=+—H - 6,190

(c) Total cash outflow for leases

() HEZRERHAHE

The total cash outflow for leases included in the statement of FFARESRERCHERSMLBRENT -

cash flows is as follows:

2025 2024

—E-hHF ZTTNF

HK$’000 HK$'000

FET FAExT

Within operating activities R & EBEERN 360 507

Within financing activities REEEBEER 5,955 5,835

6,315 6,342

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 37. HAREE

At 31 March 2025, the Group did not have any significant RZBE-_RAF=A=1+—H AEBTETMEKX

contingent liabilities (2024: nil).

FRBECE_TF | -
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38.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

Upon passing an ordinary resolution on 20 September 2017, the
Company adopted a share option scheme (the “Share Option
Scheme”) which will remain valid for a period of 10 years
commencing on 16 October 2017. The major terms of the Share
Option Scheme are set out below:

(0

(i)

(i

(iv)

(vi)

The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to recognise
and acknowledge the contributions that the directors and
employees of the Group have made or may make to the
Group.

The participants included any director or employee of the
Group which, in the opinion of the Company’s board of
directors, has contribution or potential contribution to the
development and growth of the Group.

The maximum number of shares in respect of which options
might be granted under the Share Option Scheme must not
exceed 30% of the issued share capital of the Company from
time to time. The number of shares issued and to be issued
in respect of which options granted and may be granted to
any individual in any 12-month period is not permitted to
exceed 1% of the shares of the Company in issue at any
point in time, without prior approval from the Company’s
shareholders. Options granted to a substantial shareholder
or an independent non-executive director in excess of
0.1% of the Company’s share capital or with a value in
excess of HK$5 million must be approved in advance by the
Company’s shareholders.

In relation to each grantee of the options granted under the
Share Option Scheme, the right of the grantee to exercise
the option shall be in accordance with the terms of the Share
Option Scheme and the period to be notified by the board
of directors of the Company to each grantee which shall not
exceed 10 years from the date upon which the options are
deemed to be granted and accepted.

The exercise price of an option will be determined by the

board of directors of the Company and will not be less than

the highest of:

o the closing price of the share on the date of grant;

. the average closing price of the share for the five
business days immediately preceding the date of
grant; and

o the nominal value of the share.

A consideration of HK$10 per grant is payable on
acceptance of the offer of grant of options.
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AR —EE R B (B R B )) - T8
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BREG SIS ERFRRBEERATRE AR
SEELNEMNASEEERES -

2REBEANREZERRYAEEER
MEREHEMSVEEEMN A EEEMNE
=FHEER -

BRREBRE IR HOBRERN D Z
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30% ° AREC IR R E(A 1218 A HifE AT 8E
) (R AR {8 AR HH O B IR B 37T oS T 87T
A BB ERESARRRROELME
BRT - MSEBARR R EMEEED ET
PRIDEN1% o BT — B EERRLBILIEANIT
BEENBREERARDRRAN0AA%HEE
BBSABE T UARLESARFRIRNL
e

AR BB T 81 R B R R B AR AN
5 AR ATTEBREOENERERERE
AEMGEREARTESTSBANEARAN
HRASEEBRERERL RERZAE
10%F ©
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38.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME (CONTINUED)

9,800,000 options were granted to Mr. CL Chan, a former director
of the Group, and employees of the Group on 2 January 2020 for
the provision of services to the Group. The vesting period of the
first tranche of share options was from 2 January 2020 to 30 June
2020 (“First Tranche”). The vesting period of the second tranche
of share options was from 2 January 2020 to 1 January 2021
(“Second Tranche”). The vesting period of the third tranche of
share options was from 2 January 2020 to 30 June 2021 (“Third
Tranche”). The details of the First Tranche, Second Tranche and
Third Tranche are identical except for the difference in vesting
periods as mentioned above. The fair value of the share options at
the date of grant was calculated using the Binomial Option Pricing
Model. The fair value of the share options granted on 2 January
2020 is HK$1,057,000.

9,000,000 options were granted to Mr. CL Chan, a former director
of the Group, and employees of the Group on 18 April 2023 for
the provision of services to the Group. The vesting period of the
fourth tranche of share options was from 18 April 2023 to 17 April
2024 (“Fourth Tranche”). The vesting period of the fifth tranche of
share options was from 18 April 2023 to 14 October 2024 (“Fifth
Tranche”). The details of the Fourth Tranche and Fifth Tranche are
identical except for the difference in vesting periods as mentioned
above. The fair value of the share options at the date of grant was
calculated using the Binomial Option Pricing Model. The fair value
of the share options granted on 18 April 2023 is HK$292,000.

The inputs into the valuations of the share options were as follows:

Share price at grant date
1TfEE

Exercise price

Risk-free rate (note a)

38.

AR B ERAE

ERBRFE (K eta)

Expected life (note b) TEERF AR (K7 52b)

Expected dividend yield TEEAR B &

Expected volatility (note c) TEHRE IR (K atc)

Notes:

(a) Risk-free rate is determined by reference to the prevailing rates on debt
securities from Thomson Reuters and Bloomberg L.P.

b) Expected life is the exercise period of the share options.

(c) Expected volatility is estimated by calculating the historical daily share price

volatility of the stock price of the Company.

IR Rt 8 ()

R-T-T4&— F = 49,800,000 B AR T A
SEAESREBLEREASERE @ (FRALSE
EiRHEREHE®R - sHERENREBSHA-T

ZE-A-HE-Z-ZFRA=TA(E#D -
“HEBERENREBHRA_T_TF-A_HA=

T —F—-A—A(%E#]) - BEoHERES
FEMA—T _TF-—A-HEZZ=_—%A
=+B(E=4#t]) - it - FoRRE=HERE
RFFIEHER - X EBRATEER - REH
AR AR EFR —EdE T EERE -
RZZE_EF-A-_ABRENERENAARES
1,057,000 7T ©

RZZ-_=ZFWMA+/\B * 9,000,000 i % &
BPAEEESRERLERAEERES @ BB
EASEEREREHER - FINMERIENSBS
A-Z-_ZFNA+N\BE-_ZT_MNFENA++tH
(Em#t]) - FAUBRENFEERA-_ZS_=F
WA+ \BZE=_Z-_WF+A+WmAB ([FH5H#)) -

FEHL R E R BRENFEBER - EXFT S
BHGAEEZRE RNEHARBERENAREFRA=
BEHETERRHE R-E-_=FmWA+/\B#
H BB IR A 1t (B B292,00078 7T ©

BRIEMGENMABERET

Share options Share options

granted on granted on
18 April 2 January

2023 2020

i R-B-TF
mA+N\BEEH —AZBEE
B RBRE BB AL
HK$0.166 HK$0.250
0.166# 7T 0.250/ 7T
HK$0.171 HK$0.259
0171787 0.2597% 7T
3.000% 2.056%

5 years 5 years

54 5%

13.510% 0%
50.35% 54.96%

Hiaz -

@ ERRFIFESZ 5051 REBHREBLFNE
BERZRITTFETE °

®) TEHIFRIIE IR R 7T 185

€ EARETSB A ARENEL S AR ERET
fhit «
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38. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (CONTINUED) 38. BRAERE (E
The following share options were outstanding under the Share RERN - BIREFTEIIET 2 T3 B ARE & RETT
Option Scheme during the year: & -
2025 2024
—E-hEF —EF
Weighted Weighted
average Number average Number
exercise price of options exercise price of options
T HITEE BREHE IRETHTRE fERRERE
HKS$ per share ’000 HK$ per share '000
BgRET TR BRET T
At 1 April RIMA—H 0.192 12,200 0.259 6,000
Expired during the year  FRJE)m 0.259 (5,300) = =
Granted during the year — fF A H - - 0.171 9,000
Forfeited during the year F X%k 0.171 (1,000) 0.192 (2,800)
At 31 March R=A=+—H 0.171 5,900 0.208 12,200
The exercise prices and exercise periods of the share options RBEFEFREKRITEZBRE (T EE RITEE
outstanding as at the end of the reporting period are as follows: TN

Exercise prices

Number of HK$
options per share Exercise periods
TEE
BRERE BRET TEEMH
As at 31 March 2025 2,450,000 0.171 18 April 2024 to 17 April 2028
R-B-HF=A=+—H CECMFNA+TNBE=E-/N\FHNA++LH
3,450,000 0.171 15 October 2024 to 17 April 2028
—E-ME+A+REAZE=Z-/\FNA+tA
As at 31 March 2024 1,200,000 0.259 1 July 2020 to 1 January 2025
BHIE—ZT-mMFE=A=+—H —ECEFHA-HBEZE-_RF—H—H
1,800,000 0.259 2 January 2021 to 1 January 2025
—E—F—AZHEZT-RF—H—H
2,300,000 0.259 1 July 2021 to 1 January 2025
T —F+A-HRE-Z-_RF—A—H
3,450,000 0.171 18 April 2024 to 17 April 2028
ZECMOFEMATN\BEZZ-N\FOA+TER
3,450,000 0.171 15 October 2024 to 17 April 2028
ZEZNFTA+RAEZE-N\FMA++AH
The Group recognised a share option expense of HK$53,000 (2024: BHE—_S-—RE=-—A=+—HIEEF  K~X&EEED
HK$202,000) during the year ended 31 March 2025. During the RS RE R 253,000/ 7T (Z T U4 : 202,000/8
year ended 31 March 2025, 1,000,000 (2024: 2,800,000) share ) cBE—E_RE=A=+—HIFEE AAXE
options were forfeited due to the resignation of certain employees EE T BB BT 81,000,000 (== = /4 :
of the Group and 5,300,000 (2024: nil) share options were lapsed 2,800,00017) &8 & 2 5,300,000 (= ZE = Y4 :
due to expiry, resulting in the transfer of the corresponding share- T) AR HE R JE i 23 - EEUISFRFERIRR (D B R~
based payment reserve of HK$684,000 (2024: HK$43,000) to 1 15684,00005 70 (—F — PU4F © 43,0005 7T) B
accumulated profits/(losses). EEZEM S (EE) o
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38.

39.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME (CONTINUED)

At at 31 March 2025, the Company had 5,900,000 (2024:
12,200,000) share options outstanding under the Share Option
Scheme. The exercise in full of the outstanding share options
would, under the present capital structure of the Company, result
in the issue of 5,900,000 (2024: 12,200,000) additional ordinary
shares of the Company and additional share capital of HK$59,000
(2024: HK$122,000) and share premium of HK$950,000 (2024:
HK$2,633,000) (before issue expenses).

At the date of approval of these financial statements, the Company
had 5,900,000 share options outstanding under the Share Option
Scheme, which represented approximately 1.5% of the Company’s
shares in issue as at that date; and the total number of shares
available for further issuance pursuant to the Share Option Scheme
was 12,000,000 shares, representing approximately 3.0% of the
Company’s shares in issue as at that date.

SHARE AWARD SCHEME

On 5 November 2018, the Company adopted a share award
scheme (the “Share Award Scheme”) for the purpose of
recognising the contributions by certain eligible persons for the
growth and development of the Group and to provide them with
incentives in order to retain them for the continual operation and
development of the Group.

Eligible persons of the Share Award Scheme include any employee
of the Group; any executive or non-executive director (including
any independent non-executive director) of the Company, any of
its subsidiaries, customers, suppliers, any person or entity that
provides research, development or other technological support,
shareholders of any member of the Group or any invested entities,
any person or entity which has contributed to the Group or its
business; and any other person selected by the board of directors,
and if applicable, including its executive committee at its sole
discretion, provided that the eligible persons for participation in the
Share Award Scheme (the “Selected Participants”) remain
at all times after the date of grant and on the relevant vesting date
being eligible person of the Group.

38.

39.

BB E ()

R-ZB-RAE=A=1+—0  ARARBREERET
21745,900,0005 (ZZ = PU4E : 12,200,00017) 4 7
TEZBRE - RIBAARIMIRITEARERE B
TTIE M AR T O BB IR 8 B B RE H1M8E 175,900,0001%
(ZZ P4 : 12,200,00017) NAF)EREAL - 58
HNEE A PR AN59,0005 7T (Z B Z M 4F : 122,000/ 7T)
B 93418 950,000 7T (= — PO 4F : 2,633,000/
70) (RETEITHAX) -

REEARF BImER A - RIBEBRE S - AT
45,900,000 RITEHERRE - (AR EITRIMAR
BB BTN 491.5% « RABIREBAHE ST ST (g —
HEEITEVIR ) 48 817312,000,0008%  1HZ B AR A
BTN %I3.0% °

B A% 52 B =t

RZZ-N\F+—ARA - AAFRH—ERD &
BErE ((RoRBFE])  EESEETRERBA
THAEEERNERMEER MLt T 126
NBREERAEEFECERER -

B R SNEERALTERAKETAES
KA BMEMRITHIERNITE S (BIEEABILIERIT
%) HEAMBRAR - FF - HER - =2HH
K ABRIEMEMSREZEMALTHER - A%
B ERIR B AR RERRE TR R - A%
BREXBEERZEMALHER  RESFE2
ERBETEZEMEMAL  BEERTEES (N
A - E2ERD BB ENSERAL ((EES
BE))NRLAPR=EEEREAN —BERTEH
BEBAL -
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39.

SHARE AWARD SCHEME (CONTINUED)

The maximum number of shares currently permitted to be granted
under the Share Award Scheme is limited to 10% of the total
number of issued shares as at the date on which the Share Award
Scheme is adopted by the board of directors. The maximum
number of shares which may be awarded to each eligible person
in the Share Award Scheme in any 12-month period is limited to
1% of the total number of shares in issue of the Company in any
12-month period from time to time.

Selected Participants are selected and the number of shares to
be awarded under the Share Award Scheme is determined by the
board of directors. The shares to be awarded under the Share
Award Scheme are purchased by a trustee (the “Trustee”) from the
open market out of cash contributed by the Group or by way of gift
and be held on trust for the Selected Participants until such shares
are vested with the Selected Participants in accordance with the
provisions of the Share Award Scheme.

The Trustee shall not exercise the voting rights in respect of any
shares held on trust for the Group or the Selected Participants.

During the year ended 31 March 2025, the Company repurchased
915,000 (2024: nil) of its own shares through the Trustee from the
open market. The total amount paid to acquire the shares was
HK$112,000 (2024: nil) and has been deducted from equity. The
shares were classified as treasury shares of the Company as they
were not yet awarded to any Selected Participants.

The movements in the Company’s shares held under the Share
Award Scheme during the year are as follows:

3

At 1 April 2023 i
&

Vested during the year MR

At 31 March 2024 and 1 April 2024

=FMA—H

39.

R-Z-_MFE=A=+—H

MZ—Z_WFHA—H

Repurchases of shares during the year FREERR G
Vested during the year FANHE
At 31 March 2025 n=
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R 43 22 By =t &1 (4
RBR D BB EEERENSZSROEE URNE
RPN ZEFEE REETRMEEN10%

AR o BRI 218 A BR A ey B 22 @5t &1 7]
BEIRETEARERATNRSKRHEEARAF
TRDETRODAENI %RR

BSEEREEGRT - MRERD REF K
%Tﬁﬁﬁ’]ﬂ%ﬁ%ﬁ(ﬁ HEFEET - REMRD EEE
B TRHOBRO EHEZFEA ([ZFEAD AREE
REMNREN DT SBEASAREIA - WAE
RPAREESRERS  EERFRORERD

REE RGBT IRREE2RERILE
REATEUREE S EE 2 EEETRBTAN

EARDITERSEE -

REBEZE-ZE-_AF=ZA=+—HLFE ' &2
%ﬂx.&/\@ Eﬂm%ﬁ%@ﬁlﬁ%ﬂx@maoooﬂx
(ZZ2—mF &) - RBBEROXHEeEA
112,000/ 7C (=2 = PO 4 - E)EE%*¢W%
HREAR T AMER2EE  CaESNR
ERPNEDBARNRBINEFRD

B B BIE TR 2 AR ARBRENZ B8
T -

Shares held under
the Share Award Scheme

RIE AR 0 52

EREZRG
Number of Value of
ordinary shares shares
ZREREE RHEE
HK$'000
FAxT
4,300,000 387
(1,830,000) (18)
2,470,000 369
915,000 112
(1,310,000) (13)
2,075,000 468
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39. SHARE AWARD SCHEME (CONTINUED) 39. RpHEEETE(FE)
Equity-settled share award arrangement expense of HK$73,000 BE—_Z-_AF=A=1+—HILFE  EERER
was recognised during the year ended 31 March 2025 (2024: HEE RN SEE) LT HER 73,0008 0 (Z T ZI04F ¢
HK$247,000). 247,00077T) °
The fair value of share awards granted during the year was estimated REREH B RENR D AR BTS2 ER T
as at the date of grant by reference to the closing price per share as MNERARESEMBEREMENRL BE®E - I
stated in the daily quotation sheets issued by the Stock Exchange, FFREEHBENMEIERBIEY - AREFET
taking into account all non-vesting conditions associated with the KEENBBIANMGRE
grants. The expected dividends during the vesting period were
taken into account in the measurement of fair value.
During the year ended 31 March 2025, 1,310,000 shares were HE-TZ-AF=A=1+—HILFE BERHHE
vested to eligible participants under the Share Award Scheme BhETEl - 1,310,0008% /%5 (ZZ =M% : 1,830,000
(2024: 1,830,000). M) EFEBTAERSEE -
225,000 awarded shares were forfeited during the year ended 31 HE-Z-NWF=A=1+—HILFE BEXREESE
March 2024 due to the resignation of certain employees of the T B 8B EM R U225,000 L BB D - BE-FT
Group. The awarded shares were forfeited during the year ended —ME=ZA=1+—HIEFERKAEEIRMDERIE
31 March 2024, resulting in the transfer of the corresponding share- TEFE YRR 1 ELHE S SR 553,000 ST B &= 25t R
based payment reserve of HK$53,000 to accumulated profits/ #,/ (E18) -
(losses).
At the date of approval of these financial statements, the Company RELERI SRR BH - RIBR (O BT E - AR
had 2,075,000 shares held under the share award scheme, which AIHEA2,075,00008 8217 - (HREITHEIARARIE
represented approximately 0.5% of the Company’s shares in issue TR 17 490.5% ©
as at that date.
Movements in the number of the Awarded Shares granted under RIBI D BT H A BRI E 28 R EAE
the Share Award Scheme and their related average fair value as BT ARENT
follows:
2025 2024
—EC-HE ZEMF
Weighted Weighted
average Number of average Number of
award price awards award price awards
R B IR 4208
BB REROEE R AR E1& REROEE
HKS$ per share ’000 HK$ per share '000
SRET TR FRAET T
At 1 Apri RmA—H 0.2 1,605 026 3,750
Vested during the year FANEEB 0.21 (1,310) 0.29 (1,830)
Forfeited during the year FRZI - - 0.25 (225)
At 31 March R=A=+—8H 0.14 385 0.22 1,695

SHNREEERAT « ZT-N/ZHFFH
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
RIS RRMEE

For the yearended 31 March 2025 BE-—T-—AF=A=+—HILFE

40.

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE

COMPANY

NON-CURRENT ASSETS
Investments in subsidiaries

CURRENT ASSETS
Amount due from subsidiaries
Prepayments

Time deposits with original maturity over

three months
Cash and bank balances

CURRENT LIABILITIES
Accruals
Amount due to a subsidiary

Net current assets
Net assets
EQUITY
Share capital
Reserves (note)

Total equity

Note:

A summary of the Company’s reserves is as follows:

At 31 March 2023 and 1 April 2023

Loss for the year

Equity settled share option agreements
(note 38)

Equity-settled share award
arrangements (note 39)

Forfeiture of share options (note 38)

Forfeiture of share awards (note 39)

Vesting of shares under share award
scheme (note 39)

At 31 March 2024 and 1 April 2024

Loss for the year

Equity settled share option agreements
(note 38)

Equity-settled share award
arrangements (note 39)

Forfeiture and expiry of share options
(note 38)

Vesting of shares under share award
scheme (note 39)

At 31 March 2025

AT BRI T
2025 2024
—E—FREF —ENF
H K$’009 H K$\OOﬁO
FET FHT
HRBEE :
RIEARIEE 107,569 107,569
RENEE
FEUPH B A RIRIE 21,913 23,910
BRI RIE 348 221
J?iIJHH Bi8m=1{E A
)?E ﬁﬁ‘r)\ 304 =
RE RIRITHE 10 328
22,575 24,459
/ﬁib =N
EEtERA 501 63
FEf —RIB B A T E0E 10 10
511 73
REEEFE 22,064 24,386
EEFRE 129,633 131,955
s
Hﬁ$ ) 4,050 4,050
et () 125,583 127,905
R 129,633 131,955
HisE -
AR AR AT -
Share-based
Share Other payment Accumulated
premium reserves reserve losses Total
R R ER
RADBE Hitfk#E NS RitEE Ey
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FHT FHT FHT FHT FHT
(notes 38, 39)
(H17#38 ~ 39)
21,587 107,549 1,267 (599) 129,804
_ _ = (2,330) (2,330)
R E BRI (F7:238)
- - 202 - 202
B EE RN BB
W5#39) - - 247 = 247
R Ui B Ak (M7738) - - (43) 43 =
SR U AR AP BB (472239) - - (53) 53 -
&7 SE @yt BIIE T H B AR
(H15£39) - = (18) = (18)
21,587 107,549 1,602 (2,833) 127,905
F - - - (2,435) (2,435)
R EBIRE LY (17:238)
- - 53 - 53
B EE RN IR
(#15£39) = = 73 - 73
AR AR R U K & i (H7#38)
- - (684) 684 -
&1 @bt 2118 T BmEAR D
(K17#39) - - (13) - (13)
RZZE-_RF=RA=+—H 21,587 107,549 1,031 (4,584) 125,583
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 #HZE-T-_RAF=A=1+—HI-FE
41. APPROVAL OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 41. HEFESHMBEREK
STATEMENTS
The consolidated financial statements were approved and GAVBMEBEEEN T _AF A=+ X<AH
authorised for issue by the board of directors on 26 June 2025. HOENARET)EE -
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Financial Summary
Sy

RESULTS S

Revenue &

Profit/(loss) before tax BB ALEF (EB18)

Income tax (expense)/credit FTEH (%) He

Profit/(loss) for the year and total NRRER AEh
comprehensive income/(loss) for the FREH, (E18) &
year attributable to owners of the FREERS (6
Company B) s

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES BERAE

Total assets REE

Total liabilities Bak

Equity attributable to owners RATHEE AEEER

of the Company

KMLTechnology Group Limited ® Annual Report 2024/25

For the year ended 31 March
BE=A=1+—HLEE

2025 2024 2023 2022 2021
“E-RE —E_NFE ZT=F T F T-_—F
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FExT FHT FHET FHET FExT
196,105 194,111 153,409 162,559 224,839
109 (13,944) (32,399) 9,653 36,457
(12) 151 177 (1,768) (4,460)
97 (13,793) (32,222) 7,885 31,997
As at 31 March
R=A=+—H
2025 2024 2023 2022 2021
—BCoRFE —ToNNF —T-=F T _F ZE-—F
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET FHET FHET FET
195,308 203,425 206,657 233,246 253,423
(58,897) (67,125) (57,013) (43,819) 61,612)
136,411 136,300 149,644 189,427 191,811
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